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GLOBAL DEFENSE & NATIONAL SECURITY SYSTEMS, INC.
_______________________________

Certain Terms

Throughout this document, unless otherwise specified or if the context otherwise requires, the “Company”, “we”, “us”, and
“our” refer to Global Defense & National Security Systems, Inc., a blank check company organized under the laws of
the State of Delaware on July 3, 2013.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report contains statements that are forward-looking and as such are not historical facts. Rather, these
statements constitute projections, forecasts and forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements are not guarantees of performance. They involve known
and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or
achievements of the Company to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by these statements. Such statements can be identified by the fact that they do not relate strictly
to historical or current facts. These statements use words such as “believe,” “expect,” “should,” “strive,” “plan,” “intend,” “estimate,”
“anticipate” or similar expressions. When the Company discusses its strategies or plans, it is making projections,
forecasts or forward-looking statements. Such statements are based on the beliefs of management, as well as
assumptions made by, and information currently available to, the Company’s management. Actual results and
stockholders’ value will be affected by a variety of risks and factors, including, without limitation, international,
national and local economic conditions, merger, acquisition and business combination risks, financing risks,
geo-political risks, and acts of terror or war. Many of the risks and factors that will determine these results and
stockholder values are beyond the Company’s ability to control or predict.

All such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report. The Company expressly
disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements
contained herein to reflect any change in the Company’s expectations with regard thereto or any change in events,
conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based. All subsequent written or oral forward-looking
statements attributable to us or persons acting on the Company’s  behalf are qualified in their entirety by this
Forward-Looking Statements section.
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GLOBAL DEFENSE & NATIONAL SECURITY SYSTEMS, INC.

PART I

___________________________

Item 1.    Business

Introduction

We are a blank check development stage company organized under the laws of the State of Delaware on July 3, 2013.
We were formed for the purpose of acquiring, through a merger, capital stock exchange, asset acquisition, stock
purchase, reorganization, exchangeable share transaction or other similar business transaction, one or more operating
businesses or assets (a “Business Combination”). We have reviewed, and continue to review, a number of opportunities
to enter into a business combination with an operating business. Accordingly, we are not able to conclusively
determine at this time whether we will complete a Business Combination with any of the target companies that we
have reviewed or with whose management we have had discussions, or with any other target company, or the
likelihood thereof.  We also have neither engaged in any operations nor generated any revenue to date. 

On July 19,  2013, our sponsor, Global Defense & National Security Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company (“Sponsor”) purchased 2,003,225 shares (the “Sponsor’s Shares”) of the Company’s common stock, par value
$0.0001 per share (the “Common Stock”) for an aggregate purchase price of $25,000, or approximately $.0125 per
share. 

On October 29, 2013, we consummated our initial public offering (the “IPO”) of 6,900,000 shares (the “Public Shares”) of
the Common Stock, including 900,000 shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to the full exercise of the
underwriters’ over-allotment option. The Public Shares were sold at a price of $10.00 per share, generating gross
proceeds to the Company of $69,000,000. 

Simultaneously with the closing of the IPO, the Company completed the private sale of 721,500 shares of Common
Stock (“Private Placement Shares”) at a purchase price of $10.00 per Private Placement Share, to our Sponsor
generating gross proceeds to the Company of $7,215,000.

A total of $72,795,000 comprised of approximately $65.6 million of the proceeds from the IPO, including
approximately $1.9 million of underwriters’ deferred discount, and the proceeds of the sale of the Private Placement
Shares were placed in a Trust Account (the “Trust Account”) maintained by American Stock Transfer & Trust
Company, acting as trustee. These funds will not be released until the earlier of the Company’s completion of its initial
Business Combination or the Company’s liquidation, although the Company may withdraw the interest earned on the
funds held in the Trust Account to pay franchise and income taxes.

Our efforts to identify an initial Business Combination will not be limited to a particular industry or geographic
region, although we intend to focus on companies in the United States of America (the “United States” or the “U.S.”)
operating in the defense and national security sectors.

Business Strategy
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Our management team intends to focus on increasing stockholder value by growing revenue and profitability (through
acquisitions and organic growth) and improving the efficiency of business operations. Consistent with this strategy,
we believe the general criteria and guidelines below are important in evaluating prospective target businesses.

2
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Strong Competitive Position in Industry:  We intend to focus on companies located in the U.S. that have leading or
niche market positions in the defense and national security sectors and compelling business fundamentals. We will
analyze the strengths and weaknesses of target businesses relative to the competitive environment, with a particular
emphasis on measuring competitive advantage from intellectual property, technology positioning, capability
framework, contract and pipeline strength, contract performance, barriers to entry, capital investment, and brand. We
will seek to acquire one or more businesses that demonstrate advantages when compared to their competitors, which
may help to protect their market position and increase profitability.

Mission Critical Capabilities that Address a Market Need:  We intend to target companies that are focused on
developing next generation technologies and that have capabilities within the FY 2014 budget priorities of the
Department of Defense, the Department of Homeland Security, the Department of State, and the Intelligence
Community. These capabilities include, but are not limited to software engineering, systems engineering and
integration, mission systems information technology (“IT”) and architectures, and operational support services.

Opportunities for Platform Growth:  We will seek to acquire one or more businesses that, through Global Strategies
Group’s industry relationships and position as a strategic operator with a strong track record of supporting the U.S.
national security mission, can be grown both organically and through additional acquisitions. We will look to acquire
businesses that are providing solutions in areas prioritized by the U.S. government as posing the greatest threats to
U.S. national security. We may initially consider those sectors that complement our management team’s background
and broad network of industry relationships.

Established Companies with Compelling Financial Metrics:  We will seek to acquire established companies with
compelling financial metrics. These metrics would include, but not be limited to, recurring revenue streams with
opportunities for growth, diverse customer base with long-term contracts, strong margins, low requirements for
working capital and capital expenditure, and scalability potential. Although we are not restricted from doing so, we do
not intend to acquire start-up companies.

Opportunities to Create Synergies and Increase Intrinsic Value:  We will seek to acquire companies whose business
opportunities, operations, and financial position can benefit from Global Strategies Group’s expertise. Given Global
Strategies Group’s history as a strategic operator and investor in these sectors, we have the ability to generate synergies
and open new growth opportunities for our initial business acquisition, thereby increasing the intrinsic value of the
business. We believe we can do this by exploiting our proven entrepreneurial mindset, leveraging our industry
relationships, creating transformational growth through investments, and emphasizing business best practices.

Invest in a Motivated and Capable Management Team:  We will seek to acquire businesses with experienced
management teams who have a personal stake in the performance of the acquired businesses. We will focus on
management teams with a track record of consistent financial performance. We anticipate that our own officers and
directors will complement, not replace, the skills of the target company’s management team. If necessary, we will
assess opportunities to improve a target’s management team and to recruit additional talent through our extensive
network of contacts.

While these criteria will be used in evaluating Business Combination opportunities, we may decide to enter into a
Business Combination with a target business or businesses that do not meet these proposed criteria and guidelines.

Effecting a Business Combination

General

We intend to utilize the cash proceeds of the IPO and the concurrent private placement of the Private Placement
Shares, our securities, debt or a combination of cash, securities and debt as the purchase consideration in a Business
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Combination. While substantially all of the net proceeds of our IPO and the concurrent private placement of the
Private Placement Shares are allocated to completing a Business Combination, the proceeds are not otherwise
designated for more specific purposes, other than as discussed below. If we engage in a Business Combination with a
target business using our securities and/or debt financing as the consideration to fund the combination, proceeds from
our IPO and the concurrent private placement of the Private Placement Shares will then be used to undertake
additional acquisitions or to fund the operations of the target business on a post-combination basis. We may engage in
a Business Combination with a company that does not require significant additional capital but is seeking a public
trading market for its shares, and which wants to merge with an existing public company to avoid the uncertainties
associated with undertaking its own public offering. These uncertainties include time delays, compliance and
governance issues, significant expense, a possible loss of voting control, and the risk that market conditions will not
be favorable for an initial public offering at the time the offering is ready to be sold. We may seek to effect a Business
Combination with more than one target business, although our limited resources may serve as a practical limitation on
our ability to do so.

3
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Prior to completion of a Business Combination, we will seek to have all third parties (including any vendors or other
entities) and any prospective target businesses enter into valid and enforceable agreements with us waiving any right,
title, interest or claim of any kind they may have in or to any monies held in the Trust Account. As a result, the claims
that could be made against us will be limited, thereby lessening the likelihood that any claim would result in any
liability extending to the Trust Account. We therefore believe that any necessary provision for creditors will be
reduced and should not have a significant impact on our ability to distribute the funds in the Trust Account to our
public stockholders upon the redemption of 100% of our outstanding Public Shares in the event we do not complete
our initial Business Combination within 21 months from the date of the Company’s prospectus (October 24, 2013).
Nevertheless, there is no guarantee that vendors, service providers and prospective target businesses will execute such
agreements. In the event that a potential contracted party was to refuse to execute such a waiver, we will execute an
agreement with that entity only if our management first determines that we would be unable to obtain, on a reasonable
basis, substantially similar services or opportunities from another entity willing to execute such a waiver.

There is also no guarantee that, even if they execute such agreements with us, they will not seek recourse against the
Trust Account. Our Sponsor has agreed that it will be liable to pay debts and obligations to target businesses or
vendors or other entities that are owed money by us for services rendered or contracted for or products sold to us, but
only if, and to the extent that, the claims would otherwise reduce the Trust Account to below $10.55 per Public Share.
Our Sponsor has entered into an indemnity agreement with Global Integrated Security (USA) Inc., a member of
Global Strategies Group, pursuant to which Global Integrated Security (USA) Inc. has agreed to indemnify our
Sponsor so that it can fund its obligations under the Sponsor indemnity. However, our Sponsor may not be able to
satisfy its indemnification obligations if it is required to so. Additionally, the indemnification agreement entered into
by our Sponsor specifically provides for two exceptions: it will have no liability (1) as to any claimed amounts owed
to a target business or vendor or other entity who has executed an agreement with us waiving any right, title, interest
or claim of any kind they may have in or to any monies held in the Trust Account, or (2) as to any claims under our
indemnity with the underwriters of the IPO against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act.
Subject to the requirement that a target business or businesses have a collective fair market value of at least 80% of
the balance in the Trust Account at the time of the execution of a definitive agreement for such Business Combination
(excluding deferred underwriting fees of $1.9 million and taxes payable on the income earned on the Trust Account),
we have virtually unrestricted flexibility in identifying and selecting one or more prospective target businesses. The
fair market value of the target will be determined by the Company’s board of directors based upon one or more
standards generally accepted by the financial community (such as actual and potential sales, earnings, cash flow
and/or book value).  Although we will assess the risks inherent in a particular target business, we cannot assure you
that our assessment will result in identifying all risks that a target business may encounter. Furthermore, some of those
risks may be outside of our control, meaning that we can do nothing to control or reduce the chances that those risks
will adversely impact a target business.

4
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Sources of Target Businesses

Over the course of their careers, our management team and board of directors have developed an international network
of contacts and working relationships with principals, as well as intermediaries, who constitute an important source
for prospective business transactions. The team is comprised of members with a collective experience of over 40 years
in operating, advising, acquiring, financing, and selling private and public companies. We believe that this network of
contacts and relationships will provide us with an important source of investment opportunities. In addition to any
potential business candidates we may identify on our own, we anticipate that other target business candidates will be
brought to our attention from various unaffiliated sources, including investment market participants, private equity
funds and large business enterprises seeking to divest non-core assets or divisions.

We have reviewed, and continue to review, a number of opportunities to enter into a business combination with an
operating business. Accordingly, we are not able to conclusively determine at this time whether we will complete a
Business Combination with any of the target companies that we have reviewed or with whose management we have
had discussions, or with any other target company, or the likelihood thereof. We believe based on our management’s
business knowledge and past experience that there will be numerous acquisition candidates. We anticipate that target
business candidates will be brought to our attention from various unaffiliated sources, including investment bankers,
venture capital funds, private equity funds, leveraged buyout funds, management buyout funds and other members of
the financial community. Target businesses may be brought to our attention by such unaffiliated sources as a result of
being solicited by us through calls or mailings. These sources may also introduce us to target businesses in which they
think we may be interested on an unsolicited basis, since many of these sources will have read our prospectus and
know what types of businesses we are targeting. Our Sponsor, our officers or directors and their respective affiliates
may also bring to our attention target business candidates that they become aware of through their business contacts as
a result of formal or informal inquiries or discussions they may have, as well as attending trade shows or conventions.
While we do not presently anticipate engaging the services of professional firms or other individuals that specialize in
business acquisitions on any formal basis, we may engage these firms or other individuals in the future, in which event
we may pay a finder’s fee, consulting fee or other compensation to be determined in an arm’s length negotiation based
on the terms of the transaction. In no event, however, will our Sponsor, our officers or directors or their respective
affiliates be paid any finder’s fee, consulting fee or other compensation prior to, or for any services they render in order
to effectuate, the closing of our initial Business Combination (regardless of the type of transaction that it is) other than
the repayment of loans received from our Sponsor, which total $80,105 as of December 31, 2013, and reimbursement
of any out-of-pocket expenses. We have no present intention to enter into a Business Combination with a target
business that is affiliated with our Sponsor or any of our officers or directors, including (1) an entity in which any of
the foregoing or their affiliates are currently officers or directors or (2) an entity in which any of the foregoing or their
affiliates are currently invested through an investment vehicle controlled by them (except an entity in which any of the
foregoing or their affiliates are currently passive investors and hold in the aggregate 1% or less of the outstanding
stock). However, we are not restricted from entering into any such transactions and may do so if (1) such transaction
is approved by a majority of our disinterested and independent directors (if we have any at that time) and (2) we
obtain an opinion from an independent investment banking firm which is a member of FINRA that the Business
Combination is fair to our unaffiliated stockholders from a financial point of view.

Selecting A Target Business And Structuring of Our Initial Business Combination

Subject to the limitation that a target business have a fair market value of at least 80% of the balance in the Trust
Account at the time of the execution of a definitive agreement for our initial Business Combination (excluding
deferred underwriting fees and taxes payable on the income earned on the Trust Account), as described below in more
detail, our management will have virtually unrestricted flexibility in identifying and selecting a prospective target
business. Except for the general criteria and guidelines set forth above under the caption “Business Strategy,” we have
not established any specific attributes or criteria (financial or otherwise) for prospective target businesses.
Furthermore, we do not have any specific requirements with respect to the value of a prospective target business as
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compared to our net assets or the funds held in the Trust Account. In evaluating a prospective target business, our
management may consider a variety of factors, including one or more of the following:

5

Edgar Filing: Global Defense & National Security Systems, Inc. - Form 10-K

Item 1.    Business 11



· competitive position;
·      mission critical capabilities that address a market need;

· growth potential;
⋅ financial condition and results of operation;

· opportunities to create synergies and increase intrinsic value;
⋅ motivation, experience and skill of management and availability of additional personnel;

· brand recognition and potential;
⋅ capital requirements;
· barriers to entry;

⋅ stage of development of the products, processes or services;
· existing distribution and potential for expansion;

⋅ degree of current or potential market acceptance of the products, processes or services;
· proprietary aspects of products and the extent of intellectual property or other protection for products or formulas;

⋅ impact of regulation on the business;
· regulatory environment of the industry;

⋅ costs associated with effecting the Business Combination;

· industry leadership, sustainability of market share and attractiveness of market industries in which a target businessparticipates; and
⋅ macro competitive dynamics in the industry within which the company competes.

These criteria are not intended to be exhaustive. Any evaluation relating to the merits of a particular Business
Combination will be based, to the extent relevant, on the above factors as well as other considerations deemed
relevant by our management in effecting a Business Combination consistent with our business objective. In evaluating
a prospective target business, we will conduct an extensive due diligence review which will encompass, among other
things, meetings with incumbent management and inspection of facilities, as well as review of financial and other
information which is made available to us. This due diligence review will be conducted either by our management or
by unaffiliated third parties we may engage, although we have no current intention to engage any such third parties.

The time required to select and evaluate a target business and to structure and complete the Business Combination,
and the costs associated with this process, are not currently ascertainable with any degree of certainty. Any costs
incurred with respect to the identification and evaluation of a prospective target business with which a Business
Combination is not ultimately completed will result in our incurring losses and will reduce the funds we can use to
complete another Business Combination. We will not pay any finders or consulting fees to members of our
management team, or any of their respective affiliates, for services rendered to or in connection with a Business
Combination.

6
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Fair Market Value Of Target

Pursuant to the NASDAQ listing rules, the target business or businesses that we acquire must collectively have a fair
market value equal to at least 80% of the balance of the funds in the Trust Account at the time of the execution of a
definitive agreement for our initial Business Combination (excluding deferred underwriting fees and taxes payable on
the income earned on the Trust Account), although we may acquire a target business whose fair market value
significantly exceeds 80% of the Trust Account balance. We currently anticipate structuring a Business Combination
to acquire 100% of the equity interests or assets of the target business or businesses. We may, however, structure a
Business Combination where we merge directly with the target business or where we acquire less than 100% of such
interests or assets of the target business. If we acquire less than 100% of the equity interests or assets of the target
business, we will not enter into a Business Combination unless the post-transaction company owns or acquires 50% or
more of the outstanding voting securities of the target or otherwise acquires a controlling interest in the target
sufficient for it not to be required to register as an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940. If
we acquire less than 100% of the equity interest in a target business or businesses, the portion of such business that we
acquire must have a fair market value equal to at least 80% of the Trust Account balance. In order to close such an
acquisition, we may issue a significant amount of our debt or equity securities to the sellers of such businesses and/or
seek to raise additional funds through a private offering of debt or equity securities. We have not entered into any such
fund raising arrangement. The fair market value of the target will be determined by our board of directors based upon
one or more standards generally accepted by the financial community (such as actual and potential sales, earnings,
cash flow and/or book value). If our board is not able to independently determine that the target business has a
sufficient fair market value, we will obtain an opinion from an unaffiliated, independent investment banking firm, or
another independent entity that commonly renders valuation opinions on the type of target business we are seeking to
acquire, with respect to the satisfaction of such criteria. We will not be required to obtain an opinion from an
independent investment banking firm, or another independent entity that commonly renders valuation opinions on the
type of target business we are seeking to acquire, as to the fair market value if our board of directors independently
determines that the target business complies with the 80% threshold.

Lack Of Business Diversification

We may seek to effect a Business Combination with more than one target business, and there is no required minimum
valuation standard for any target at the time of such acquisition. We expect to complete only a single Business
Combination, although this process may entail the simultaneous acquisitions of several operating businesses.
Therefore, at least initially, the prospects for our success may be entirely dependent upon the future performance of a
single business operation. By consummating our initial Business Combination with only a single entity, our lack of
diversification may:

·
subject us to negative economic, competitive and regulatory developments, any or all of which may have a
substantial adverse impact upon the particular industry in which we may operate subsequent to our initial Business
Combination; and

⋅ result in our dependency upon the performance of a single operating business or the development or market
acceptance of a single or limited number of products, processes or services.

If we determine to simultaneously acquire several businesses and such businesses are owned by different sellers, we
will need for each such seller to agree that our purchase of its business is contingent on the simultaneous closings of
the other acquisitions, which may make it more difficult for us, and delay our ability, to complete the Business
Combination. With multiple acquisitions, we could also face additional risks, including additional burdens and costs
with respect to possible multiple negotiations and due diligence investigations (if there are multiple sellers) and the
additional risks associated with the subsequent assimilation of the operations and services or products of the acquired
companies in a single operating business.
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Limited Ability to Evaluate the Target Business’ Management

Although we intend to scrutinize the management team of a prospective target business when evaluating the
desirability of effecting our initial Business Combination, our assessment of the target business’ management team
may not prove to be correct. In addition, the future management team may not have the necessary skills, qualifications
or abilities to manage a public company. Furthermore, the future role of our officers and directors, if any, in the target
business following our initial Business Combination remains to be determined. While it is possible that some of our
key personnel will remain associated in senior management or advisory positions with us following our initial
Business Combination, it is unlikely that they will devote their full time efforts to our affairs subsequent to our initial
Business Combination. Moreover, they would only be able to remain with the company after the closing of our initial
Business Combination if they are able to negotiate employment or consulting agreements in connection with the
Business Combination. Such negotiations would take place simultaneously with the negotiation of the Business
Combination and could provide for them to receive compensation in the form of cash payments and/or our securities
for services they would render to the company after the closing of the Business Combination. While the personal and
financial interests of our key personnel as individuals may influence their motivation in identifying and selecting a
target business, their ability to remain with the company after the closing of our initial Business Combination will not
be the determining factor in our decision as to whether or not we will proceed with any potential Business
Combination. Additionally, our officers and directors may not have significant experience or knowledge relating to
the operations of the particular target business.
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Following our initial Business Combination, we may seek to recruit additional managers to supplement the incumbent
management of the target business. We may not have the ability to recruit additional managers, or that any such
additional managers we do recruit will have the requisite skills, knowledge or experience necessary to enhance the
incumbent management.

Stockholders May Not Have the Ability to Approve Business Combination

In connection with any proposed Business Combination, we will either (1) seek stockholder approval of our initial
Business Combination at a meeting called for such purpose at which stockholders may seek to convert their shares,
regardless of whether they vote for or against the proposed Business Combination, into their pro rata share of the
aggregate amount then on deposit in the Trust Account (net of taxes payable), or (2) provide our stockholders with the
opportunity to sell their shares to us by means of a tender offer (and thereby avoid the need for a stockholder vote) for
an amount equal to their pro rata share of the aggregate amount then on deposit in the Trust Account (net of taxes
payable), in each case subject to the limitations described herein. If we determine to engage in a tender offer, such
tender offer will be structured so that each stockholder may tender all of his, her or its shares rather than some pro rata
portion of his, her or its shares. The decision as to whether we will seek stockholder approval of a proposed Business
Combination or will allow stockholders to sell their shares to us in a tender offer will be made by us, solely in our
discretion, and will be based on a variety of factors such as the timing of the transaction and whether the terms of the
transaction would otherwise require us to seek stockholder approval. The amount in the Trust Account is initially
anticipated to be $10.55 per share.

Unlike other blank check companies which require stockholder votes and conduct proxy solicitations in conjunction
with their initial Business Combinations and related conversions of public shares for cash upon closing of such initial
Business Combination even when a vote is not required by law, we will have the flexibility to avoid such stockholder
vote and allow our stockholders to sell their shares pursuant to Rule 13e-4 and Regulation 14E of the Exchange Act
which regulate issuer tender offers. In that case, we would file tender offer documents with the SEC which would
contain substantially the same financial and other information about the initial Business Combination as is required
under the SEC’s proxy rules. We will close our initial Business Combination only if we have net tangible assets of at
least $5,000,001 upon such closing and, solely if we seek stockholder approval, a majority of the outstanding shares of
Common Stock voted are voted in favor of the Business Combination.

We chose our net tangible asset threshold of $5,000,001 to ensure that we would avoid being subject to Rule 419
promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. However, if we seek to close an initial Business
Combination with a target business that imposes any type of working capital closing condition or requires us to have a
minimum amount of funds available from the Trust Account upon closing of such initial Business Combination, our
net tangible asset threshold may limit our ability to close such initial Business Combination (as we may be required to
have a lesser number of shares seek to convert or sell their shares to us in a tender offer) and may force us to seek
third party financing which may not be available on terms acceptable to us or at all. As a result, we may not be able to
close such initial Business Combination and we may not be able to locate another suitable target within the applicable
time period, if at all. Public stockholders may therefore have to wait the full 21 months in order to be able to receive a
pro rata share of the Trust Account.

Our Sponsor and our officers and directors have agreed (1) to vote any shares owned by them in favor of any proposed
Business Combination and (2) not to convert any shares in connection with a stockholder vote to approve a proposed
initial Business Combination or sell any shares to us pursuant to any tender offer described above. 
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Stockholder Approval Procedures if Meeting Held

In connection with any vote for a proposed Business Combination, our Sponsor, as well as all of our officers and
directors, have agreed to vote the shares of Common Stock owned by them in favor of such proposed Business
Combination. If we hold a meeting to approve a proposed Business Combination and a significant number of
stockholders vote, or indicate an intention to vote, against such proposed Business Combination, our officers,
directors, Sponsor or their affiliates may purchase shares of Common Stock in the open market or in private
transactions in order to influence the vote. 

If public stockholders indicate an intention to vote against a proposed Business Combination and/or seek conversion
of their shares into cash, we may negotiate arrangements to provide for the purchase of such shares at the closing of
the Business Combination using funds held in the Trust Account. The purpose of such arrangements would be to
increase the likelihood of satisfaction of the requirements that the holders of a majority of our shares of common stock
outstanding vote in favor of a proposed Business Combination and that we have at least $5,000,001 of net tangible
assets upon closing of such Business Combination where it appears that such requirements would otherwise not be
met. All shares purchased by us or our affiliates pursuant to such arrangements would be voted in favor of the
proposed Business Combination. No such arrangements currently exist. 

Conversion Rights

If we seek stockholder approval of our initial Business Combination at a meeting called for such purpose, public
stockholders may seek to convert their shares, regardless of whether they vote for or against the proposed Business
Combination, into their pro rata share of the aggregate amount then on deposit in the Trust Account (net of taxes
payable). Alternatively, we may provide our stockholders with the opportunity to sell their shares of our common
stock to us through a tender offer (and thereby avoid the need for a stockholder vote) for an amount equal to their pro
rata share of the aggregate amount then on deposit in the Trust Account (net of taxes payable). 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in accordance with our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, a public
stockholder, together with any affiliate of his or any other person with whom he is acting in concert or as a “group” (as
defined in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act) will be restricted from seeking conversion rights with respect to 20%
or more of the Public Shares. Such a public stockholder would still be entitled to vote against a proposed Business
Combination with respect to all Public Shares owned by him or his affiliates. We believe this restriction will prevent
stockholders from accumulating large blocks of shares before the vote held to approve a proposed Business
Combination and attempt to use the conversion right as a means to force us or our management to purchase their
shares at a significant premium to the then current market price. By limiting a stockholder’s ability to convert no more
than 20% of the Public Shares, we believe we have limited the ability of a small group of stockholders to
unreasonably attempt to block a transaction which is favored by our other public stockholders. 

Our Sponsor will not have conversion or tender rights with respect to any shares of common stock owned by it,
directly or indirectly, whether acquired prior to the IPO or purchased by it in the aftermarket. 

We may also require public stockholders, whether they are a record holder or hold their shares in “street name,” to either
tender their certificates to our transfer agent at any time through the vote on the Business Combination or to deliver
their shares to the transfer agent electronically using Depository Trust Company’s DWAC (Deposit/Withdrawal At
Custodian) System, at the holder’s option. 

There is a nominal cost associated with the above-referenced delivery process and the act of certificating the shares or
delivering them through the DWAC System. The transfer agent will typically charge the tendering broker $45.00 and
it would be up to the broker whether or not to pass this cost on to the holder. However, this fee would be incurred
regardless of whether or not we require holders to exercise conversion rights. The need to deliver shares is a
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requirement of exercising conversion rights regardless of the timing of when such delivery must be effectuated.
However, in the event we require stockholders to exercise conversion rights prior to the closing of the proposed
Business Combination and the proposed Business Combination is not closed, this may result in an increased cost to
stockholders.
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The foregoing is different from the procedures used by many blank check companies. Traditionally, in order to perfect
conversion rights in connection with a blank check company’s Business Combination, the company would distribute
proxy materials for the stockholders’ vote on an initial Business Combination, and a holder could simply vote against a
proposed Business Combination and check a box on the proxy card indicating such holder was seeking to exercise his
conversion rights. After the Business Combination was approved, the company would contact such stockholder to
arrange for him to deliver his certificate to verify ownership. As a result, the stockholder then had an “option window”
after the closing of the Business Combination during which he could monitor the price of the company’s stock in the
market. If the price rose above the conversion price, he could sell his shares in the open market before actually
delivering his shares to the company for cancellation. As a result, the conversion rights, to which stockholders were
aware they needed to commit before the stockholder meeting, would become a “continuing” right surviving past the
closing of the Business Combination until the holder delivered its certificate. The requirement for physical or
electronic delivery prior to the meeting ensures that a holder’s election to convert his shares is irrevocable once the
Business Combination is approved. 

Any request to convert such shares once made, may be withdrawn at any time up to the vote on the proposed Business
Combination. Furthermore, if a holder of a public share of common stock delivered his certificate in connection with
an election of their conversion and subsequently decides prior to the applicable date not to elect to exercise such
rights, he may simply request that the transfer agent return the certificate (physically or electronically). 

If the initial Business Combination is not approved or completed for any reason, then our public stockholders who
elected to exercise their conversion rights would not be entitled to convert their shares for the applicable pro rata share
of the Trust Account. In such case, we will promptly return any shares delivered by public stockholders. 

Liquidation If No Business Combination

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that we will continue in existence only until 21 months
from the date of our prospectus (October 24, 2013) in the event that we have not completed our initial Business
Combination by such date. If we have not completed our initial Business Combination by such date, we will (1) cease
all operations except for the purpose of winding up, (2) as promptly as reasonably possible but not more than ten
business days thereafter, redeem 100% of the outstanding public shares, at a per-share price, payable in cash, equal to
the aggregate amount then on deposit in the Trust Account, less franchise and income taxes to the extent they may be
paid from interest earned on the Trust Account, divided by the number of then outstanding public shares, which
redemption will completely extinguish public stockholders’ rights as stockholders (including the right to receive
further liquidation distributions, if any), subject to applicable law, and (3) as promptly as reasonably possible
following such redemption, subject to the approval of our remaining stockholders and our board of directors, dissolve
and liquidate, subject (in the case of (2) and (3) above) to our obligations under Delaware law to provide for claims of
creditors and the requirements of other applicable law. 

Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, stockholders may be held liable for claims by third parties against a
corporation to the extent of distributions received by them in a dissolution. The pro rata portion of our Trust Account
distributed to our public stockholders upon the redemption of 100% of our outstanding public shares in the event we
do not complete our initial Business Combination within 21 months from the date of our prospectus (October 24,
2013) may be considered a liquidation distribution under Delaware law. If the corporation complies with certain
procedures set forth in Section 280 of the Delaware General Corporation Law intended to ensure that it makes
reasonable provision for all claims against it, including a 60-day notice period during which any third-party claims can
be brought against the corporation, a 90-day period during which the corporation may reject any claims brought, and
an additional 150-day waiting period before any liquidating distributions are made to stockholders, any liability of
stockholders with respect to a liquidating distribution is limited to the lesser of such stockholder’s pro rata share of the
claim or the amount distributed to the stockholder, and any liability of the stockholder would be barred after the third
anniversary of the dissolution.
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Furthermore, if the pro rata portion of our Trust Account distributed to our public stockholders upon the redemption of
100% of our public shares in the event we do not complete our initial Business Combination within 21 months from
the date of our prospectus (October 24, 2013) is not considered a liquidation distribution under Delaware law and such
redemption distribution is deemed to be unlawful, then pursuant to Section 174 of the Delaware General Corporation
Law, the statute of limitations for claims of creditors could then be six years after the unlawful redemption
distribution, instead of three years, as in the case of a liquidation distribution. If we are unable to complete a Business
Combination within the prescribed time frame, we will (1) cease all operations except for the purpose of winding up,
(2) as promptly as reasonably possible but not more than ten business days thereafter, redeem 100% of the outstanding
public shares, at a per-share price, payable in cash, equal to the aggregate amount then on deposit in the Trust
Account, less franchise and income taxes to the extent they may be paid from interest earned on the Trust Account,
divided by the number of then outstanding public shares, which redemption will completely extinguish public
stockholders’ rights as stockholders (including the right to receive further liquidation distributions, if any), subject to
applicable law, and (3) as promptly as reasonably possible following such redemption, subject to the approval of our
remaining stockholders and our board of directors, dissolve and liquidate, subject (in the case of (2) and (3) above) to
our obligations under Delaware law to provide for claims of creditors and the requirements of other applicable law.
Accordingly, it is our intention to redeem our public shares as soon as reasonably possible following our 21st month
and, therefore, we do not intend to comply with those procedures. As such, our stockholders could potentially be
liable for any claims to the extent of distributions received by them (but no more) and any liability of our stockholders
may extend well beyond the third anniversary of such date. 

Because we will not be complying with Section 280 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, Section 281(b) of the
Delaware General Corporation Law requires us to adopt a plan, based on facts known to us at such time that will
provide for our payment of all existing and pending claims or claims that may be potentially brought against us within
the subsequent 10 years. However, because we are a blank check company, rather than an operating company, and our
operations will be limited to searching for prospective target businesses to acquire, the only likely claims to arise
would be from our vendors (such as lawyers, investment bankers, etc.) or prospective target businesses. 

We will seek to have all third parties (including any vendors or other entities we engage) and any prospective target
businesses enter into valid and enforceable agreements with us waiving any right, title, interest or claim of any kind
they may have in or to any monies held in the Trust Account. As a result, the claims that could be made against us will
be limited, thereby lessening the likelihood that any claim would result in any liability extending to the trust. We
therefore believe that any necessary provision for creditors will be reduced and should not have a significant impact
on our ability to distribute the funds in the Trust Account to our public stockholders upon the redemption of 100% of
our outstanding public shares in the event we do not complete our initial Business Combination within 21 months
from the date of our prospectus (October 24, 2013). Nevertheless, there is no guarantee that vendors, service providers
and prospective target businesses will execute such agreements. In the event that a potential contracted party was to
refuse to execute such a waiver, we will execute an agreement with that entity only if our management first determines
that we would be unable to obtain, on a reasonable basis, substantially similar services or opportunities from another
entity willing to execute such a waiver. Examples of instances where we may engage a third party that refused to
execute a waiver would be the engagement of a third party consultant who cannot sign such an agreement due to
regulatory restrictions, such as our auditors who are unable to sign due to independence requirements, or whose
particular expertise or skills are believed by management to be superior to those of other consultants that would agree
to execute a waiver or a situation in which management does not believe it would be able to find a provider of
required services willing to provide the waiver.
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There is also no guarantee that, even if they execute such agreements with us, they will not seek recourse against the
Trust Account. Our Sponsor has agreed that it will be liable to pay debts and obligations to target businesses or
vendors or other entities that are owed money by us for services rendered or contracted for or products sold to us, but
only if, and to the extent that, the claims would otherwise reduce the Trust Account to below $10.55 per Public Share.
The Sponsor has entered into an indemnity agreement with Global Integrated Security (USA) Inc., a member of
Global Strategies Group, pursuant to which Global Integrated Security (USA) Inc. has agreed to indemnify the
Sponsor so that it can fund its obligations under the Sponsor indemnity. However, our Sponsor may not be able to
satisfy its indemnification obligations if it is required to so. Additionally, the indemnification agreement entered into
by our Sponsor specifically provides for two exceptions: it will have no liability (1) as to any claimed amounts owed
to a target business or vendor or other entity who has executed an agreement with us waiving any right, title, interest
or claim of any kind they may have in or to any monies held in the Trust Account, or (2) as to any claims under our
indemnity with the underwriters of the IPO against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act. As
a result, if we liquidate, the per-share distribution from the Trust Account could be less than $10.55 due to claims or
potential claims of creditors. We will distribute to all of our public stockholders, in proportion to their respective
equity interests, an aggregate sum equal to the amount in the Trust Account, inclusive of any interest, plus any
remaining net assets (subject to our obligations under Delaware law to provide for claims of creditors as described
below). 

We anticipate notifying the trustee of the Trust Account to begin liquidating such assets promptly after such date and
anticipate it will take no more than 10 business days to effectuate such distribution. Our Sponsor has waived its rights
to participate in any liquidation distribution with respect to the Sponsor’s Shares. We will pay the costs of any
subsequent liquidation from our remaining assets outside of the Trust Account. If such funds are insufficient, our
Sponsor has agreed to pay the funds necessary to complete such liquidation (currently anticipated to be no more than
approximately $15,000) and has agreed not to seek repayment of such expenses. 

If we are unable to complete our initial Business Combination and expend all of the net proceeds of the IPO, other
than the proceeds deposited in the Trust Account, and without taking into account interest, if any, earned on the Trust
Account, the initial per-share redemption price would be $10.55. The per share redemption price includes the deferred
commissions that would also be distributable to our public stockholders. The proceeds deposited in the Trust Account
could, however, become subject to claims of any creditors that may be in preference to the claims of public
stockholders. 

Our public stockholders will be entitled to receive funds from the Trust Account only in the event of our failure to
complete our initial Business Combination in the required time period or if the stockholders seek to have us convert or
purchase their respective shares upon a Business Combination which is actually completed by us. In no other
circumstances will a stockholder have any right or interest of any kind to or in the Trust Account. 

If we are forced to file a bankruptcy case or an involuntary bankruptcy case is filed against us which is not dismissed,
the proceeds held in the Trust Account could be subject to applicable bankruptcy law, and may be included in our
bankruptcy estate and subject to the claims of third parties with priority over the claims of our stockholders. To the
extent any bankruptcy claims deplete the Trust Account, we may not be able to return to our public stockholders at
least $10.55 per share. 

If we are forced to file a bankruptcy case or an involuntary bankruptcy case is filed against us which is not dismissed,
any distributions received by stockholders could be viewed under applicable debtor/creditor and/or bankruptcy laws as
either a “preferential transfer” or a “fraudulent conveyance.” As a result, a bankruptcy court could seek to recover all
amounts received by our stockholders. Furthermore, because we intend to distribute the proceeds held in the Trust
Account to our public stockholders upon the redemption of 100% of our outstanding public shares in the event we do
not complete our initial Business Combination within 21 months from the date of our prospectus (October 24, 2013),
this may be viewed or interpreted as giving preference to our public stockholders over any potential creditors with
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respect to access to or distributions from our assets. Furthermore, our board may be viewed as having breached their
fiduciary duties to our creditors and/or may have acted in bad faith, and thereby exposing itself and our company to
claims of punitive damages, by paying public stockholders from the Trust Account prior to addressing the claims of
creditors. Claims may be brought against us for these reasons.
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Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation contains certain requirements and restrictions that will apply to
us until the closing of our initial Business Combination. If we seek to amend any provisions of our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation relating to stockholder’s rights or pre-Business Combination activity, we will
provide dissenting public stockholders with the opportunity to convert their public shares in connection with any such
vote. Our Sponsor has agreed to waive any conversion rights with respect to any Sponsor’s shares, private placement
shares and any public shares it may hold in connection with any vote to amend our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation. Specifically, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides, among other things, that: 

·

prior to the closing of our initial Business Combination, we shall either (1) seek stockholder approval of our initial
Business Combination at a meeting called for such purpose at which stockholders may seek to convert their shares,
regardless of whether they vote for or against the proposed Business Combination, into their pro rata share of the
aggregate amount then on deposit in the Trust Account (net of taxes payable), or (2) provide our stockholders with
the opportunity to sell their shares to us by means of a tender offer (and thereby avoid the need for a stockholder
vote) for an amount equal to their pro rata share of the aggregate amount then on deposit in the Trust Account (net of
taxes payable), in each case subject to the limitations described herein;

·
we will close our initial Business Combination only if we have net tangible assets of at least $5,000,001 upon such
closing and, solely if we seek stockholder approval, a majority of the outstanding shares of common stock voted are
voted in favor of the Business Combination;

·

only Public Shares acquired in the IPO or subsequently purchased in the open market shall be entitled to receive
funds from the Trust Account and only (1) in the event of a liquidation of the Trust Account to any holders of our
Public Shares acquired in connection with (a) our dissolution, (b) our redemption of 100% of the outstanding Public
Shares acquired in the IPO if we have not completed an initial Business Combination within 21 months from the
date of our prospectus (October 24, 2013), or (c) the termination of our existence if we are unable to consummate an
initial Business Combination within 21 months from the date of our prospectus (October 24, 2013), pursuant to the
terms of the investment management trust agreement governing the Trust Account or (2) in the event a holder of
Public Shares acquired in our IPO demands conversion of or tenders such Public Shares, subject to the terms
described herein;

·

if we enter into an initial Business Combination with a prospective target business that is affiliated with our Sponsor,
our directors or officers, including (1) an entity in which any of the foregoing or their affiliates are currently officers
or directors or (2) an entity in which any of the foregoing or their affiliates are currently invested through an
investment vehicle controlled by them (except for an entity in which any of the foregoing or their affiliates are
currently passive investors and hold in the aggregate 1% or less of the outstanding common stock), we must obtain
an opinion from an independent investment banking firm that is a member of the Financial Industry Regulatory
Authority that such initial Business Combination is fair to us from a financial point of view;

· we cannot enter into an initial Business Combination with another blank check company or a similar company withnominal operations;

⋅

if any amendment is made to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation that would affect the substance or
timing of our obligation to redeem, convert or tender 100% of the public shares acquired in the IPO if we have not
consummated an initial Business Combination within 21 months from the date of our prospectus (October 24, 2013),
the public stockholders shall be provided with the opportunity to redeem, convert or tender such public shares upon
the approval of any such amendment, at a per-share price, payable in cash, equal to the aggregate amount then on
deposit in the Trust Account, including interest, less franchise and income taxes payable, divided by the number of
then outstanding Public Shares;
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·

if we are unable to close our initial Business Combination within 21 months from the date of our prospectus
(October 24,2013), we will, as promptly as possible but not more than ten business days thereafter, redeem 100% of
our outstanding public shares for a pro rata portion of the funds held in the Trust Account (less franchise and income
taxes to the extent they may be paid from interest earned on the Trust Account), and then seek to dissolve and
liquidate;

⋅ upon the consummation of the IPO, $10.55 per share was placed into the Trust Account;

· we may not close any other Business Combination, merger, capital stock exchange, asset acquisition, stockpurchase, reorganization or similar transaction prior to our initial Business Combination;

⋅

prior to our initial Business Combination, we may not issue (1) any shares of common stock or any securities
convertible into common stock (other than working capital loans which are not convertible until after our initial
Business Combination), or (2) any securities that participate in any manner in the proceeds of the Trust Account, or
that vote as a class with the Public Shares on our initial Business Combination;

·

if we permit our stockholders to convert their Public Shares in conjunction with a stockholder vote on an initial
Business Combination or provide our stockholders with the opportunity to sell their Public Shares to us by means of
a tender offer, a public stockholder, together with any affiliate of his or any other person with whom he is acting in
concert or as a “group” (as defined in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act) will be restricted from seeking conversion
rights with respect to 20% or more of the Public Shares; and

⋅
the doctrine of corporate opportunity will not apply with respect to any of our officers or directors, or their respective
affiliates in circumstances where the application of such doctrine would conflict with any fiduciary duties or
contractual obligations they may have as of the date of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation.

These provisions cannot be amended without the approval of 65% of our outstanding shares of common stock, other
than the provision waiving the doctrine of corporate opportunity with respect to any of our officers or directors, or
their respective affiliates, which cannot be amended without the approval of a majority of our outstanding shares of
common stock. Our Sponsor, its affiliates, and our officers and directors own, in the aggregate, 28.5% of our shares of
common stock. In the event we seek stockholder approval in connection with our initial Business Combination, our
amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that we may close our initial Business Combination only if
approved by a majority of the shares of common stock voted by our stockholders at a duly held stockholders meeting.
Any action required or permitted to be taken by our stockholders must be effected at a duly called annual or special
meeting of stockholders, and the ability of the stockholders to consent in writing to the taking of any action is hereby
specifically denied. Notwithstanding the foregoing, until such time as our Sponsor and any of its Affiliates (as defined
in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act) no longer beneficially own at least 15% of the total number of shares of our
common stock outstanding, any action required or permitted to be taken at any special meeting of stockholders may be
taken without a meeting, without prior notice and without a vote, if a consent or consents in writing, setting forth the
action so taken, shall be signed by or on behalf of the holders of our outstanding common stock having not less than
the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a special meeting of
stockholders at which all shares our common stock were present and voted and shall be delivered to us by delivery to
our registered office in Delaware, our principal place of business, or to our officer or agent having custody of the book
in which proceedings of our meetings of stockholders are recorded.

Sponsor Provisions

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws provide our Sponsor and its Sponsor representatives
serving on our board of directors with certain rights and continue following the consummation of our initial Business
Combination so long as our Sponsor continues to hold a significant ownership stake in us. Specifically, our amended
and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws provide, among other things:
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·

Sponsor director representatives.  Until such time as our Sponsor and any of its Affiliates (as defined in Rule
12b-2 under the Exchange Act) no longer beneficially own at least 15% of the our common stock outstanding and
except as otherwise required by applicable law, the amended and restated certificate of incorporation or the rules and
regulations of any securities exchange or quotation system on which our securities are listed or quoted for trading,
our Sponsor with right to designate a number of director nominees to our board of directors (which we refer to as a
Sponsor representative) equal to (rounded up to the nearest whole number of Sponsor representatives) the percentage
of our outstanding common stock beneficially owned by our Sponsor and any of its Affiliates (as defined in Rule
12b-2 under the Exchange Act). Each such Sponsor representative may sit on any committee(s) of his or her choice
on our board of directors , provided that he or she meets the membership requirements specified by the SEC and the
securities exchange or quotation system on which our securities are listed or quoted for trading. In addition,
vacancies in our board of directors or any committees thereof held by a Sponsor representative may only be filled by
a designated nominee of our Sponsor.

⋅

Calling stockholder meetings.  Until such time as our Sponsor and any of its Affiliates (as defined in Rule 12b-2
under the Exchange Act) no longer beneficially own at least 20% of our common stock outstanding, any special
meeting of stockholders may be called by stockholders beneficially owning, in the aggregate, 20% or more of our
common stock outstanding. Otherwise, stockholders may not call a meeting of stockholders.

·

Stockholder written consent in lieu of a meeting.  Until such time as our Sponsor and any of its Affiliates (as
defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act) no longer beneficially own at least 15% of the total number of shares
of our common stock outstanding, any action required or permitted to be taken at any annual or special meeting of
stockholders may be taken without a meeting, without prior notice and without a vote, if a consent or consents in
writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by the holders of outstanding stock having not less than the
minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which all shares
entitled to vote thereon were present and voted. In any other case, a consent in writing by our stockholders would be
prohibited.

⋅

Quorum.  Except as otherwise required by law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or the rules and
regulations of the NASDAQ, at all meetings of our board of directors or any committee thereof, a quorum shall
consist of majority of our board of directors or a majority of the directors constituting such committee, as the case
may be, which must include the chairman of our board of directors for so long as he or she is a Sponsor
representative and if not, then at least one (1) Sponsor representative serving on our board of directors to the extent
there are any Sponsor representatives serving on our board of directors.

·

Amendments.  The foregoing rights attributable to our Sponsor and any Sponsor representative set forth in the
amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws may not be amended by our board of directors without
the approval of the chairman of our board of directors for so long as he or she is a Sponsor representative, and if not,
then at least one (1) Sponsor representative for so long as at least one (1) Sponsor representative serves on our board
of directors.

Competition

In identifying, evaluating and selecting a target business, we may encounter intense competition from other entities
having a business objective similar to ours. Many of these entities are well established and have extensive experience
identifying and effecting Business Combinations directly or through affiliates. Many of these competitors possess
greater technical, human and other resources than us and our financial resources will be relatively limited when
contrasted with those of many of these competitors. While we believe there may be numerous potential target
businesses that we could acquire, our ability to compete in acquiring certain sizable target businesses may be limited
by our available financial resources.

The following also may not be viewed favorably by certain target businesses:
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· our obligation to seek stockholder approval of our initial Business Combination or enter into a tender offer maydelay the completion of a transaction; and

⋅our obligation to convert or repurchase shares of common stock held by our public stockholders may reduce theresources available to us for our initial Business Combination.

Any of these factors may place us at a competitive disadvantage in successfully negotiating our initial Business
Combination. Our management believes, however, that our status as a public entity and potential access to the United
States public equity markets may give us a competitive advantage over privately-held entities having a similar
business objective as ours in acquiring a target business with significant growth potential on favorable terms.

If we succeed in effecting our initial Business Combination, there will be, in all likelihood, intense competition from
competitors of the target business. Subsequent to our initial Business Combination, we may not have the resources or
ability to compete effectively.

Employees

We have four executive officers. These individuals are not obligated to devote any specific number of hours to our
matters and intend to devote only as much time as they deem necessary to our affairs. The amount of time they will
devote in any time period will vary based on whether a target business has been selected for the Business Combination
and the stage of the Business Combination process the company is in. Accordingly, once a suitable target business to
acquire has been located, management will spend more time investigating such target business and negotiating and
processing the Business Combination (and consequently spend more time on our affairs) than had been spent prior to
locating a suitable target business. We presently expect our executive officers to devote such amount of time as they
reasonably believe is necessary to our business. We do not intend to have any full time employees prior to the closing
of our initial Business Combination.

Periodic Reporting and Financial Information

We have registered our common stock under the Exchange Act and have reporting obligations, including the
requirement that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with the SEC. In accordance with the requirements of
the Exchange Act, this Annual Report contains financial statements audited and reported on by our independent
registered public accountants.

We will provide stockholders with audited financial statements of the prospective target business as part of any proxy
solicitation or tender offer materials sent to stockholders to assist them in assessing the target business. These
financial statements will need to be prepared in accordance with or reconciled to United States GAAP or IFRS. A
particular target business identified by us as a potential acquisition candidate may not have the necessary financial
statements. To the extent that this requirement cannot be met, we may not be able to acquire the proposed target
business.

A target company may not be in compliance with the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act regarding adequacy of
their internal controls. The development of the internal controls of any such entity to achieve compliance with the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act may increase the time and costs necessary to complete any such acquisition.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
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We are a smaller reporting company as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and are not
required to provide the information under this Item. However, factors that could cause our actual results to differ
materially from those in this Annual Report include any of the risks described in our prospectus as filed with the SEC
on October 25, 2013. Any of these factors could result in a significant or material adverse effect on our results of
operations or financial condition. Additional risk factors not presently known to us or that we currently deem
immaterial may also impair our business or results of operations.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

Item 2.    Properties

We currently maintain our principal executive offices at 11921 Freedom Drive, Suite 550, Two Fountain Square,
Reston, Virginia 20190. The cost for this space is included in the $10,000 per-month fee our Sponsor charges us for
general and administrative services pursuant to a letter agreement between us and our Sponsor. We believe, based on
fees for similar services in the Washington, D.C. or New York metropolitan areas, that the fee charged by our Sponsor
is at least as favorable as we could have obtained from an unaffiliated person. We consider our current office space,
combined with the other office space otherwise available to our executive officers, adequate for our current
operations.

Item 3.    Legal Proceedings

We are not currently subject to any material legal proceedings, nor, to our knowledge, is any material legal proceeding
threatened against us or any of our officers and directors in their corporate capacity.

Item 4.    Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

PART II

___________________________

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of EquitySecurities

Price Range of Common Stock

Since October 24, 2013, our common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, trades on the NASDAQ under the symbol
“GDEF”.  The following table set forth, for the calendar quarter indicated, the high and low sale prices for the
Company’s common stock as reported on the NASDAQ.
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Quarter ended High Low
December 31, 2013 $ 11.39 $ 10.00

(1)
Represents the high and low sale prices for our shares of common stock from October 24, 2013, the date that our
common stock first became tradable.

Dividends

We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock to date and do not intend to pay cash dividends prior to
the completion of our initial Business Combination. The payment of cash dividends in the future will be dependent
upon our revenues and earnings, if any, capital requirements and general financial condition subsequent to completion
of our initial Business Combination. The payment of any dividends subsequent to our initial Business Combination
will be within the discretion of our board of directors at such time. It is the present intention of our board of directors
to retain all earnings, if any, for use in our business operations and, accordingly, our board of directors does not
anticipate declaring any dividends in the foreseeable future. Further, if we incur any indebtedness in connection with
our initial Business Combination, our ability to declare dividends may be limited by restrictive covenants we may
agree to in connection therewith.
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative total return for our common stock from October 24, 2013, the date our
common stock first became tradable, through December 31, 2013 with the comparable cumulative return of two
indices, the S&P 500 Index and the Dow Jones Industrial Average Index. The graph assumes $100 invested on
October 24, 2013 in our common stock and $100 invested at that same time in each of the two listed indices.

Global Defense & National Security Systems, Inc. vs S&P 500 & DJIA

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds from Registered Offering

Unregistered Sales

 On July 19, 2013, our Sponsor purchased the Sponsor’s Shares (2,003,225 shares of the Company’s common stock) for
$25,000, or approximately $.0125 per share.  Of the total Sponsor’s Shares, 50% of such shares will be released from
escrow six months after the closing of the Business Combination. The remaining 50% of the Sponsor’s Shares will be
released from escrow one year after the closing of the Business Combination. Prior to the conclusion of such escrow
periods, the Sponsor’s Shares will not be transferred, assigned, sold or released from escrow, subject to certain limited
exceptions, including transfers (1) to our officers, directors and employees, to the Sponsor’s affiliates or its members
upon its liquidation, (2) to relatives and trusts for estate planning purposes, (3) by virtue of the laws of descent and
distribution upon death, (4) pursuant to a qualified domestic relations order, (5) by certain pledges to secure
obligations incurred in connection with purchases of our securities or (6) by private sales made in connection with the
closing of a Business Combination at prices no greater than the price at which the shares were originally purchased, in
each case where the transferee agrees to the terms of the escrow agreement and mandatory redemption, as the case
may be. The sale of the Sponsor’s Shares was made pursuant to the exemption from registration contained in Section
4(2) of the Securities Act.
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On October 29, 2013, the Company also consummated, simultaneously with the IPO, the private sale of 721,500
Private Placement Shares to our Sponsor at a price of $10.00 per share (for an aggregate purchase price of
$7,215,000). The Private Placement Shares will not be transferable, assignable or salable until 30 days after the
completion of the Business Combination, subject to certain limited exceptions, including (i) to any member of our
Sponsor (“Sponsor Member”), (ii) by gift to a member of the Sponsor Member’s immediate family for estate planning
purposes or to a trust, the beneficiary of which is our Sponsor or a member of the Sponsor Member’s immediate
family, (iii) if the Sponsor Member is not a natural person, by gift to a member of the immediate family of such
Sponsor Member’s controlling person for estate planning purposes or to a trust, the beneficiary of which is our
Sponsor’s controlling person or a member of the immediate family of such Sponsor Member’s controlling person, (iv)
by virtue of the laws of descent and distribution upon death of the Sponsor Member, or (v) pursuant to a qualified
domestic relations order; in each case where the transferee agrees to the terms of the private placement agreement
governing such Private Placement Shares and the letter agreement signed by our Sponsor transferring such Private
Placement Shares and such other documents as we may reasonably require. Until 30 days after the completion of the
Business Combination, our Sponsor shall not pledge or grant a security interest in its Private Placement Shares or
grant a security interest in our Sponsor’s rights under the private placement agreement governing such Private
Placement Shares. The sale of the Private Placement Shares was made pursuant to the exemption from registration
contained in Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.

Use of Proceeds

The Company consummated the IPO on October 29, 2013 and received net proceeds of approximately $73,545,000
which includes $7,215,000 received from the private placement of 721,500 shares to our Sponsor and $9,495,000 as a
result of the underwriters’ exercise of the over allotment option.

The Company’s management has broad discretion with respect to the specific application of the net proceeds of its
IPO, although substantially all of the net proceeds of the IPO are intended to be generally applied toward
consummating a Business Combination. Furthermore, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to
successfully effect a Business Combination.

Net proceeds of $72,795,000 from the IPO and simultaneous private placements of the Private Placement Shares are
being held in the Trust Account. An amount initially equal to 105.5% of the gross proceeds of the IPO is being held in
the Trust Account and invested in U.S. “government securities,” within the meaning of Section 2(a)(16) of the
Investment Company Act of 1940 (the “1940 Act”) with a maturity of 180 days or less or in any open ended investment
company that holds itself out as a money market fund selected by the Company meeting the conditions of paragraphs
(c)(2), (c)(3) and (c)(4) of Rule 2a-7 of the 1940 Act, as determined by the Company, until the earlier of: (i) the
consummation of a Business Combination or (ii) the distribution of the Trust Account as described below.

In addition, interest income on the funds held in the Trust Account may be released to the Company to pay its
franchise and income tax obligations.

 Our Sponsor, officers and directors have agreed that the Company will have only 21 months from the date of the
Company's prospectus (October 24, 2013) to consummate our initial Business Combination. If we are unable to
consummate our initial Business Combination within 21 months, we will (i) cease all operations except for the
purposes of winding up of our affairs; (ii) distribute the aggregate amount then on deposit in the Trust Account,
including a portion of the interest earned thereon which was not previously used for payment of franchise and income
taxes, pro rata to our public stockholders by way of redemption of our Public Shares (which redemption would
completely extinguish such holders’ rights as stockholders, including the right to receive further liquidation
distributions, if any); and (iii) as promptly as possible following such redemption, dissolve and liquidate the balance
of our net assets to our remaining stockholders, as part of our plan of dissolution and liquidation.
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As of December 31, 2013, after giving effect to our IPO and our operations subsequent thereto, approximately
$72,180,956 was held in the Trust Account and we had approximately $827,541 of unrestricted cash available to us
for our activities in connection with identifying and conducting due diligence of a suitable Business Combination, and
for general corporate matters.
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Item 6.    Selected Financial Data

The following table summarizes the relevant financial data for our business and should be read in conjunction with
our financial statements, and the notes and schedules related thereto, which are included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Income Statement Data

For the Period
July 3, 2013
(Inception)
through
December 31,
2013

Loss from operations $ (101,089)
Interest income 15,956
Loss before provision for taxes (85,133)
Provision for income taxes -
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (85,133)
Weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding�basic and diluted 1,133,181
Net loss per common share�basic and diluted $ (0.10)

Balance Sheet Data

December 31,
2013

Cash and cash equivalents $ 827,541
Prepaid expenses 128,771
Cash and investments held in Trust Account 72,810,956
Total assets $ 73,767,268
Total liabilities $ 2,022,542
Common stock subject to redemption 66,744,725
Total stockholders’ equity 5,000,001
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 73,767,268

As of December 31, 2013 the total assets amount includes approximately $72,810,956 being held in the Trust
Account, $70,913,456 of which is available to us for the purposes of consummating a Business Combination within
the time period described in this Annual Report, with $1,897,500 in deferred underwriting fees payable upon
consummation of a Business Combination and the remaining $827,541 being available to us for general working
capital purposes. If a Business Combination is not so consummated, we will be dissolved and the proceeds held in the
Trust Account will be distributed solely to our public stockholders.

If we seek stockholder approval of any Business Combination, we will offer holders of our Public Shares the right to
have his, her or its Public Shares converted to cash (subject to the limitations described elsewhere in this Annual
Report) regardless of whether such stockholder votes for or against such proposed Business Combination. We will
close our initial Business Combination only if we have net tangible assets of at least $5,000,001 upon such closing
and, solely if we seek stockholder approval, a majority of the outstanding shares of common stock voted are voted in
favor of the Business Combination. Accordingly, public stockholders owning 6,326,513 shares sold in the IPO may
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exercise their conversion rights at an initial per share conversion price of $10.55 (not taking into account taxes that
may be due or interest earned on the Trust Account) and we could still close a proposed Business Combination so
long as a majority of shares voted at the meeting are voted in favor of the proposed Business Combination.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, a public stockholder, together with any affiliate of his or any other person with whom
he is acting in concert or as a “group” will be restricted from seeking conversion rights with respect to more than 20% of
the Public Shares. Generally, in this context, a stockholder will be deemed to be acting in concert or as a group with
another stockholder when such stockholders agree to act together for the purpose of acquiring, voting, holding or
disposing of our equity securities.
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Item 7.    Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the notes thereto included
elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements regarding the plans and objectives of management for future
operations. This information may involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause
our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from future results, performance or
achievements expressed or implied by any forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements, which involve
assumptions and describe our future plans, strategies and expectations, are generally identifiable by use of the words
“may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “believe,” “intend” or “project” or the negative of these words or other
variations on these words or comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements are based on assumptions
that may be incorrect, and we cannot assure you that these projections included in these forward-looking statements
will come to pass. Our actual results could differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking
statements as a result of various factors.

We have based the forward-looking statements included in this annual report on Form 10-K on the beliefs and
assumptions of management and information available to us on the date of this annual report on Form 10-K, and we
assume no obligation to update any such forward-looking statements. Although we undertake no obligation to revise
or update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, you are
advised to consult any additional disclosures that we may make directly to you or through reports that we in the future
may file with the SEC, including annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on
Form 8-K.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should be
read in conjunction with our financial statements and the related notes and schedules thereto.

We are a blank check development stage company organized under the laws of the State of Delaware on July 3, 2013.
We were formed for the purpose of acquiring, through a merger, capital stock exchange, asset acquisition, stock
purchase, reorganization, exchangeable share transaction or other similar business transaction, one or more operating
businesses or assets (a “Business Combination”). We have reviewed, and continue to review, a number of opportunities
to enter into a business combination with an operating business. Accordingly, we are not able to conclusively
determine at this time whether we will complete a Business Combination with any of the target companies that we
have reviewed or with whose management we have had discussions, or with any other target company, or the
likelihood thereof. We have also neither engaged in any operations nor generated any revenue to date.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

On July 19, 2013, our sponsor, Global Defense & National Security Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company (“Sponsor”) purchased 2,003,225 shares (the “Sponsor’s Shares”) of the Company’s common stock, par value
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$0.0001 per share (the “Common Stock”) to the Sponsor (the “Sponsor’s Shares”) for an aggregate purchase price of
$25,000, or approximately $.0125 per share. 
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On October 29, 2013, we consummated our initial public offering (the “IPO”) of 6,900,000 shares (the “Public Shares”) of
the Common Stock, including 900,000 shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to the full exercise of the
underwriters’ over-allotment option. The Public Shares were sold at a price of $10.00 per share, generating gross
proceeds to the Company of $69,000,000.

Simultaneously with the closing of the IPO, the Company completed the private sale of 721,500 shares of Common
Stock (“Private Placement Shares”) at a purchase price of $10.00 per Private Placement Share, to our Sponsor
generating gross proceeds to the Company of $7,215,000. A total of $72,795,000 comprised of approximately
$65,580,000 of the proceeds from the IPO, including approximately $1,897,500 of underwriters’ deferred discount, and
the proceeds of the sale of the Private Placement Shares were placed in the Trust Account.

As of December 31, 2013, approximately $72,810,956 was held in the Trust Account and we had approximately
$827,541 of unrestricted cash was available to us for our activities in connection with identifying and conducting due
diligence of a suitable Business Combination, and for general corporate matters.

The initial target business or businesses with which we combine must have a collective fair market value equal to at
least 80% of our net assets (excluding deferred underwriters’ discounts and commissions). However, we may not use
all of the proceeds held in the Trust Account in connection with a Business Combination, either because the
consideration for the Business Combination is less than the proceeds in trust or because we finance a portion of the
consideration with capital stock or debt securities that we can issue. In that event, the proceeds held in the Trust
Account as well as any other net proceeds not expended will be used to finance the operations of the target business or
businesses or undertake additional acquisitions.

We may issue additional capital stock or debt securities to finance a Business Combination. The issuance of additional
capital stock, including upon conversion of any convertible debt securities we may issue, or the incurrence of debt,
could have material consequences on our business and financial condition. The issuance of additional shares of our
capital stock (including upon conversion of convertible debt securities):

· may significantly reduce the equity interest of our stockholders;
·      will likely cause a change in control if a substantial number of our shares of common stock or voting preferred
stock are issued, which may result, among other things, in the resignation or removal of one or more of our present
officers and directors; and

· may adversely affect prevailing market prices for our common stock.

Similarly, if we issue debt securities, it could result in:

· default and foreclosure on our assets if our operating revenues after a Business Combination are insufficient to payour debt obligations;
·      acceleration of our obligations to repay the indebtedness even if we make all principal and interest payments
when due if we breach the covenants contained in any debt securities, such as covenants that require the satisfaction or
maintenance of certain financial ratios or reserves, without a waiver or renegotiation of such covenants;

· an obligation to immediately repay all principal and accrued interest, if any, upon demand to the extent any debtsecurities are payable on demand; and
·      our inability to obtain additional financing, if necessary, to the extent any debt securities contain covenants
restricting our ability to obtain additional financing while such security is outstanding, or to the extent our existing
leverage discourages other potential investors.

Through December 31, 2013, our efforts have been limited to organizational activities, activities relating to our IPO,
activities relating to identifying and evaluating prospective acquisition candidates, and activities relating to general
corporate matters. We have neither engaged in any operations nor generated any revenues other than interest income
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earned on the proceeds of our private placement and initial public offering. For the period ended December 31, 2013,
we earned approximately $15,956 in interest income, all of which was received into the Trust Account.
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As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately $15,956 of unrestricted interest earned on the funds held in the Trust
Account available to us to pay for franchise and income taxes. The following table shows the total funds held in the
Trust Account through December 31, 2013:

Net proceeds from our initial public offering and private placement $ 74,865,000
Payment of underwriters' compensation (2,070,000)
Total interest received to date 15,956
Less total interest disbursed to us for working capital through December 31, 2013 -
Total funds held in the Trust Account through December 31, 2013 $ 72,810,956

For the period ended December 31, 2013, we paid or incurred an aggregate of approximately $101,089 in expenses for
the following purposes:

· premiums associated with our directors and officers liability insurance;

· legal and accounting fees relating to our SEC reporting obligations and general corporate matters;

· miscellaneous expenses and;
· payment of premiums associated with our director’s and officer’s insurance. 

We believe that we will have sufficient funds to allow us to operate through December 31, 2014, assuming that a
Business Combination is not consummated during that time. Over this time period, we anticipate incurring expenses
for the following purposes:

· payment of premiums associated with our director’s and officer’s insurance;

· due diligence and investigation of prospective target businesses;

· legal and accounting fees relating to our SEC reporting obligations and general corporate matters;

· structuring and negotiating a Business Combination, including the making of a down payment or the payment ofexclusivity or similar fees and expenses; and

· other miscellaneous expenses.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Management does not believe that any recently issued, but not effective, accounting standards, if currently adopted,
would have a material effect on the Company’s financial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements,
and income and expenses during the periods reported. Actual results could materially differ from those estimates. We
have identified the following as our critical accounting policies:

Cash and cash equivalents
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The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less when purchased
to be cash equivalents.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

None.
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Item 7A.        Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About
Market Risk

To date, our efforts have been limited to organizational activities and activities relating to our initial public offering
and the identification of a target business. We have neither engaged in any operations nor generated any revenues. As
the proceeds from our initial public offering held in trust have been invested in short term investments, our only
market risk exposure relates to fluctuations in interest rates.

As of December 31, 2013, approximately $70,913,456 (excluding approximately $1,897,500 of deferred underwriting
discounts) was held in trust for the purposes of consummating a Business Combination. The proceeds held in trust
(including approximately $1,897,500 of deferred underwriting discounts) have been invested in an institutional money
market fund that invests principally in short-term securities issued or guaranteed by the United States. Given the
limited risk associated with such securities, we do not view our interest rate risk to be significant. As of December 31,
2013, the effective annualized interest rate payable on our investments was approximately 0.09%.

We have not engaged in any hedging activities since our inception on July 3, 2013. We do not expect to engage in any
hedging activities with respect to the market risk to which we are exposed.
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Item 8.    Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements required by this Item are set forth on the pages indicated at Item 15(a).

Item 9.    Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on
Accounting and Financial Disclosures

None.

Item 9A.   Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we, including our chief executive officer,
who also serves as our principal financial officer, conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934). Based upon this evaluation, our
chief executive officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective in timely alerting
management of any material information relating to us that is required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or
submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

This Annual Report does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial
reporting or an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm due to a transition period established by
rules of the Securities Exchange Commission for newly public companies.

Item 9B.    Other Information

None.

PART III
___________________________

Item 10.       Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate
Governance
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Directors and Executive Officers

Certain information, as of March 14, 2014, with respect to each of the current officers and directors is set forth below,
including their names, ages, a brief description of their recent business experience, including present occupations and
employment, certain directorships that each person holds, and the year in which each person became an officer or
director.

The business address of director listed below is 11921 Freedom Drive, Suite 550, Two Fountain Square, Reston,
Virginia 20190.

Year
Name Age Position Appointed/Elected
Damian Perl 45 Chairman of the Board 2013
Dale R. Davis 53 Chief Executive Officer, President and Director 2013
Craig Dawson 38 Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Director 2013
Frederic Cassis 34 Secretary and Director 2013
Gavin Long 38 Senior Vice President, Corporate Development 2013
Dean G. Popps 66 Director 2013
Hon. David C. Gompert 67 Director 2013
Dr. John Gannon 69 Director 2013
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Damian Perl, Chairman of the Board

Mr. Perl has been the Chairman of the Board of Directors since August 2013. He is the founder, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of Global Strategies Group (“GLOBAL”). In this capacity, Mr. Perl acquired SFA, Inc. and The
Analysis Corporation in 2007, rebranding them as Global Defense Technology & Systems, Inc. Mr. Perl became a
director of Global Defense Technology & Systems, Inc. in April 2009 and was instrumental in its initial public
offering in November 2009. While Mr. Perl was on its Board, Global Defense Technology & Systems, Inc. made two
further acquisitions prior to its sale in April 2011 to Ares Management LLC. Prior to 1998, Mr. Perl worked on a
consultancy basis in the risk management field for industry clients drawn from the energy and mining sectors. Mr.
Perl began his career with the British military, serving in both the Royal Marines Commandos and in Special Forces.
Mr. Perl is a member of the SAS Regimental Association, the Emerging Markets Private Equity Association and the
International Institute for Strategic Studies. He holds a degree in Physiology and Biomechanics. Mr. Perl brings to our
Board of Directors fifteen years of experience as an investor, operator and mentor in the defense and national security
sectors, as well as experience as a counter-terrorism and counter-insurgency advisor.

Dale R. Davis, Chief Executive Officer, President and Director

Mr. Davis has been our Chief Executive Officer, President and Director since July 2013. His principal role within
Global Strategies Group is Executive Vice President (Operations), and he is a member of the executive board. Mr.
Davis’ role within Global Strategies Group also includes oversight of Global Strategies Group corporate development.
Mr. Davis joined GLOBAL in February 2006 as the Managing Director of Global Integrated Security (Middle East).
In 2010, he was Executive Director, National Security Initiatives for GLOBAL before taking up his current post. Prior
to joining GLOBAL, Mr. Davis was Security and Brand Enforcement Manager, Middle East, for British American
Tobacco between 2004 and 2006. Between 2003 and 2005, he was Adjunct Professor at the Joint Special Warfare
University, and prior to that was Director of International Programs at the Virginia Military Institute. Mr. Davis
served between 1983 and 1995 as a U.S. Marine Officer with command and staff assignments across Asia and the
Middle East. Mr. Davis serves on the Advisory Board of the Council of American Colleges Abroad as well as the
Advisory Board of the Department of International Studies, Virginia Military Institute. He holds a B.S. in Electrical
Engineering from Virginia Military Institute and an M.A. in National Security Affairs from the Naval Postgraduate
School. Mr. Davis brings to our Board of Directors thirty years of experience in the defense and national security
sectors and ten years of commercial operations and profit and loss leadership experience.

Craig Dawson, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Director

Mr. Dawson has been our Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer since July 2013. In his principal role within Global
Strategies Group as Director of Finance, Mr. Dawson heads Global Strategies Group’s treasury and taxation functions
and serves as the technical financial reporting expert for GLOBAL under IFRS. He is also a Director of Global
Strategies Group. He joined Global Strategies Group in 2009, leading its financial reporting and treasury support team
in the initial public offering of Global Defense Technology & Systems, Inc. From 2004 to 2009, Mr. Dawson held a
number of managerial positions with Deloitte LLP working in the U.S., U.K. and South Africa. Mr. Dawson is a
member of the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants, and holds a B.Com in Accounting from the Nelson
Mandela Metropolitan University. Mr. Dawson brings to our Board of Directors well-developed business and
financial acumen.

Frederic Cassis, Secretary and Director

Mr. Cassis has been our Secretary and Director since July 2013. In his principal role within Global Strategies Group
as the Director of Legal and Compliance, he is responsible for overseeing GLOBAL’s corporate structure, legal affairs
and regulatory compliance, and he is a member of the executive board. He joined GLOBAL in July 2008, initially as
the lead commercial lawyer for GLOBAL’s Middle East operations headquartered in Dubai. Subsequently, Mr. Cassis
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assumed responsibility for regulatory compliance, corporate governance and host government engagement for the
region. Prior to joining GLOBAL, he practiced as a corporate and commercial litigation lawyer in Australia between
2004 and 2008. Mr. Cassis holds an LL.B. (Honors) and a B.Bus (Finance). He is admitted to practice law both in
Australia and in England and Wales. Mr. Cassis brings to our Board of Directors well-developed business and legal
acumen.
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Gavin Long, Senior Vice President, Corporate Development

Mr. Long has been our Senior Vice President, Corporate Development since October 2013. Since 2013, Mr. Long has
been Senior Vice President, Corporate Development, Global Strategies Group. Between 2010 and 2013, Mr. Long
was a Partner and Managing Director at Civitas Group, a strategy and management consultancy focused on the
national security sector. While at Civitas, Mr. Long helped formulate M&A strategies for many of the large defense
contractors. Between 2008 and 2010, Mr. Long was Director of Strategy, Development and Planning for BAE
Systems, working to establish the U.S. intelligence and security line of business. Prior to BAE Systems, Mr. Long was
a Vice President with Imperial Capital, a New York and Los Angeles-based, full service investment bank, between
2004 and 2008. He joined Imperial Capital via the acquisition of USBX Inc., a national security market-focused M&A
boutique. Mr. Long has participated in over forty transactions, with an aggregate value of over $4 billion. He began
his career with Arthur Andersen Corporate Finance, where he was a part of the Technology M&A practice between
1998 and 2001. Mr. Long holds a B.A. in Philosophy from Appalachian State University.

Dean G. Popps, Director

Mr. Popps has been our Director since August 2013. Between 2010 and 2013, Mr. Popps has been self-employed as a
senior advisor, consultant, corporate director and lawyer to the defense industry. Since 2013, he has served as a
Director of Global Integrated Security (USA) Inc., the U.S. security services business of Global Strategies Group. He
is Of Counsel to the law firm of Fluet Huber+Hoang, Co-Chairman of the Strategic Materials Advisory Council, and a
Board member of Eutelsat America Corporation. Between 2004 and 2010, Mr. Popps served as both the Acting
Assistant and Principal Deputy Secretary of the Army for Acquisition, Logistics and Technology and the Army
Acquisition Executive. In these roles, he acted as the Service Acquisition Executive alongside counterparts in the
Navy and the Air Force, the Science Advisor to the Secretary of the Army, and the Army’s Senior Research and
Development official, and had principal oversight of all Department of the Army matters related to logistics. Mr.
Popps led the execution of the Army’s acquisition function, including more than 600 Army and Joint Programs. In
2003, Mr. Popps was recruited from the private sector to join the Department of Defense’s Coalitional Provisional
Authority (“CPA”) in Baghdad, Iraq, where he served as Director of Industrial Conversion to the Coalition. He also
served on the CPA’s Iraq Transition Planning Team. Mr. Popps worked in the private sector as a CEO, senior
executive, attorney, and consultant for two decades prior to entering government service in 2003. Mr. Popps serves on
the Board of Directors of the Vietnam Assistance Project, a non-profit organization involved in UXO (unexploded
ordnance) awareness. Mr. Popps brings to our Board of Directors experience in senior roles in the defense and
national security sectors, significant business experience, and experience as an attorney and consultant to the private
sector.

The Hon. David C. Gompert, Director

Mr. Gompert has been our Director since August 2013. Currently, he is Distinguished Visiting Professor for National
Security Studies at the United States Naval Academy and Adjunct Senior Fellow of the RAND Corporation. Mr.
Gompert has served as a Director of Global Integrated Security (USA) Inc., the U.S. security services business of
Global Strategies Group, since 2011. Between 2009 and 2011, Mr. Gompert was with the Office of the Director of
National Security, initially as the Principal Deputy Director. In 2010, he served as Acting Director of National
Intelligence, providing strategic oversight of the U.S. Intelligence Community, and serving as President Barack
Obama’s chief intelligence advisor. Between 2004 and 2009, Mr. Gompert was a Senior Fellow at the RAND
Corporation and Distinguished Research Professor at the Center for Technology and National Security Policy,
National Defense University. From 2003 to 2004, he served as the Senior Advisor for National Security and Defense,
Coalition Provisional Authority, Iraq. He served as President of RAND Europe from 2000 to 2003, and was Vice
President of RAND and Director of the National Defense Research Institute from 1993 to 2000. Mr. Gompert was a
special assistant to former President George H. W. Bush, as well as the senior director for Europe and Eurasia on the
staff of the National Security Council from 1990 to 1993. At Unisys from 1989 to 1990, he was president of the
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systems management group and vice president for strategic planning and corporate development. From 1983 to 1989,
he was AT&T’s vice president of civil sales and programs, and its director of international market planning. Mr.
Gompert held several senior positions at the State Department from 1975 to 1983, including deputy to the under
secretary for political affairs, deputy director of the Bureau of Political-Military Affairs and special assistant to former
Secretary of State Henry Kissinger. He is Chairman of the Advisory Board of the Institute for the Study of Early
Childhood Education, a Trustee of Hopkins House Academy, and a member of the Advisory Board of the Naval
Academy Center for Cyber Security Studies. Mr. Gompert is also currently a Distinguished Adjunct Professor at
Virginia Commonwealth University and a Member of the American Academy of Diplomacy. He holds a B.S. in
Engineering from the U.S. Naval Academy and a M.P.A. from Princeton University’s Woodrow Wilson School of
Public and International Affairs. Mr. Gompert brings to our Board of Directors experience in senior roles in the
defense and national security sectors and private sector executive leadership experience.
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Dr. John Gannon, Director

Dr. Gannon has been our Director since August 2013. Currently, he is an adjunct professor at Georgetown University,
where he teaches a graduate course in the National Security Studies Program of the School of Foreign Service. He is
also the Vice President for Mission Technology at CENTRA Technology in Arlington, Virginia, and has served as a
Director of Global Integrated Security (USA) Inc., the U.S. security services business of Global Strategies Group,
since 2012. From 2005 to 2012, Dr. Gannon was a senior executive at BAE Systems, where he established the Global
Analysis business area and retired as the President of the company’s Intelligence and Security Sector. Previously, Dr.
Gannon served in senior analytic positions at the CIA and in the U.S. intelligence community, including as Deputy
Director for Intelligence at the CIA, Chairman of the National Intelligence Council and Assistant Director of Central
Intelligence for Analysis and Production. From 2002 to 2003, he was the team leader for intelligence in the White
House Transition Planning Office establishing the new Department of Homeland Security. Dr. Gannon also served as
the staff director of the House of Representatives Select Committee on Homeland Security. Dr. Gannon serves on the
Board of Directors of Voices of September 11th and the Center for National Policy. He is a founding member of the
Bipartisan Policy Center’s National Security Preparedness Group and is a member of the National Academies of
Science Division Committee on Engineering and Physical Sciences. Dr. Gannon holds a B.A. in Psychology from
Holy Cross College and an M.A. and a Ph.D. in History from Washington University in St. Louis. He is a former
naval reserve captain and Vietnam veteran. He has served as a member of the Falls Church City Council, Chairman of
the Falls Church Planning Commission, and a member of the Falls Church Economic Development Commission. Dr.
Gannon brings to our Board of Directors experience in senior roles in the defense and national security sectors and
private sector executive leadership experience.

Number and Terms of Office of Director

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws provide that our directors shall be elected by a
plurality of the votes cast at each annual meeting of stockholders and shall hold office until the next annual meeting
and until his or her successor shall be elected and shall qualify, subject, however, to prior death, resignation,
retirement, disqualification or removal from office.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, until such time as our Sponsor and any of its Affiliates (as defined in Rule 12b-2
under the Exchange Act) no longer beneficially own at least 15% of the total number of shares of our common stock
outstanding and except as otherwise required by applicable law (including that each of our directors exercise his or her
fiduciary duties and responsibilities to us) or the rules and regulations of any securities exchange or quotation system
on which our securities are listed or quoted for trading, our Sponsor shall have the right to nominate a number of
Sponsor representatives equal to the percentage of our outstanding common stock beneficially owned by our Sponsor
and any of its Affiliates (as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act), where such number of Sponsor
representatives shall be rounded up to the nearest whole number for any fraction that may result. Each Sponsor
representative serving on the Board of Directors may sit on any committee(s) of our board of directors of his or her
choice, provided that he or she meets the membership requirements specified by the SEC and the securities exchange
or quotation system on which our securities are listed or quoted for trading.

Our existing stockholders have not agreed to vote their shares in favor of the re-election of any member of our Board
of Directors.
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Audit Committee

We established an audit committee of the Board of Directors which consists of consist of Dr. Gannon, as Chairperson,
and Messrs. Dawson and Popps. Our Board of Directors has determined that each of Dr. Gannon and Mr. Popps is an
independent director. The audit committee’s duties, which are specified in our Audit Committee Charter, include, but
are not limited to:

⋅reviewing and discussing with management and the independent auditor the annual audited financial statements, andrecommending to the board whether the audited financial statements should be included in our Form 10-K;

⋅discussing with management and the independent auditor significant financial reporting issues and judgments madein connection with the preparation of our financial statements;
⋅discussing with management major risk assessment and risk management policies;
⋅monitoring the independence of the independent auditor;

⋅verifying the rotation of the lead (or coordinating) audit partner having primary responsibility for the audit and theaudit partner responsible for reviewing the audit as required by law;
⋅reviewing and approving all related-party transactions;
⋅inquiring and discussing with management our compliance with applicable laws and regulations;

⋅pre-approving all audit services and permitted non-audit services to be performed by our independent auditor,including the fees and terms of the services to be performed;
⋅appointing or replacing the independent auditor;

⋅
determining the compensation and oversight of the work of the independent auditor (including resolution of
disagreements between management and the independent auditor regarding financial reporting) for the purpose of
preparing or issuing an audit report or related work;

⋅
establishing procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by us regarding accounting,
internal accounting controls or reports which raise material issues regarding our financial statements or accounting
policies; and
⋅approving reimbursement of expenses incurred by our management team in identifying potential target businesses.

Financial Experts on Audit Committee

The audit committee will at all times be composed exclusively of “independent directors” who are “financially literate” as
defined under the NASDAQ listing rules. The NASDAQ listing rules define “financially literate” as being able to read
and understand fundamental financial statements, including a company’s balance sheet, income statement and cash
flow statement.

In addition, we must certify to NASDAQ that the committee has, and will continue to have, at least one member who
has past employment experience in finance or accounting, requisite professional certification in accounting, or other
comparable experience or background that results in the individual’s financial sophistication. The board of directors
has determined that each of Dr. Gannon and Mr. Dawson qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert,” as defined
under rules and regulations of the SEC.

Nominating Committee

We established a nominating committee of the board of directors, which consists of Mr. Perl, as Chairperson, Mr.
Gompert and Dr. Gannon. Because we intend to apply to list our common stock on NASDAQ in connection with our
initial public offering, we have twelve months from the date our common stock is first listed on NASDAQ to comply
with the nominating committee composition requirements of NASDAQ Rule 5605(e)(1)(B). The nominating
committee is responsible for overseeing the selection of persons to be nominated to serve on our board of directors.
The nominating committee considers persons identified by its members, management, stockholders, investment
bankers and others.
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Code of Ethics

We have adopted a code of ethics that applies to all of our directors, executive officers and employees that complies
with the rules and regulations of the NASDAQ. The code of ethics codifies the business and ethical principles that
govern all aspects of our business.
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Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Pursuant to Section 16(a) of the Securities Act of 1934, the Company’s directors and executive officers, and any
persons holding 10% or more of its common stock, are required to report their beneficial ownership and any changes
therein to the Commission and the Company. Specific due dates for those reports have been established, and the
Company is required to report herein any failure to file such reports by those due dates. Based on the Company’s
review of Forms 3, 4 and 5 filed by such persons, the Company believes that during the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2013 all Section 16(a) filing requirements applicable to such persons were met in a timely manner.

Conflicts of Interest

Potential investors should be aware of the following potential conflicts of interest:

· None of our officers and directors is required to commit their full time to our affairs and, accordingly, they may haveconflicts of interest in allocating their time among various business activities.

·

In the course of their other business activities, our officers and directors may become aware of investment and
business opportunities which may be appropriate for presentation to our company as well as the other entities with
which they are affiliated. Our officers and directors may have conflicts of interest in determining to which entity a
particular business opportunity should be presented.

· Our officers and directors may in the future become affiliated with entities, including other blank check companies,engaged in business activities similar to those intended to be conducted by us.

·
Unless we close our initial Business Combination, our officers, directors and Sponsor will not receive
reimbursement for any out-of-pocket expenses incurred by them to the extent that such expenses exceed the amount
of available proceeds held outside the Trust Account.

⋅

The Sponsor’s shares beneficially owned by our Sponsor will be released from escrow only if our initial Business
Combination is successfully completed. Additionally, our Sponsor will not receive liquidation distributions with
respect to any of its Sponsor’s shares or private placement shares. Furthermore, our Sponsor has agreed that the
private placement shares will not be sold or transferred by it until after we have completed our initial Business
Combination. For the foregoing reasons, our board may have a conflict of interest in determining whether a particular
target business is appropriate to effect our initial Business Combination with.

We cannot assure you that any of the above-mentioned conflicts will be resolved in our favor.

In general, officers and directors of a corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware are required to
present business opportunities to a corporation if:

· the corporation could financially undertake the opportunity;
· the opportunity is within the corporation’s line of business; and

· it would not be fair to the corporation and its stockholders for the opportunity not to be brought to the attention ofthe corporation.

Accordingly, as a result of multiple business affiliations, our officers and directors may have similar legal obligations
relating to presenting business opportunities meeting the above-listed criteria to multiple entities. In addition, conflicts
of interest may arise when our board evaluates a particular business opportunity with respect to the above-listed
criteria. The above mentioned conflicts may not be resolved in our favor. Furthermore, our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation provides that the doctrine of corporate opportunity will not apply with respect to any of our
officers or directors, or their respective affiliates in circumstances where the application of any such doctrine would
conflict with any fiduciary duties or contractual obligations they may have as of the date of our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Global Integrated Security (USA) Inc. has granted us a
“right of first refusal” with respect to any agreement to purchase or invest in any company or business in the U.S.
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defense and national security sectors with an acquisition cost of $40 million or greater.
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Members of our management team also have fiduciary obligations to Global Integrated Security (USA) Inc., the U.S.
security services business of Global Strategies Group and an affiliate of our Sponsor. In order to minimize potential
conflicts, or the appearance of conflicts, which may arise from these affiliations, Global Integrated Security (USA)
Inc. has granted us a “right of first refusal” with respect to any agreement to purchase or invest in any company or
business in the U.S. defense and national security sectors with an acquisition cost of $40 million or greater. Pursuant
to this right of first refusal, we will be entitled to pursue any such potential transaction opportunity in the U.S. defense
and national security sectors with an acquisition cost of $40 million or greater unless and until a majority of our
directors have determined for any reason that we will not pursue such opportunity. If a majority of our directors has
determined that we will not pursue such opportunity, we will release Global Integrated Security (USA) Inc. from this
right of first refusal so that it can explore such opportunity. This right of first refusal will expire upon the earlier of:
(1) our closing of an initial Business Combination and (2) 21 months from the date of our prospectus (October 24,
2013). Furthermore, we have agreed that any target company with respect to which Global Integrated Security (USA)
Inc. currently invests or has initiated any contacts or entered into any discussions, formal or informal, or negotiations
regarding such company’s acquisition prior to the completion of the IPO will not be a potential acquisition target for
us, unless Global Integrated Security (USA) Inc. declines to pursue an investment in such company.

The following table summarizes the other relevant pre-existing fiduciary or contractual obligations of our officers and
directors:

Name of
Affiliated Company

Name of
Individual(s)

Priority/Preference relative to
Global Defense & National Security Systems, Inc.

Global Strategies
Group and its
affiliates

Damian Perl, Dale R.
Davis, Craig Dawson,
Frederic Cassis, Gavin
Long

Messrs. Perl, Davis, Dawson, Cassis, and Long would be required to
present all business opportunities which are suitable for Global
Strategies Group and its affiliates to Global Strategies Group and its
affiliates prior to presenting them to us. Global Strategies Group is a
privately held defense and national security business.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, for acquisitions in the U.S. defense
and national security sectors in excess of $40 million, we will have a
right of first refusal from Global Integrated Security (USA) Inc.

Global Integrated
Security (USA) Inc.

Dr. John Gannon,
David Gompert, Dean
Popps

Dr. Gannon and Messrs. Gompert and Popps will be required to
present all business opportunities which are suitable for Global
Integrated Security (USA) Inc. to Global Integrated Security (USA)
Inc. prior to presenting them to us. Global Integrated Security
(USA) Inc. is the U.S. security services business of Global
Strategies Group.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, for acquisitions in the U.S. defense
and national security sectors in excess of $40 million, we will have a
right of first refusal from Global Integrated Security (USA) Inc.

CENTRA
Technology, Inc.

John Gannon Dr. Gannon may be required to present all business opportunities
which are suitable for CENTRA Technology, Inc. to CENTRA
Technology, Inc. prior to presenting them to us. CENTRA
Technology, Inc. is a company providing security, analytic,
technical, engineering, and management support to the government
and private sectors.

SDL plc John Gannon
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Dr. Gannon will be required to present all business opportunities
which are suitable for SDL plc to SDL plc prior to presenting them
to us. SDL plc is a machine language translation company.

Eutelsat America
Corporation

Dean Popps Mr. Popps will be required to present all business opportunities
which are suitable for Eutelsat America Corporation to Eutelsat
America Corporation prior to presenting them to us. Eutelsat
America Corporation is a provider of satellite communications.
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If we submit our initial Business Combination to our public stockholders for a vote, our Sponsor, as well as all of our
officers and directors, have agreed to vote any shares held by them in favor of our initial Business Combination. In
addition, our Sponsor has agreed to waive its rights to participate in any liquidation distribution with respect to the
Sponsor’s Shares and Private Placement Shares. If they purchase Public Shares in the open market, however, they
would be entitled to participate in any liquidation distribution in respect of such shares but have agreed not to convert
or sell such shares to us in connection with the closing of our initial Business Combination.

All ongoing and future transactions between us and any of our officers and directors or their respective affiliates will
be on terms believed by us to be no less favorable to us than are available from unaffiliated third parties. Such
transactions will require prior approval by our audit committee and a majority of our uninterested “independent”
directors, or the members of our board who do not have an interest in the transaction, in either case who had access, at
our expense, to our attorneys or independent legal counsel. We will not enter into any such transaction unless our
audit committee and a majority of our disinterested “independent” directors determine that the terms of such transaction
are no less favorable to us than those that would be available to us with respect to such a transaction from unaffiliated
third parties.

To further minimize conflicts of interest, we have agreed not to close our initial Business Combination with an entity
that is affiliated with our Sponsor or any of our officers or directors, including (1) an entity in which any of the
foregoing or their affiliates are currently officers or directors or (2) an entity in which any of the foregoing or their
affiliates are currently invested through an investment vehicle controlled by them (except an entity in which any of the
foregoing or their affiliates are currently passive investors and hold in the aggregate 1% or less of the outstanding
stock), unless we have obtained (1) an opinion from an independent investment banking firm which is a member of
FINRA that the Business Combination is fair to our unaffiliated stockholders from a financial point of view and (2)
the approval of a majority of our disinterested and independent directors (if we have any at that time). Furthermore, in
no event will our Sponsor, any members of our management team or their respective affiliates be paid any finder’s fee,
consulting fee or other similar compensation prior to, or for any services they render in order to effectuate, the closing
of our initial Business Combination (regardless of the type of transaction that it is) other than the $10,000 per month
administrative service fee, repayment of the loan from our Sponsor in the aggregate amount of $50,000 and
reimbursement of any out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with activities on our behalf, such as identifying
potential target businesses and performing due diligence on suitable Business Combinations.

Item 11.       Executive Compensation

No executive officer has received any cash compensation for services rendered to us. No compensation of any kind,
including finder’s fees, consulting fees or other similar compensation, will be paid to any of our officers, directors,
founders or any of their respective affiliates, prior to or in connection with a Business Combination. However, such
individuals and entities are being reimbursed for any out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with activities on
our behalf such as identifying potential target acquisitions and performing due diligence on suitable Business
Combinations. There is no limit on the amount of these out-of-pocket expenses and there will be no review of the
reasonableness of the expenses by anyone other than our audit committee, which includes persons who may seek
reimbursement, or a court of competent jurisdiction if such reimbursement is challenged. Because of the foregoing, we
will generally not have the benefit of independent directors examining the propriety of expenses incurred on our
behalf and subject to reimbursement.
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Item 12.     Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management and Related Stockholder Matters

We do not have any equity compensation plan.
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The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of our securities as of March 14, 2014
by:

· each person known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our outstanding shares of common stock;
· each of our officers and directors; and

· all our officers and directors as a group (four persons).

Unless otherwise indicated, we believe that all persons named in the table have sole voting and investment power with
respect to all shares of common stock beneficially owned by them.

Number of Percentage
Name Shares of Class(1) Relationship to Us
Global Defense & National Security Holdings LLC(2) 2,724,725 28.3 % Sponsor

Damian Perl(2) 2,724,725 28.3 % Chairman of the
Board

(1) Based on a total of 9,624,725 shares of the Company’s common stock issued and outstanding on March 14, 2014.

(2) Global Defense & National Security Holdings LLC, our Sponsor, is the record holder of all of these shares. Blue
Marlin Corporate Ltd is the sole member of Global Defense & National Security Holdings LLC. Mr. Davis, our
Chief Executive Officer, President and director is the sole manager of Global Defense & National Security
Holdings LLC but does not have voting or dispositive power over the shares of common stock held by Global
Defense & National Security Holdings LLC without the consent of Blue Marlin Corporate Ltd, the sole member
of Global Defense & National Security Holdings LLC. Mr. Perl, our Chairman of the Board, is the ultimate
beneficial owner of Global Defense & National Security Holdings LLC and Blue Marlin Corporate Ltd, and may
be considered to have beneficial ownership of Global Defense & National Security Holdings LLC’s interests in
us.

Item 13.       Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and
Director Independence

In order to finance transaction costs in connection with an intended initial Business Combination, our Sponsor,
officers, directors or their affiliates may, but are not obligated to, loan us funds as may be required. The notes would
either be paid upon closing of the initial Business Combination, without interest, or, at our Sponsor’s discretion, the
notes may be converted into shares of common stock at the higher of $10.00 per share and the 30-day trailing average
of the closing price per share. If we do not complete a Business Combination, we may use a portion of the working
capital held outside the Trust Account to repay such loaned amounts, but no proceeds from our Trust Account would
be used for such repayment. Any such loan would be evidenced by a promissory note.

As of December 31, 2013, our Sponsor has advanced to us a total of $80,105 which has been used for the payment of
operating expenses and costs associated with the Public Offering.

On July 19, 2013, the Company issued 2,003,225 shares of Common Stock to the Sponsor (the “Sponsor’s Shares”) for
an aggregate purchase price of $25,000.
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The Sponsor has agreed to waive its pro rata share of the aggregate amount then on deposit in the Trust Account (net
of taxes payable) with respect to the Sponsor’s Shares and Private Placement Shares (i) in connection with the closing
of a Business Combination, (ii) if we fail to close our initial Business Combination within 21 months of the date of the
Company’s prospectus (October 24, 2013)  (iii) in connection with an expired or unwithdrawn tender offer, and (iv)
upon our liquidation prior to the expiration of the 21 month period. However, if our Sponsor should acquire Public
Shares in or after the IPO, it will be entitled to a pro rata share of the aggregate amount then on deposit in the Trust
Account (net of taxes payable) with respect to such Public Shares if we fail to close a Business Combination within
the required time period.  If we submit our initial Business Combination to our public stockholders for a vote, our
Sponsor has agreed to vote its Sponsor’s Shares, Private Placement Shares and any Public Shares held in favor of our
initial Business Combination.
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All of the Sponsor’s Shares has been placed in escrow with American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as escrow
agent. Of the total Sponsor’s Shares, 50% of such shares will be released from escrow six months after the closing of
the Business Combination. The remaining 50% of the Sponsor’s Shares will be released from escrow one year after the
closing of the Business Combination.

The Sponsor will be entitled to registration rights pursuant to a registration rights agreement. The Sponsor is entitled
to demand registration rights and certain “piggy-back” registration rights with respect to its shares of Common Stock
commencing on the date such Common Stock is released from lockup. The Company will bear the expenses incurred
in connection with the filing of any such registration statements.

Commencing on the date that our securities are first listed on NASDAQ, we have agreed to pay our Sponsor a total of
$10,000 per month for office space, administrative services and secretarial support. This arrangement is being agreed
to by our Sponsor for our benefit and is not intended to provide our Sponsor compensation in lieu of salary or other
remuneration. We believe that such fees are at least as favorable as we could have obtained from an unaffiliated
person. Upon consummation of our initial Business Combination or our liquidation, we will cease paying these
monthly fees.

All ongoing and future transactions between us and any of our officers and directors and their respective affiliates,
including loans by our officers and directors, will be on terms believed by us to be no less favorable than are available
from unaffiliated third parties. Such transactions or loans, including any forgiveness of loans, will require prior
approval by a majority of our disinterested “independent” directors (to the extent we have any) or the members of our
board who do not have an interest in the transaction, in either case who had access, at our expense, to our attorneys or
independent legal counsel. We will not enter into any such transaction unless our disinterested “independent” directors
(or, if there are no “independent” directors, our disinterested directors) determine that the terms of such transaction are
no less favorable to us than those that would be available to us with respect to such a transaction from unaffiliated
third parties. We will not enter into a Business Combination or invest alongside any of our directors, officers, any
affiliate of ours or of any of our directors or officers or a portfolio company of any affiliate of our directors or officers.

Director Independence

Our Board of Directors has determined that Messrs. Popps and Gompert and Dr. Gannon are “independent directors” as
defined in Rule 10A-3 of the Exchange Act and the rules of the NASDAQ. In general, an “independent director” is a
person other than an officer or employee of ours or any other individual having a relationship, which, in the opinion of
our Board of Directors would interfere with the director’s exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the
responsibilities of a director. Our independent directors will have regularly scheduled meetings at which only
independent directors will be present.

        Item 14.    Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Fees for professional services provided by our independent registered public accounting firm since inception
include:

July 3, 2013
(inception) to
December 31, 2013

Audit Fees (1) $ 66,500
Audit-Related Fees (2) $ -
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Tax Fees (3) $ -
All Other Fees (4) $ -
Total Fees: $ 66,500
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(1) Audit Fees. Audit fees consist of fees billed for professional services rendered for the audit of our year-end
financial statements and services that are normally provided by our independent registered public accounting firm in
connection with statutory and regulatory filings.

(2) Audit-Related Fees. Audit-related services consist of fees billed for assurance and related services that are
reasonably related to performance of the audit or review of our year-end financial statements and are not reported
under “Audit Fees.” These services include attest services that are not required by statute or regulation and consultation
concerning financial accounting and reporting standards.

(3) Tax Fees. Tax fees consist of fees billed for professional services relating to tax compliance, tax planning, and tax
advice.

(4) All other fees. All other fees consist of fees billed for all other services.

Policy on Board Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Auditors

The audit committee is responsible for appointing, setting compensation, and overseeing the work of the independent
auditor. In recognition of this responsibility, the audit committee has established a policy to pre-approve all audit and
permissible non-audit services provided by the independent auditor.
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PART IV

 ___________________________

Item 15.     Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

(1) Financial Statements:

                The financial statements listed in the accompanying Index to the Financial Statements are filed or
incorporated by reference as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

INDEX TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Documents Page

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-1

Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2013 F-2

Statement of Operations for the period from July 3, 2013 (inception) to December 31, 2013 F-3

Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for the period from July 3, 2013 (inception) to December 31,
2013

F-4

Statement of Cash Flows for the period from July 3, 2013 (inception) to December 31, 2013 F-5

Notes to Financial Statements F-6

(2) Exhibits:

The exhibits listed in the accompanying Index to Exhibits are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the Financial
Statements or Notes thereto.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Global Defense & National Security Systems, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Global Defense & National Security Systems, Inc. (a
development stage company) (collectively, the “Company”) as of December 31, 2013 and the related statement of
operations, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the period from July 3, 2013 (inception) to December
31, 2013. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Global Defense & National Security Systems, Inc. (a development stage company) as of December 31, 2013 and
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the period from July 3, 2013 (inception) to December 31, 2013, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ Rothstein Kass

Roseland, New Jersey 
March 12, 2014

F-1
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GLOBAL DEFENSE & NATIONAL SECURITY SYSTEMS, INC.
(a Corporation in the Development Stage)

BALANCE SHEET
December 31, 2013

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash $ 827,541
Prepaid insurance 128,771
Total current assets 956,312
Cash and investments held in Trust Account 72,810,956
Total assets $ 73,767,268

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 44,937
Due to affiliate 80,105
Total current liabilities 125,042
Deferred underwriter’s fees 1,897,500
Total liabilities 2,022,542

Common stock subject to possible redemption: 6,326,513 shares (at redemption value)
    at December 31, 2013 66,744,725

Stockholders’ equity
Common stock, $.0001 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized;
3,298,212 shares issued and outstanding (excluding 6,326,513 shares subject to possible redemption) 329
Additional paid-in capital 4,999,672
Deficit accumulated during the development stage -
Total stockholders’ equity 5,000,001
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 73,767,268

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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GLOBAL DEFENSE & NATIONAL SECURITY SYSTEMS, INC.
(a Corporation in the Development Stage)

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
For the Period from July 3, 2013 (inception) to December 31, 2013

Revenue $ -
General and administrative expenses 101,089
Loss from operations (101,089)
Interest income 15,956

Net loss attributable to common stock not subject to possible redemption Section 4.08
    Information Supplied    A-16  
Section 4.09
    Board and Shareholder Determinations    A-17  
Section 4.10
    No Parent Stockholder Vote    A-17  
Section 4.11
    Financing Letters    A-17        
ARTICLE V CONDUCT OF BUSINESS PENDING THE MERGER
   A-17  
Section 5.01
    Conduct of Business by the Company Pending the Merger    A-17  
Section 5.02
    Conduct of Business by Parent and Merger Sub Pending the Merger    A-19        
ARTICLE VI ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS
   A-19  
Section 6.01
 Preparation of Proxy Statement; Company Shareholders� Meeting    A-19  

Section 6.02
    No Solicitation of Transactions    A-20  
Section 6.03
    Directors� and Officers� Indemnification    A-21  
Section 6.04
    Further Action; Reasonable Best Efforts    A-23  
Section 6.05
    Obligations of Parent and Merger Sub    A-24  
Section 6.06
    Public Announcements    A-24  
Section 6.07
    Transfer Taxes    A-24  
Section 6.08
    Resignations    A-24  
Section 6.09
    Employment and Benefit Arrangements    A-24        
ARTICLE VII CONDITIONS TO THE MERGER
   A-25  
Section 7.01
    Conditions to the Obligations of Each Party    A-25  
Section 7.02
    Conditions to the Obligations of Parent and Merger Sub    A-25  

Edgar Filing: Global Defense & National Security Systems, Inc. - Form 10-K

67



Section 7.03
    Conditions to the Obligations of the Company    A-26        
ARTICLE VIII TERMINATION, AMENDMENT AND WAIVER
   A-26  
Section 8.01
    Termination    A-26  
Section 8.02
    Effect of Termination    A-27  
Section 8.03
    Amendment    A-27  
Section 8.04
    Waiver    A-27  
Section 8.05
    Fees and Expenses    A-28        
ARTICLE IX GENERAL PROVISIONS
   A-28  
Section 9.01
    Nonsurvival of Representations and Warranties; Disclosure Schedule    A-28  
Section 9.02
    Notices    A-28  
Section 9.03
    Certain Definitions    A-29  
Section 9.04
    Severability    A-32  
Section 9.05
    Disclaimer of Other Representations and Warranties    A-33  
Section 9.06
    Entire Agreement; Assignment    A-33  
Section 9.07
    Parties in Interest    A-33  
Section 9.08
    Remedies; Specific Performance    A-33  
Section 9.09
    Governing Law    A-33  
Section 9.10
    Headings    A-33  
Section 9.11
    Counterparts    A-33 
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this �Agreement�), dated as of September 28, 2009 among Massey
Services, Inc., a Florida corporation (�Parent�), BUYER ACQUISITION COMPANY, INC., a Florida corporation and a
wholly owned subsidiary of Parent (�Merger Sub�), and SUNAIR SERVICES CORPORATION, a Florida corporation
(the �Company�). In addition to terms defined in the Preamble, Recitals and the Sections of this Agreement, certain
terms are defined in Section 9.03 of this Agreement.

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the respective Boards of Directors of each of the Company, Parent and Merger Sub deem it fair to and in
the best interests of their respective shareholders to consummate the merger (the �Merger�), on the terms and subject to
the conditions set forth in this Agreement, of Merger Sub with and into the Company in which the Company would
become a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent, and such Boards of Directors have approved and adopted this
Agreement and declared its advisability (and, in the case of the Board of Directors of the Company (the �Company
Board�), shall or has recommended that this Agreement be adopted by the Company�s shareholders);

WHEREAS, upon consummation of the Merger, each issued and outstanding share of Common Stock, $.10 par value
per share, of the Company, will be converted into the right to receive a portion of the Closing Payment Amount (as
hereinafter defined), upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained,
and intending to be legally bound hereby, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

THE MERGER

Section 1.01  The Merger.
  Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, and in accordance with the Florida Business
Corporation Act (the �FBCA�), at the Effective Time, Merger Sub shall be merged with and into the Company. At the
Effective Time, the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub shall cease and the Company shall continue as the
surviving corporation of the Merger (the �Surviving Corporation�).

Section 1.02  Closing.
  Unless this Agreement has been terminated in accordance with Section 8.01, the closing of the Merger (the �Closing�)
will take place at 10:00 a.m., local time, on a date to be specified by the parties, which date shall be no later than the
fifth business day after the date on which each of the conditions set forth in Article VII have been satisfied, or waived
by the party entitled to the benefit of such conditions, (other than those conditions that by their terms are to be
satisfied or waived at the Closing), at the offices of Shuffield, Lowman & Wilson, P.A., 1000 Legion Place,
Suite 1700, Orlando, FL 32801, unless another time, date and/or place is agreed to in writing by Parent and the
Company. The date and time upon which the Closing occurs is referred to herein as the �Closing Date�. 

Section 1.03  Effective Time.
  Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, as soon as practicable after the satisfaction
or waiver by the party entitled to the benefit of the conditions set forth in Article VII, the parties shall file articles of
merger (the �Articles of Merger�) with the Secretary of State of the State of Florida in such form as is required by, and
executed in accordance with, the relevant provisions of the FBCA. The Merger shall become effective at such date and
time as the Articles of Merger are duly filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Florida, or at such subsequent
date and time as Parent and the Company shall agree and specify in the Articles of Merger. The date and time at which
the Merger becomes effective is referred to in this Agreement as the �Effective Time�. 
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Section 1.04  Effect of the Merger.
  At the Effective Time, the effect of the Merger shall be as provided in the applicable provisions of the FBCA.
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Section 1.05  Articles of Incorporation; Bylaws.

(a) At the Effective Time, the Articles of Incorporation of the Company, as in effect immediately prior to the Effective
Time, shall be amended to read in its entirety as set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto and, as so amended, shall be the
Articles of Incorporation of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with the provisions
thereof and as provided by Law.

(b) At the Effective Time, the Bylaws of the Company, as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall be
amended and restated to read in its entirety as set forth in Exhibit B attached hereto and, as so amended and restated,
shall be the Bylaws of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with the provisions thereof
and as provided by Law.

Section 1.06  Directors and Officers.
  The directors of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the initial directors of the Surviving
Corporation, each to hold office in accordance with the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Surviving
Corporation, and the officers of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the initial officers of the
Surviving Corporation, in each case until their respective successors are duly elected or appointed and qualified or
until the earlier of their death, resignation or removal.

ARTICLE II

CONVERSION OF SECURITIES; EXCHANGE OF CERTIFICATES

Section 2.01  Conversion of Securities.
  At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of Merger Sub, Company or
shareholders thereof, the following shall occur with respect to the securities of the Company:

(a) Conversion of Common Stock. Each share of Common Stock, par value $.10 per share, of the Company (�Common
Stock�), issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than any shares of Common Stock to be
cancelled pursuant to Section 2.01(b)) shall be converted into and become the right to receive in cash $2.75 per share
of Common Stock without interest (the �Per Share Consideration�), which shall be payable in accordance with the
procedures set forth in Section 2.04 hereof; (cumulatively the Closing Payment Amount plus any amounts paid on
account of Company Stock Options pursuant to Section 2.06 hereof, is hereinafter referred to as the �Merger
Consideration�). The Merger Consideration is based on there being 13,093,588 shares outstanding, plus 303,250
Company Stock Options exercisable and payable pursuant to Section 2.06 hereof, at the Effective Time. All such
shares of Common Stock so converted shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be cancelled, and each
certificate previously representing any such shares shall thereafter represent the right to receive the Per Share
Consideration multiplied by the number of shares represented by each such certificate.

(b) Cancellation of Treasury Stock and Parent-Owned Stock. Each share of Common Stock held in the treasury of the
Company and each share of Common Stock owned directly or indirectly by Merger Sub, Parent or any subsidiary or
affiliated entity thereof, immediately prior to the Effective Time shall automatically be canceled without any
conversion thereof and no payment or consideration shall be delivered in exchange therefor.

(c) Capital Stock of Merger Sub. Each share of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of Merger Sub issued and
outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into and become one validly issued, fully paid
and nonassessable share of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Surviving Corporation.
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Section 2.02  Appointment of Paying Agent.
  Prior to the Closing Date, Parent shall (i) appoint a bank or trust company reasonably acceptable to the Company to
act as paying agent in the Merger (the �Paying Agent�), and (ii) enter into a paying agent agreement, in form and
substance reasonably acceptable to the Company and the Parent, with such Paying Agent for the payment of the
Merger Consideration in accordance with this Article II.
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Section 2.03  Exchange Fund.

(a) On the Closing Date and at or before the Closing, Parent shall deposit cash in an amount sufficient to pay the
Merger Consideration (such cash referred to as the �Exchange Fund�), for the benefit of the holders of shares of
Common Stock. The Exchange Fund shall not be used for any other purposes. The Exchange Fund shall be invested as
directed by Parent but only in a Permitted Investment.

Section 2.04  Exchange of Certificates.

(a) Exchange Procedures. As promptly as practicable after the Effective Time (but in any event within three
(3) business days), Parent shall cause the Paying Agent to mail to each Person who was, at the Effective Time, a
holder of record of shares of Common Stock or Company Stock Options entitled to receive the Merger Consideration
pursuant to Section 2.01(a): (i) a letter of transmittal (which shall be in customary form and shall specify that delivery
shall be effected, and risk of loss and title to the certificates evidencing such shares (the �Certificates�) shall pass, only
upon proper delivery of the Certificates to the Paying Agent) and (ii) instructions for use in effecting the surrender of
the Certificates in exchange for the Merger Consideration. Upon surrender to the Paying Agent of a Certificate for
cancellation, together with such letter of transmittal, duly completed and validly executed in accordance with the
instructions thereto, and such other documents as may be required pursuant to such instructions, the holder of such
Certificate shall be entitled to receive in exchange therefor the amount of cash which such holder has the right to
receive in respect of the shares formerly represented by such Certificate pursuant to Section 2.01(a) and the Certificate
so surrendered shall forthwith be canceled. As soon as reasonably practicable after receipt of the required
documentation from a holder, the Paying Agent shall make payment to such holder by mailing certified or bank
checks payable to such holder in next day funds; provided, however, if and to the extent that a holder is entitled to
receive an amount in excess of $500,000, such holder may, at its option, deliver to the Paying Agent at or after
Closing the documentation required herein together with wire transfer instructions, and upon the receipt of the same
by the Paying Agent at or after Closing, the Paying Agent shall make payment to such holder by wire transfer of same
day funds in accordance with such instructions.

In the event of a transfer of ownership of shares of Common Stock that is not registered in the transfer records of the
Company that is made prior to the Effective Time, payment of the Merger Consideration may be made to a Person
other than the Person in whose name the Certificate so surrendered is registered if the Certificate representing such
shares shall be properly endorsed or otherwise be in proper form for transfer and the Person requesting such payment
shall pay any transfer or other Taxes required by reason of the payment of the Merger Consideration to a Person other
than the registered holder of such Certificate or establish to the reasonable satisfaction of Parent that such Tax has
been paid or is not applicable. Until surrendered as contemplated by this Section 2.04, each Certificate shall be
deemed at all times after the Effective Time to represent only the right to receive upon such surrender the Merger
Consideration to which the holder of such Certificate is entitled pursuant to this Article II. No interest shall be paid or
will accrue on any cash payable to holders of Certificates pursuant to the provisions of this Article II.

(b) No Further Rights. From and after the Effective Time, holders of Certificates shall cease to have any rights as
shareholders of the Company, except as provided herein or by Law.

(c) Termination of Exchange Fund. Any portion of the Exchange Fund that remains undistributed to the former
holders of the Company Common Stock (�Former Holders�) for one year after the Effective Time shall be delivered to
Parent, upon demand, and any such holders who have not theretofore complied with this Section 2.04 shall thereafter
look only to Parent for, and Parent shall remain liable for, payment of such Former Holder�s claim for the Merger
Consideration without interest. Any portion of the Exchange Fund remaining unclaimed by the Former Holders as of a
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Governmental Authority shall, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, become the property of Parent free and clear
of any claims or interest of any Person previously entitled thereto.
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(d) No Liability. None of the Paying Agent, Parent, Merger Sub or the Surviving Corporation shall be liable to any
holder of shares of Common Stock for any cash (including any dividends or distributions with respect to such shares)
delivered to a public official pursuant to any abandoned property, escheat or similar Law.

(e) Withholding Rights. Each of the Paying Agent, the Surviving Corporation and Parent shall be entitled to deduct
and withhold from the consideration otherwise payable pursuant to this Agreement to any holder of shares of
Common Stock such amounts as it is required to deduct and withhold with respect to such payment under all
applicable Tax Laws. To the extent that amounts are so withheld by the Paying Agent, the Surviving Corporation or
Parent, as the case may be, such withheld amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been
paid to the holder of the shares of Common Stock in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made by
the Paying Agent, the Surviving Corporation or Parent, as the case may be.

(f) Lost Certificates. If any Certificate for shares of Commons Stock shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon
(i) the making of an affidavit of that fact by the Person claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed, and
(ii) if required by the Surviving Corporation or Paying Agent, (A) in the event such Person is a holder of over
150 shares of Common Stock, the posting by such Person of a bond, in such reasonable amount as the Surviving
Corporation may reasonably direct, or (B) in the event such Person is a holder of 150 or fewer shares of Common
Stock, reasonable personal assurances from such Person, in each case as indemnity against any claim that may be
made against the Surviving Corporation with respect to such Certificate, then, as the case may be, (x) the Paying
Agent shall pay in respect of such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate the Merger Consideration to which the holder
thereof is entitled pursuant to Section 2.01(a).

Section 2.05  Stock Transfer Books.
  At the Effective Time, the stock transfer books of the Company shall be closed and there shall be no further
registration of transfers of shares thereafter on the records of the Company. From and after the Effective Time, the
holders of Certificates representing shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time
shall cease to have any rights with respect to such shares. On or after the Effective Time, any Certificates presented to
the Paying Agent or Parent for any reason shall be canceled against delivery of the Merger Consideration to which the
holders thereof are entitled pursuant to Section 2.01(a).

Section 2.06  Company Stock Options and Company Warrants.

(a) Between the date of this Agreement and the Closing Date, the Company shall take all necessary action (which
action shall be effective as of the Effective Time), including the adoption of Company Board resolutions, if necessary,
to (i) terminate the Company�s Stock Option Plan, and (ii) cancel, as of the Effective Time, each option to purchase
shares of Common Stock granted under such Stock Option Plan or otherwise (each, a �Company Stock Option�) that is
outstanding and unexercised immediately prior to the Effective Time (in each case, without the creation of additional
liability to the Company or any Subsidiaries but subject to the terms of this Agreement, including but not limited to
Section 2.06(c) hereof).

(b) As of the Effective Time, the obligations of the Company with respect to each outstanding warrant to purchase
shares of Common Stock (each, a �Company Warrant�) that is outstanding and unexercised immediately prior to the
Effective Time shall be assumed by the Surviving Corporation.

(c) Each holder of a Company Stock Option that is outstanding and unexercised prior to the Effective Time that has an
exercise price per share of Common Stock that is less than the Per Share Consideration shall (subject to the provisions
of this Section 2.06) be paid by the Paying Agent, in exchange for the cancellation of such Company Stock Option, an
amount in cash (subject to any applicable withholding Taxes) equal to the product of (i) the difference between the Per
Share Consideration and the applicable exercise price per share of such Company Stock Option and (ii) the aggregate
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prior to a change of control and the cash payment for such vested Company Stock Options (if applicable) will be
determined based on the formula provided in the previous sentence. The Paying Agent shall make payment to the
holders of Company Stock Options within five (5) days following the Closing Date by mailing certified or bank
checks payable to such holders in next day funds.

Section 2.07  Deposit.
  On the date hereof, Merger Sub shall deliver cash of Four Million Dollars ($4,000,000) (the �Deposit�) to Akerman
Senterfitt, as escrow agent (the �Escrow Agent�) to be held pursuant to that certain Escrow Agreement attached hereto
as Exhibit C. The Deposit shall be retained by Company after the Termination Date unless this Agreement is
terminated pursuant to Sections 8.01(a), 8.01(b) (unless Parent failed to fulfill any obligation under this Agreement
which was the cause of, or resulted in the failure of the Effective Time to occur on or before such date), 8.01(c),
8.01(d), 8.01(f) or 8.01(g) in which case the Deposit shall be returned to Merger Sub within five (5) calendar days of
the Termination Date. In the absence of a termination of this Agreement, on the Closing Date, the Escrow Agent shall
apply the Deposit to the Company Expenses to be paid by Parent pursuant to Section 8.05(a) and transfer any
remaining amount of the Deposit to the Exchange Fund.

ARTICLE III

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

Except as set forth in the disclosure schedule delivered by the Company to Parent and Merger Sub concurrently with
the execution and delivery of this Agreement (the �Company Disclosure Schedule�), which includes, inter alia,
exceptions to the representations and warranties made by Company to Parent and Merger Sub, the Company hereby
represents and warrants to Parent and Merger Sub as follows (a disclosure in any section of the Company Disclosure
Schedule which clearly describes the information being disclosed and specifically references another Company
Disclosure Schedule, shall constitute a disclosure in such other referenced Company Disclosure Schedule):

Section 3.01  Organization and Qualification; Subsidiaries.

(a) The Company and each Subsidiary of the Company is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good
standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation and has the requisite corporate or other power and
authority and all necessary governmental approvals to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business
as it is now being conducted. The Company and each Subsidiary is duly qualified or licensed as a foreign corporation
to do business, and is in good standing, in each jurisdiction where the character of the properties owned, leased or
operated by it or the nature of its business makes such qualification or licensing necessary, except for such failures to
be so qualified or licensed and in good standing that would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material
Adverse Effect.

(b) A true and complete list of all Subsidiaries, together with the jurisdiction of incorporation of each Subsidiary and
the percentage of the outstanding capital stock or other equity interests of each Subsidiary owned by the Company,
each other Subsidiary and any other Person, is set forth in Section 3.01(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule.

(c) Section 3.01(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists any and all persons of which the Company directly or
indirectly owns an equity or similar interest, or an interest convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for an
equity or similar interest, of less than 50% of such Person (collectively, the �Investments�). The Company or a
Subsidiary, as the case may be, owns all Investments free and clear of all Liens, and there are no outstanding
contractual obligations of the Company or any Subsidiary permitting the repurchase, redemption or other acquisition
of any of its interest in the Investments or to provide funds to, or make any investment (in the form of a loan, capital
contribution or otherwise) in, or provide any guarantee with respect to, any Investment.
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  The Company has made available to Parent a complete and correct copy of the articles of incorporation and the
bylaws each as amended to date, of the
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Company and each Subsidiary. Such articles of incorporation and bylaws are in full force and effect and no other
organizational documents are applicable or binding upon the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. Neither the
Company nor (to the knowledge of the Company as to any period prior to acquisition of such Subsidiary by the
Company) any Subsidiary is, nor has either the Company or any Subsidiary been, in violation of any provision of its
articles of incorporation or bylaws or similar organizational documents in any material respect. The Company has
made available to Parent complete and correct copies of the minutes of all meetings and all written consents of the
Company Board (and each committee thereof) and of the shareholders of the Company, in each case since May 1,
2005 and prior to September 1, 2009.

Section 3.03  Capitalization.

(a) As of the date of this Agreement, the authorized capital stock of the Company consists of (i) 100,000,000 shares of
Common Stock, of which 13,093,588 were issued and outstanding as of July 31, 2009, and (ii) 8,000,000 shares of
preferred stock, of which no shares were issued and outstanding.

(b) Section 3.03(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true, complete and correct list of Company Stock
Options and Company Warrants, including the name of the Person to whom such Company Stock Options and
Company Warrants have been granted, the number of shares subject to each Company Stock Option and Company
Warrants and the per share exercise price for each Company Stock Option and Company Warrants. Except for the
Company Stock Options and Company Warrants, as of the date of this Agreement, there are not any existing options,
warrants, calls, subscriptions, convertible securities, or other rights, agreements or commitments which obligate the
Company or any Company Subsidiary to issue, transfer or sell any shares of capital stock of the Company. As of the
date of this Agreement there are 303,250 Company Stock Options exercisable and payable pursuant to Section 2.06
hereof, at the Effective Time.

(c) The Company does not have a �poison pill� or similar shareholder rights plan. Except as described in this Agreement
and in the Company Disclosure Schedule, there are no (A) options, warrants or other rights, agreements, arrangements
or commitments of any character relating to the issued or unissued capital stock of the Company or any Subsidiary or
obligating the Company or any Subsidiary to issue or sell any shares of capital stock of, or other equity interests in,
the Company or any Subsidiary, (B) voting securities of the Company or securities convertible, exchangeable or
exercisable for shares of capital stock or voting securities of the Company, or (C) equity equivalents, interests in the
ownership or earnings of the Company or any Subsidiary or rights with respect to the foregoing. All shares of
Common Stock reserved for issuance as aforesaid, upon issuance on the terms and conditions specified in the
instruments pursuant to which they are issuable, will be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable
and free of preemptive (or similar) rights. There are no outstanding contractual obligations of the Company or any
Subsidiary to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of Common Stock or any capital stock of any
Subsidiary or to provide funds to or make any investment (in the form of a loan, capital contribution or otherwise) in
any Subsidiary or any other Person. There have not been any stock reclassifications, combinations, splits or
subdivides. None of the Company or any Subsidiary is a party to any shareholders� agreement, voting trust agreement
or registration rights agreement relating to any equity securities of the Company or any Subsidiary or any other
Contract relating to disposition, voting or dividends with respect to any equity securities of the Company or of any
Subsidiary.

(d) Each outstanding share of capital stock of each Subsidiary is duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and
nonassessable and was issued free of preemptive (or similar) rights, was issued in accordance with all applicable laws,
and each such share or interest is owned by the Company or another Subsidiary free and clear of all options, rights of
first refusal, agreements, limitations on the Company�s or any Subsidiary�s voting, dividend or transfer rights, charges
and other encumbrances or Liens of any nature whatsoever.
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corporate proceedings on the part of the Company are necessary to authorize this Agreement or to consummate the
Transactions, other than with respect to the waiver of any rights triggered by this Agreement or the Transactions (as
identified on Section 3.04 of the Company Disclosure Schedule), and the approval of this Agreement and/or the
Transactions by the holders of shares of Common Stock in accordance with the FBCA, the Company�s Articles of
Incorporation and Bylaws, (collectively, �Shareholder Approval�). This Agreement has been duly and validly executed
and delivered by the Company and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by Parent and Merger
Sub, constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance
with its terms, subject to the effect of any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency (including all laws relating to fraudulent
transfers), reorganization, moratorium or similar Laws affecting creditors� rights generally and subject to the effect of
general principles of equity.

Section 3.05  No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents.
  The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company do not, and the performance of this Agreement by the
Company and the consummation by the Company of the Transactions will not, (i) conflict with or violate the Articles
of Incorporation or Bylaws (or similar organizational documents) of the Company or any Subsidiary, (ii) subject to
(x) obtaining Shareholder Approval, (y) obtaining the consents, approvals, authorizations and permits of, and making
filings with or notifications to, any national, provincial, federal, state or local government, regulatory or administrative
authority, or any court, tribunal, or judicial or arbitral body (a �Governmental Authority�), pursuant to the applicable
requirements, if any, of the, the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and the rules
and regulations thereunder (the �HSR Act�), and the filing and recordation of appropriate merger documents as required
by the FBCA (all as identified on Section 3.05(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule), and (z) giving the notices and
obtaining the consents, approvals, authorizations or permits described in Section 3.05(b) of the Company Disclosure
Schedule, conflict with or violate any statute, law, ordinance, regulation, rule, code, executive order, judgment, decree
or other order (�Law�) applicable to the Company or any Subsidiary or by which any property or asset of the Company
or any Subsidiary is bound or affected, or (iii) subject to obtaining Shareholder Approval, result in any breach or
violation of or constitute a default (or an event which, with notice or lapse of time or both, would become a default)
under, require consent or result in a material loss of a material benefit under, give rise to a right or obligation to
purchase or sell assets or securities under, give to others any right of termination, amendment, acceleration or
cancellation of, or result in the creation of a Lien on any property or asset of the Company or any Subsidiary pursuant
to, any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, contract (written or oral), agreement, lease, license, permit, franchise or other
binding commitment, instrument or obligation (each, a �Contract�) to which the Company or any Subsidiary is a party
or by which the Company or a Subsidiary or any property or asset of the Company or any Subsidiary is bound or
affected, except, with respect to clauses (ii) and (iii), for any such conflicts, violations, breaches, defaults or other
occurrences which would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.06  Permits; Compliance.
  The Company and each Subsidiary is in possession of all material franchises, grants, authorizations, licenses,
permits, easements, variances, exceptions, consents, certificates, approvals and orders of any Governmental Authority
necessary for each such entity to own, lease and operate its material properties or to carry on its business substantially
as it is now being conducted (the �Company Permits�), all of which is disclosed on Company Disclosure Schedule 3.06
and no suspension or cancellation of any of the Company Permits is pending or, to the knowledge of the Company,
threatened. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is in breach of or operating in violation of : (a) any Law
applicable to such entity or by which any property or asset of such entity is bound or affected, and (b) any Company
Permit to which such entity is a party or by which such entity or any such property or asset of such entity is bound,
except in any case for any such violations or breaches which would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect. 

Section 3.07  Financial Statements; Undisclosed Liabilities.
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and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder (the �Securities Laws�). As of their respective dates, the Company
SEC Reports (a) complied as to form in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Securities Laws
and (b) did not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated
therein or necessary to make the statements made therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were
made, not misleading.

(b) Financial Statements. The Company has previously delivered to Parent or attached to Section 3.07(b) of the
Company Disclosure Schedule, the following financial statements (collectively the �Financial Statements�): (i) the
Company�s consolidated audited balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in
stockholders� equity and comprehensive (loss) income and cash flows as of and for the stated years ended
September 30, 2008, 2007, and 2006, and (ii) the Company�s consolidated unaudited balance sheet and related
consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders� equity and comprehensive (loss) income and cash
flows as of and for the interim periods beginning October 1, 2008 and ended June 30, 2009 (collectively, the �Most
Recent Financial Statements�) (the month ended June 30, 2009 is hereinafter referred to as the �Most Recent Fiscal
Month End�). The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles (�GAAP�), applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods involved (except to the extent required by
changes in GAAP or as may be indicated in the notes thereto, if any) (hereinafter, �Consistently Applied�) and present
fairly in all material respects the consolidated financial position of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the
respective dates thereof and the consolidated results of operations for the periods indicated; provided, that, the Most
Recent Financial Statements are subject to normal year-end audit adjustments (which are not material on a
consolidated basis) and omit footnotes and other presentation items which are required by GAAP. The Financial
Statements reflect all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the financial information contained therein.

(c) Undisclosed Liabilities. Except as set forth in Section 3.07(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, the Company
does not have any material liabilities, whether accrued, absolute, contingent or otherwise, of the type required by
GAAP to be reflected or reserved against on the balance sheets, except (i) to the extent reflected, reserved or taken
into account in the consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of June 30, 2009, including all
notes thereto, if any (the �Most Recent Balance Sheet�) and not heretofore paid or discharged, (ii) liabilities incurred in
the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice since the date of the Most Recent Balance Sheet (none of
which relates to breach of contract, breach of warranty, tort, infringement or violation of law, or which arose out of
any action, suit, claim, governmental investigation or arbitration proceeding and (iii) normal accruals,
reclassifications, and audit adjustments which would be reflected on an audited financial statement and which would
not be material on a consolidated basis, and (iv) liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with
past practice prior to the date of the Most Recent Balance Sheet which, in accordance with GAAP Consistently
Applied, were not recorded thereon. There are no accrued and unpaid dividends or distributions with respect to the
Company Common Stock.

Section 3.08  Absence of Certain Changes or Events.
  Since September 30, 2008, there has not been any Company Material Adverse Effect except as identified on
Section 3.08 of the Company Disclosure Schedule. Except as identified on Section 3.08 of the Company Disclosure
Schedule, since September 30, 2008, and except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement, the Company and the
Subsidiaries have conducted their businesses only in the ordinary course of business and in a manner consistent with
past practice.

Section 3.09  Absence of Litigation.
  Except as set forth on Section 3.09 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, there is no litigation, suit, claim, action,
proceeding, hearing, petition, grievance, complaint or investigation (an �Action�) pending or, to the knowledge of the
Company, threatened against the Company or any Subsidiary, or any property or asset of the Company or any
Subsidiary, before any Governmental Authority or arbitrator that would reasonably be expected to have a Company
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and any current or former director or officer exists that provides for indemnification. Neither the Company nor any
Subsidiary nor any property or asset of the Company or any Subsidiary is subject to any continuing order of, consent
decree, settlement agreement or other similar written agreement with, or, to the knowledge of the Company,
continuing investigation by, any Governmental Authority, or any order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree,
determination or award of any Governmental Authority. Section 3.09 of the Company Disclosure Schedule also lists
any Actions to which the Company or Subsidiary is the plaintiff or initiating party.

Section 3.10  Employees; Employee Benefit Plans.

(a) Employees. Section 3.10(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth the name and current rate of
compensation of the employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries (�Employees�) as of August 15, 2009 as well as
sets forth if each of the Employees is subject to an employment agreement, non-competition agreement and/or
non-solicitation agreements in favor of the Company or Subsidiaries. There are no accrued and unpaid vacation and
sick pay for any Employees except for the accruals set forth on Section 3.10(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule.
The Company has made available to the Parent a copy of each employment, consulting or independent contractor
agreement, confidentiality/assignment of inventions agreement and/or non-competition agreement entered into with an
employee or service provider of the Company and Subsidiaries. Except as set forth on Section 3.09 of the Company
Disclosure Schedule, to the Knowledge of the Company, no employee of the Company or any Subsidiary is in
violation of any term of any patent disclosure agreement, non-competition agreement or any restrictive covenant (i) to
the Company or any Subsidiary, or (ii) to a former employer relating to the right of any such employee to be
employed because of the nature of the business conducted by the Company or the Subsidiaries or the use of trade
secrets or proprietary information of others. The Company is not a party to or bound by any collective bargaining
agreement or any other agreement with a labor union, and, to the Company�s knowledge, there has been no effort by
any labor union during the 36 months prior to the date hereof to organize any employees of the Company into one or
more collective bargaining units. There is no pending or, to the Company�s knowledge, threatened labor dispute, strike
or work stoppage which affects or which may affect the business of the Company or which may interfere with its
continued operations. Neither the Company nor any agent, representative or employee thereof has within the last
36 months committed any unfair labor practice as defined in the National Labor Relations Act, as amended, and there
is no pending or, to the Company�s knowledge, threatened charge or complaint against the Company by or with the
National Labor Relations Board or any representative thereof. There has been no strike, walkout or work stoppage or
threat thereof involving any of the employees of the Company during the 36 months prior to the date hereof. The
Company has complied in all material respects with applicable Laws, rules and regulations relating to employment
(including all employee verification requirements under immigration laws, civil rights and equal employment
opportunities, including but not limited to, the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Family
Medical Leave Act, COBRA and the Americans with Disabilities Act, as amended. To the Company�s Knowledge,
each service provider classified by the Company or a Subsidiary as an independent contractor satisfies and has
satisfied the requirements of any applicable law to be so classified, and the Company and Subsidiaries have fully and
accurately reported such independent contractors� compensation on IRS Forms 1099 when required to do so.

(b) Section 3.10(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists all material employee benefit plans (as defined in
Section 3(3) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (�ERISA�)) and all bonus, stock
option, stock purchase, restricted stock, incentive, deferred compensation, retiree medical or life insurance,
supplemental retirement, severance or other benefit plans, programs or arrangements, and all employment,
termination, severance or other contracts or agreements to which the Company or any Subsidiary is a party, with
respect to which the Company or any Subsidiary has any obligation or which are maintained, contributed to or
sponsored by the Company or any Subsidiary for the benefit of any current or former employee, consultant, officer or
director of the Company or any Subsidiary (collectively, the �Plans�). The Company has made available to Parent a true
and complete copy of each Plan and has made available to Parent a true and complete copy of (where applicable)
(A) each trust or funding arrangement prepared in connection with each such Plan, (B) the two most
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recently filed annual reports on Internal Revenue Service (�IRS�) Form 5500, (C) the most recently received IRS
determination letter for each such Plan, (D) the two most recently prepared actuarial reports and financial statements
in connection with each such Plan, and (E) the most recent summary plan description and any material written
communications (or a description of any material oral communications) by the Company or the Subsidiaries to any
current or former employees, consultants, or directors of the Company or any Subsidiary concerning the extent of the
benefits currently provided under a Plan.

(c) Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has now or at any time contributed to, sponsored, or maintained (i) a
pension plan (within the meaning of Section 3(2) of ERISA) subject to Section 412 of the United States Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the �Code�) or Title IV of ERISA; (ii) a multiemployer plan (within the meaning
of Section 3(37) or 4001(a)(3) of ERISA) (a �Multiemployer Plan�); or (iii) a single employer pension plan (within the
meaning of Section 4001(a)(15) of ERISA) for which the Company or any Subsidiary could incur liability under
Section 4063 or 4064 of ERISA (a �Multiple Employer Plan�). Except as set forth in Section 3.10(c) of the Company
Disclosure Schedule, no Plan exists that could result in the payment to any present or former employee, director or
consultant of the Company or any Subsidiary of any money or other property or accelerate or provide any other rights
or benefits to any current or former employee of the Company or any Subsidiary as a result of the consummation of
the Transactions (whether alone or in connection with any subsequent event). Except as set forth in Section 3.10(c) of
the Company Disclosure Schedule, there is no contract, plan or arrangement (written or otherwise) covering any
current or former employee of the Company or any Subsidiary that, individually or collectively, could give rise to the
payment of any amount that would not be deductible pursuant to the terms of Section 280G of the Code.

(d) With respect to the Plans, no event has occurred and, to the knowledge of the Company, there exists no condition
or set of circumstances, in connection with which the Company or any Subsidiary could reasonably be expected to be
subject to any actual or contingent liability under the terms of such Plan or any applicable Law which would
reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

(e) Each Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code has received a favorable determination
letter or prototype opinion letter from the IRS covering all of the provisions applicable to the Plan for which
determination letters or prototype opinion letters are currently available that the Plan is so qualified and each trust
established in connection with any Plan which is intended to be exempt from federal income taxation under
Section 501(a) of the Code is so exempt, and, to the knowledge of the Company, no circumstance exists that could
reasonably be expected to result in the revocation of such exemption.

(f) (i) Each Plan has been established and administered in accordance with its terms, and in compliance with the
applicable provisions of ERISA, the Code and other applicable Laws, except to the extent such noncompliance,
individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, and
(ii) no Plan provides retiree welfare benefits, and neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has any obligation to
provide any retiree welfare benefits other than as required by applicable law.

(g) With respect to any Plan, (i) no Actions (other than routine claims for benefits in the ordinary course) are pending
or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened, that would reasonably be expected to have a Company Material
Adverse Effect, (ii) to the knowledge of the Company, no facts or circumstances exist that could reasonably be
expected to give rise to any such Actions, and (iii) no administrative investigation, audit or other administrative
proceeding by the Department of Labor, the IRS or other Governmental Authority is pending, in progress or, to the
knowledge of the Company, threatened that would reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse
Effect.

(h) Except as set forth in Schedule 3.10(h), and except as otherwise prohibited by applicable law or in this Agreement,
each Plan may be amended or terminated unilaterally by the Company or Subsidiaries at any time without liability or
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administrative expenses related thereto) and no plan documentation or agreement, summary plan description or other
written communication restricts or prohibits the Company or Subsidiaries or any ERISA Affiliate from amending or
terminating any such Plan

Section 3.11  Real Property; Title to Assets.

(a) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries owns any real property.

(b) Section 3.11(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists each parcel of real property currently leased or
subleased by the Company or any Subsidiary (collectively, the �Leased Properties�) and sets forth the Company or the
Subsidiary holding such leasehold interest, with the name of the lessor and the date of the lease, sublease, assignment
of the lease, any guaranty given or leasing commissions remaining payable by the Company or any Subsidiary in
connection therewith and each material amendment to any of the foregoing (collectively, the �Lease Documents�). The
Company or the applicable Subsidiary set forth on Section 3.11(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule owns a valid
leasehold interest in the Leased Properties, free and clear of all Liens other than Permitted Liens. True, correct and
complete copies of all Lease Documents have been delivered to Parent. Each of the Lease Documents is valid, binding
and in full force and effect as against the Company or the Subsidiaries and, to the Company�s knowledge, as against
the other party thereto. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary has received written notice under any of the Lease
Documents of any default, and, to the Company�s knowledge, no event has occurred which, with notice or lapse of
time or both, would constitute a material default by the Company or the applicable Subsidiaries thereunder.

(c) To the Company�s knowledge, there are no latent defects or adverse physical conditions affecting any Leased
Property or the improvements thereon, other than those that would not reasonably be expected to have a Company
Material Adverse Effect.

(d) The Company and the Subsidiaries own, or have valid leasehold rights to, all material furniture, fixtures,
equipment, operating supplies and other personal property (collectively, the �Personal Property�) necessary for the
operation of each Leased Property, subject to no Liens, other than as set forth on Section 3.11(d) of the Company
Disclosure Schedule, in the case of owned Personal Property. The Company owns or has a valid leasehold right to all
Personal Property at each of its locations. Section 3.11(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete
and accurate, in all material respects, depreciation list of Personal Property of the Company, which includes items of
equipment, machinery, computers, chattels, tools, parts, machine tools, furniture, furnishings and fixtures, owned by
the Company and the Subsidiaries as of June 30, 2009. Section 3.11(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule also sets
forth a complete and accurate list of the material items of equipment leased by the Company as of June 30, 2009. The
Company has good title to the items described in such Schedule and valid and subsisting leasehold rights to such items
as are being leased by it free and clear of all Liens except Permitted Liens. Section 3.11(d) of the Company Disclosure
Schedule also sets forth a complete and accurate list of the vehicles owned or leased by the Company and its
Subsidiaries.

Section 3.12  Intellectual Property.

(a) (i) No products, services, software, technologies, business processes, conduct or operations of the Company or the
Subsidiaries infringe, misappropriate, violate or otherwise interfere with the Intellectual Property rights or other
contractual rights of another, and neither the Company nor the Subsidiaries are aware that any such right which might
be so infringed, misappropriated, violated or otherwise interfered with has been claimed, asserted or applied by
another; (ii) with respect to each item of Intellectual Property that is owned by the Company or a Subsidiary and is
material to its operations (�Owned Intellectual Property�), all of which is set forth on Section 3.12 of the Company
Disclosure Schedule, the Company or a Subsidiary is the owner of the entire right, title and interest in and to such
Owned Intellectual Property and is entitled to all rights of ownership in such Owned Intellectual Property in the
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Company Disclosure Schedule, the Company or a Subsidiary has the right to use such Licensed Intellectual Property
in the continued operation of its respective business in accordance with the terms of the license agreement governing
such Licensed Intellectual Property, other than those that would not be expected to have a Company Material Adverse
Effect; (iv) none of the Owned Intellectual Property is or has been adjudged invalid or unenforceable in whole or in
part or is the subject of a pending or threatened action or proceeding for opposition or cancellation, or any
reexamination, opposition or interference proceeding or any form of proceeding for a declaration of invalidity, or
other proceeding or action to invalidate or limit any of the Company�s or the Subsidiary�s rights in the Owned
Intellectual Property, and no such proceeding is being threatened with respect to any of the Owned Intellectual
Property and the Owned Intellectual Property is valid and enforceable; (v) to the Company�s knowledge, no Person is
engaging in any activity that infringes upon the Owned Intellectual Property; (vi) each license of the Licensed
Intellectual Property is valid and enforceable, is binding on all parties to such license, and is in full force and effect;
(vii) to the Company�s knowledge, no party to any license of the Licensed Intellectual Property is in breach or default
of any material provision thereof or thereunder; (viii) the Company has taken all reasonable actions (including
executing non-disclosure and intellectual property assignment agreements which are disclosed on Section 3.12 of the
Company Disclosure Schedule) to protect, preserve and maintain the Owned Intellectual Property; and (ix) neither the
execution of this Agreement nor the consummation of the Transactions shall adversely affect any of the Company�s
rights with respect to the Owned Intellectual Property.

(b) For purposes of this Agreement, �Intellectual Property� means (i) all inventions (whether patentable and whether or
not reduced to practice), all improvements thereto, and all rights arising under or in connection with United States
patents, patent applications and statutory invention registrations, (ii) trademarks, service marks, trade dress, logos,
trade names, corporate names, domain names and other source identifiers, and registrations and applications for
registration thereof, (iii) copyrightable works, copyrights, moral rights and other rights of authorship, and registrations
and applications for registration thereof, (iv) all items of software, source code, object code or other computer
program of whatever name and (v) confidential and proprietary information, including trade secrets and know-how.

Section 3.13  Taxes.

(a) Except as set forth in Section 3.13(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, each of the Company and the
Subsidiaries (i) has filed all Tax Returns required to be filed by any of them and (b) has paid (or had paid on their
behalf) all Taxes as required to be paid by it. All such Tax Returns were correct and complete in all material respects.
The most recent Financial Statements contained in the Company SEC Reports reflect, an adequate reserve for all
Taxes payable by the Company and the Subsidiaries for all taxable periods and portions thereof through the date of
such Financial Statements in accordance with GAAP, whether or not shown as being due on any Tax Returns. Copies
of all federal, state and local Tax Returns for the Company and each Subsidiary with respect to the taxable years
commencing on or after January 1, 2006 have been delivered or made available to representatives of Parent. No
deficiencies for any Taxes have been asserted or assessed in writing against the Company or any of the Subsidiaries,
and no requests for waivers of the time to assess any such Taxes are pending. The Company and Subsidiaries have not
waived any statute of limitations in respect of Taxes or agreed to any extension of time with respect to a Tax
assessment or deficiency.

(b) The Company and Subsidiaries will not be required to include any item of income in, or exclude any item of
deduction from, taxable income for any taxable period (or portion thereof) ending after the Effective Date as a result
of any: (A) change in accounting method; (B) �closing agreement� as described in Section 7121 of the Code (or any
corresponding provision of state, local or foreign law) executed on or prior to the Effective Date; (C) installment sale
or open transaction disposition made on or prior to the Effective Date; or (D) prepaid amount received on or prior to
the Effective Date.
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state, local, or foreign Tax law) and (ii) any amount that will not be fully deductible as a result of Section 162(m) of
the Code (or any corresponding provision of state, local, or foreign Tax law). The Company has not been a United
States real property holding corporation within the meaning of Section 897(c)(2) of the Code during the applicable
period specified in Section 897(c)(1)(A)(ii) of the Code. The Company and Subsidiaries are not a party to or bound by
any Tax allocation or sharing agreement (other than among the Company and the Subsidiaries). The Company (A) has
not been a member of an �affiliated group� within the meaning of Section 1504(a) of the Code filing a consolidated
federal income Tax Return (other than a group, the common parent of which is the Company) or (B) does not have
any liability for the Taxes of any Person (other than the Company and Subsidiaries) under Treas. Reg.
Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign law), as a transferee or a successor, by contract, or
otherwise. The Company and Subsidiaries have not been a party to any distribution in which the parties to such
distribution treated such distribution as one to which Section 355 of the Code applied. The Company has not
participated in a �listed transaction� within the meaning of Code Section 6707A(c)(2) and Treasury
Regulation Section 1.6011-4(b)(2).

(d) For purposes of this Agreement:

(i) �Tax� or �Taxes� shall mean any and all federal, state, local and foreign income, gross receipts, license, payroll,
employment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, premium, windfall profits, environmental, customs duties, capital
stock, franchise, profits, withholding, social security, unemployment, disability, real property, personal property,
sales, use, transfer, registration, value added, alternative or add-on minimum, estimated, or other taxes of any kind
(together with any and all interest, penalties, additions to tax and additional amounts imposed with respect thereto)
imposed by any governmental or Tax authority.

(ii) �Tax Returns� means any and all returns, declarations, claims for refund, or information returns or statements,
reports and forms relating to Taxes filed with any Tax authority (including any schedule or attachment thereto) with
respect to the Company or the Subsidiaries, including any amendment thereof

Section 3.14  Environmental Matters.

(a) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect: (i) to the Company�s
knowledge, none of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries has violated, or is in violation of, any Environmental
Law; (ii) to the Company�s knowledge, there is and has been no release of Hazardous Substances in violation of
Environmental Laws at, on, under or any of the properties currently leased or operated by the Company or any of the
Subsidiaries or, during the period of the Company�s or the Subsidiaries� lease or operation thereof, formerly leased or
operated by the Company or any of the Subsidiaries; (iii) the Company and the Subsidiaries have obtained and are and
have been in material compliance with all, and have not violated any, required Environmental Permits; (iv) the
Company has not received any written claims against the Company or any of the Subsidiaries alleging violations of or
liability or obligations under any Environmental Law.

(b) For purposes of this Agreement:

(i) �Environmental Laws� means any Laws (including common law) of the United States federal, state, local,
non-United States, or any other Governmental Authority, relating to (A) releases or threatened releases of Hazardous
Substances or materials containing Hazardous Substances; (B) the manufacture, handling, transport, use, treatment,
storage or disposal of Hazardous Substances or materials containing Hazardous Substances; or (C) pollution or
protection of the environment or human health and safety as affected by Hazardous Substances or materials containing
Hazardous Substances.
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(iii) �Hazardous Substances� means (A) those substances, materials or wastes defined as toxic, hazardous, acutely
hazardous, pollutants, contaminants, or words of similar import, in or regulated under the following United States
federal statutes and any analogous state statutes, and all regulations thereunder: the Hazardous Materials
Transportation Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act, the Clean Water Act, the Safe Drinking Water Act, the Atomic Energy Act, the
Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act and the Clean Air Act; (B) petroleum and petroleum products,
including crude oil and any fractions thereof; (C) natural gas, synthetic gas, and any mixtures thereof; and
(D) polychlorinated biphenyls, asbestos, molds that could reasonably be expected to adversely affect human health,
urea formaldehyde foam insulation and radon.

Section 3.15  Material Contracts.

(a) Schedule 3.15 of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list of all Material Contracts. Neither the Company
nor any Company Subsidiary is in material violation of or in material default under any Material Contract to which it
is a party or by which it or any of its properties or assets is bound, except for violations or defaults that would not,
individually or in the aggregate, have a Company Material Adverse Effect, nor will, except as set forth on
Schedule 3.15, the consummation of the Merger result in any third party having any right to terminate, amend,
accelerate, cancel or deprive the Company of a material benefit under any Material Contract.

(b) (i) Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is and, to the Company�s knowledge, no other party is in breach or
violation of, or default under, any Material Contract, (ii) none of the Company or any of the Subsidiaries have
received any claim of default or notice of cancellation under any Material Contract, and (iii) no event has occurred
which would result in a breach or violation of, or a default under, any Material Contract (in each case, with or without
notice or lapse of time or both). Each Material Contract is valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with its terms
and is in full force and effect. The Company has made available to Parent true and complete copies of all Material
Contracts, including any amendments thereto.

Section 3.16  Insurance.
  Section 3.16 of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and correct list and brief description of all
material insurance policies owned or held by the Company and each Subsidiary, true and complete copies of which
have been made available to Parent. With respect to each such insurance policy: (a) the policy is legal, valid, binding
and enforceable in accordance with its terms and, except for policies that have expired under their terms in the
ordinary course, is in full force and effect; (b) neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is in breach or default
(including any such breach or default with respect to the payment of premiums or the giving of notice), and no event
has occurred which, with notice or the lapse of time, would constitute such a breach or default, or permit termination
or modification, under the policy; (c) to the knowledge of the Company, without independent inquiry, no insurer on
the policy has been declared insolvent or placed in receivership, conservatorship or liquidation; (d) no notice of
cancellation or termination has been received by the Company or any Subsidiary; and (e) the policy is sufficient for
compliance with all requirements of Law and requirements of all Contracts to which the Company or the Subsidiaries
are parties or otherwise bound.

Section 3.17  Board Approval; Vote Required.

(a) The Company Board, by resolutions duly adopted at a meeting duly called and held, has duly (i) determined that
this Agreement and the Merger are fair to and in the best interests of the Company�s shareholders, (ii) approved this
Agreement, and (iii) recommended that the shareholders of the Company adopt this Agreement and directed that this
Agreement be submitted for consideration by the Company�s shareholders at the Company Shareholders� Meeting.
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voting together, as one class.
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Section 3.18  Brokers.
  No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder�s or other fee or commission in connection
with the Transactions based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the Company other than Hyde Park Capital
Advisors, LLC and RPC Financial Advisors, LLC.

Section 3.19  Condition of Assets.
  Except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Effect, assets of the Company and
Subsidiaries necessary for the normal operation of the Company and the Subsidiaries, including assets leased, are in
good operating condition, regularly and properly maintained, and fit for the operation in the ordinary course of the
Company�s and Subsidiaries� business, subject to normal wear and tear and subject to the decommissioning or repair of
certain vehicles in the ordinary course of business. 

Section 3.20  Bank Accounts, Letters of Credit and Powers of Attorney.
  Section 3.20 of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists (a) all bank accounts, lock boxes and safe deposit boxes
relating to the business and operations of the Company and Subsidiaries (including the name of the bank or other
institution where such account or box is located and the name of each authorized signatory thereto), (b) all outstanding
letters of credit issued by financial institutions for the account of the Company and Subsidiaries (setting forth, in each
case, the financial institution issuing such letter of credit, the maximum amount available under such letter of credit,
the terms (including the expiration date) of such letter of credit and the party or parties in whose favor such letter of
credit was issued), and (c) the name and address of each Person who has a power of attorney to act on behalf of the
Company or the Subsidiaries. 

Section 3.21  No Other Representations or Warranties.
  Except for the representations and warranties made by the Company in this Agreement, the Company makes no
representations or warranties, and the Company hereby disclaims any other representations or warranties, with respect
to the Company, the Subsidiaries, or its or their businesses, operations, assets, liabilities, condition (financial or
otherwise) or prospects. 

ARTICLE IV

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND MERGER SUB

Parent and Merger Sub hereby, jointly and severally, represent and warrant to the Company that:

Section 4.01  Corporate Organization.
  Each of Parent and Merger Sub is a corporation, in each case, duly organized, validly existing and in good standing
under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization and has the requisite power and authority and all necessary
governmental approvals to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business as it is now being
conducted. 

Section 4.02  Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws.
  Parent has heretofore furnished to the Company a complete and correct copy of the Articles of Incorporation and
Bylaws of Parent and Merger Sub, each as amended to date. Such Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws are in full
force and effect. Neither Parent nor Merger Sub is in violation of any of the provisions of its Articles of Incorporation
or Bylaws, as amended or restated. 

Section 4.03  Authority Relative to This Agreement.
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  Each of Parent and Merger Sub has all necessary corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this
Agreement, to perform its obligations hereunder and to consummate the Transactions. The execution, delivery and
performance of this Agreement by each of Parent and Merger Sub and the consummation by each of Parent and
Merger Sub of the Transactions have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate and shareholder
action and no other corporate proceedings on the part of Parent or Merger Sub are necessary to authorize this
Agreement or to consummate the Transactions. This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by
Parent and Merger Sub and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the Company, constitutes a legal,
valid and binding obligation of each of Parent and Merger Sub, enforceable against each of Parent and Merger Sub in
accordance with its terms, subject to the effect of any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency (including all laws relating to
fraudulent transfers), reorganization, moratorium or similar Laws affecting creditors� rights generally and subject to the
effect of general principles of equity.
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Section 4.04  No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents.

(a) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub do not, and the performance of this
Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub and the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of the Transactions will not,
(i) conflict with or violate the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws of Parent or Merger Sub, (ii) conflict with or violate
any Law applicable to Parent or Merger Sub or by which any property or asset of either of them is bound or affected,
or (iii) result in any breach or violation of, or constitute a default (or an event which, with notice or lapse of time or
both, would become a default) under, or give to others any rights of termination, amendment, acceleration or
cancellation of, or result in the creation of a Lien on any property or asset of Parent or Merger Sub pursuant to, any
contract to which Parent or Merger Sub is a party or by which Parent or Merger Sub or any property or asset of either
of them is bound or affected, except, with respect to clauses (ii) and (iii), for any such conflicts, violations, breaches,
defaults or other occurrences which would not, individually or in the aggregate, prevent or materially delay
consummation of any of the Transactions or otherwise prevent or materially delay Parent and Merger Sub from
performing their obligations under this Agreement.

(b) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub do not, and the performance of this
Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub and the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of the Transactions will not,
require any consent, approval, authorization or permit of, or filing with or notification to, any Governmental
Authority, except for (i) applicable requirements, if any, of the Exchange Act, (ii) the filing and recordation of
appropriate merger documents as required by the FBCA and appropriate documents with the relevant authorities of
other states in which the Company or any of the Subsidiaries is qualified to do business, (iii) the notification
requirements of the HSR Act, and (iv) where the failure to obtain such consents, approvals, authorizations or permits,
or to make such filings or notifications, would not, individually or in the aggregate, prevent or materially delay
consummation of any of the Transactions or otherwise prevent Parent or Merger Sub from performing their material
obligations under this Agreement.

Section 4.05  Absence of Litigation.
  As of the date of this Agreement, there is no Action pending or, to the knowledge of the officers of Parent,
threatened, against Parent or any of its affiliates before any Governmental Authority that would or seeks to delay or
prevent the consummation of any of the Transactions. As of the date of this Agreement, neither Parent nor any of its
affiliates is subject to any continuing order of, consent decree, settlement agreement or other similar written
agreement with, or, to the knowledge of the officers of Parent, continuing investigation by, any Governmental
Authority, or any order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, determination or award of any Governmental Authority
that would or seeks to delay or prevent the consummation of any of the Transactions.

Section 4.06  Operations of Merger Sub.
  Merger Sub is as of the date hereof a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Parent, and will be as of the Effective Time
a direct wholly owned subsidiary of Parent, was formed solely for the purpose of engaging in the Transactions, has
engaged in no other business activities and has conducted its operations only as contemplated by this Agreement, and
has no liabilities nor obligations other than as set forth in this Agreement. 

Section 4.07  Brokers.
  No broker, finder or investment banker, financial advisor, or other Person, is entitled to any brokerage, finder�s or
other fee or commission in connection with the Transactions based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Parent
or Merger Sub. The Company will not be responsible for any brokerage, finder�s or other fee or commission to any
broker, finder or investment banker in connection with the Transactions based upon arrangements made by or on
behalf of Parent or Merger Sub. 
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Section 4.08  Information Supplied.
  To Parent�s and Merger Sub�s knowledge none of the information provided or to be provided by Parent or Merger Sub
for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the proxy statement to be mailed by the Company pursuant to
Section 6.01 hereof will at the time the proxy statement is mailed to the Company�s shareholders, or at the time of any
amendment or supplement thereto, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact
required to be stated therein or necessary
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in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading.

Section 4.09  Board and Shareholder Determinations.
  The Board of Directors of Parent, at a meeting duly called and held, adopted resolutions approving this Agreement
and the Transactions, and the Parent, as sole shareholder of Merger Sub, has duly adopted resolutions approving this
Agreement and the Transactions.

Section 4.10  No Parent Stockholder Vote.
  No vote of the holders of shares of Parent capital stock is necessary to approve this Agreement, the Merger or the
Transactions. 

Section 4.11  Financing Letters.
  Parent has provided to the Company a true, complete and correct copy of the financing commitment letters subject
only to their terms (the �Financing Letters�) and all amendments thereto, executed by AEA Mezzanine Management,
LP, SunTrust Bank and M&I Marshall and Ilsley Bank or such other credible, nationally recognized lender of
significant financial worth (the �Lenders�) and addressed to the Parent. Parent will provide to the Company any
amendments to the Financing Letters, or any notices given in connection therewith, as promptly as possible (but in
any event within twenty-four (24) hours). The terms and conditions of any amendments thereto (or in the case of any
substitute Lenders, any financing letters or amendments thereto) shall be satisfactory to the Company in its sole
discretion; provided, however the Parent can obtain an extension to the Financial Letters without the approval of the
Company but will provide to the Company a copy of any such extensions as promptly as possible (but, in any event,
within twenty-four (24) hours). 

ARTICLE V

CONDUCT OF BUSINESS PENDING THE MERGER

Section 5.01  Conduct of Business by the Company Pending the Merger.
  The Company agrees that, between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time, except as expressly
contemplated by this Agreement, as set forth in Section 5.01 of the Company Disclosure Schedule or otherwise
consented to in writing by Parent, the businesses of the Company and the Subsidiaries shall be conducted only in, and
the Company and the Subsidiaries shall not take any action except in, the ordinary course of business and in a manner
consistent with past practice and in compliance in all material respects with applicable Law, and the Company shall,
and shall cause each of the Subsidiaries to, use its reasonable best efforts to preserve substantially intact the business
organization of the Company and the Subsidiaries, to preserve the assets and properties of the Company and the
Subsidiaries in good repair and condition, in each case in the ordinary course of business and in a manner consistent
with past practice. By way of amplification and not limitation, except as expressly contemplated by any other
provision of this Agreement or as set forth in Section 5.01 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, the Company agrees
that neither the Company nor any Subsidiary shall, between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time,
directly or indirectly, do, or propose to do, any of the following without the prior written consent of Parent, which
shall respond to a request for consent promptly but not later than five (5) days after receipt of a request, (provided,
however, that with respect to Sections 5.01(h) pertaining to settlements or compromises, 5.01(i), 5.01(j), 5.01(k) and
5.01(l) such written consent shall not be unreasonably withheld):

(a) amend or otherwise change its Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws or other similar organizational documents;

(b) issue, sell, pledge, dispose of, grant, encumber, or otherwise subject to any Lien, or authorize such issuance, sale,
pledge, disposition, grant or encumbrance of or subjection to such Lien, (i) any shares of any class of capital stock of
the Company or any Subsidiary, or any options, warrants, convertible securities or other rights of any kind to acquire
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any Subsidiary except for (A) the issuance of shares of Common Stock upon the exercise of Company Stock Options
outstanding on the date of this Agreement; (B) the issuance of shares of Common Stock upon the exercise of
Company Warrants outstanding on the date of this Agreement; or (ii) any Personal Property or other assets of the
Company

A-17

Edgar Filing: Global Defense & National Security Systems, Inc. - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 102



Table of Contents

or any Subsidiary, except assets (other than Leased Properties) that are not material in the ordinary course of business
and in a manner consistent with past practice;

(c) declare, set aside, make or pay any dividend or other distribution, payable in cash, stock, property or otherwise,
with respect to any of its capital stock, except for dividends or other distributions by any Subsidiary only to the
Company or any direct or indirect wholly owned Subsidiary;

(d) reclassify, combine, split, subdivide or redeem, or purchase or otherwise acquire, directly or indirectly, any capital
stock of the Company or any Subsidiary;

(e) (i) acquire (including by merger, consolidation, or acquisition of stock or assets or any other business combination)
any corporation, partnership, other business organization (or any division thereof) or any property or asset, except
assets (including assets or accounts from suppliers, vendors or dealers) in the ordinary course of business and in a
manner consistent with past practice; (ii) authorize, or make any commitment with respect to, any capital expenditure,
other than maintenance expenditures at existing Leased Properties in the ordinary course of business and consistent
with past practice; (iii) enter into any new line of business; or (iv) make investments in persons other than existing
Subsidiaries;

(f) (i) increase the compensation payable or to become payable or the benefits provided to its current or former
directors, officers or employees, except for increases in compensation for employees in the ordinary course of
business and in a manner consistent with past practice, except for the payment of bonuses to employees relating to
bonus, incentive plans or employment agreements as in effect on the date hereof, copies of which have been
previously provided to Parent, and except for the renewal of such bonus or incentive plans in the ordinary course of
business consistent with past practices if such plans can be terminated without penalty at the Effective Time (other
than for the payment of incentive compensation or bonus compensation earned as of the time of such termination);
provided, however, in no event shall bonuses of stock, stock options, stock appreciation rights or any items whose
value is tied to the stock price of the Company be awarded pursuant to such plans; (ii) grant any retention, severance
or termination pay (other than pursuant to the severance policy of the Company or its Subsidiaries as in effect on the
date hereof, copies of which are set forth in Section 5.01(f) of the Company Disclosure Schedule) to, or enter into any
employment, bonus, change of control or severance agreement with, any current or former director, officer or other
employee of the Company or of any Subsidiary; (iii) establish, adopt, enter into, terminate or amend any Plan or
establish, adopt or enter into any plan, agreement, program, policy, trust, fund or other arrangement that would be a
Plan if it were in existence as of the date of this Agreement for the benefit of any director, officer or employee except
as required by Law; or (iv) loan or advance any money or other property to any current or former director, officer or
employee of the Company or the Subsidiaries;

(g) make any change (or file for such change) in any method of Tax accounting;

(h) make, change or rescind any material Tax election, file any amended Tax Return, except as described in
Section 3.13(a) and as required by applicable Law, enter into any closing agreement relating to Taxes, waive or extend
the statute of limitations in respect of Taxes (other than pursuant to extensions of time to file Tax Returns obtained in
the ordinary course of business) or settle or compromise any material United States federal, state or local income Tax
liability, audit, claim or assessment, or surrender any right to claim for a Tax Refund;

(i) pay, discharge, waive, settle or satisfy any claim, liability or obligation that is not an Action, other than the
payment, discharge, waiver, settlement or satisfaction, in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past
practice;

(j) waive, release, assign, settle or compromise any pending or threatened Action;
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modify or consent to the termination of (other than a termination in accordance with its terms) any Material Contract,
or (ii) amend, waive, modify or consent to the termination of (other than a termination in accordance with its terms)
the Company�s or any Subsidiary�s rights thereunder;
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provided, however, in no event shall the management services agreement between the Company and RPC Financial
Advisors, LLC be amended or modified, even if such amendment or modification is in the ordinary course of business
and consistent with past practice;

(l) make any expenditure in connection with any advertising or marketing, other than in the ordinary course of
business and in a manner consistent with past practice;

(m) fail to maintain in full force and effect the existing insurance policies covering the Company and the Subsidiaries
and their respective properties, assets and businesses;

(n) enter into, amend, modify or consent to the termination of any Contract that would be a Material Contract or
transaction that would be required to be set forth in Section 3.15(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule if in effect
on the date of this Agreement;

(o) effectuate a �plant closing� or �mass layoff�, as those terms are defined in the Worker Adjustment and Retraining
Notification Act of 1988;

(p) repurchase, repay or incur any Indebtedness (other than in connection with the lease of new vehicles or letters of
credit in the ordinary course of business), or issue any debt securities or assume or endorse, or otherwise become
responsible for, the obligations of any Person, or make any loans or advances, or grant any security interest in any of
its assets, except for repayments of Indebtedness, in amounts and at times determined by the Company in its
discretion, under that certain Credit Agreement dated as of June 7, 2005, as amended, among the Company and
Wachovia Bank, National Association (the �Credit Agreement�), and except in the ordinary course of business and
consistent with past practice;

(q) file any insurance claim except in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice; or

(r) announce an intention, enter into any formal or informal agreement or otherwise make a commitment, to do any of
the foregoing.

Section 5.02  Conduct of Business by Parent and Merger Sub Pending the Merger.
  Each of Parent and Merger Sub agrees that, between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time, it shall not,
directly or indirectly, (a) take any action to cause its representations and warranties set forth in Article IV to be untrue
in any material respect; or (b) take any action that would reasonably be likely to materially delay the consummation of
the Transactions.

ARTICLE VI

ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS

Section 6.01  Preparation of Proxy Statement; Company Shareholders� Meeting.

(a) The Company shall prepare and file with the SEC a proxy statement that has been reviewed by Parent, in
preliminary form (the �Proxy Statement�), as soon as practicle following execution of this Agreement (with a goal of
three (3) business days after execution of this Agreement) and the Company shall respond after notification and
approval by the Parent of such response, as promptly as practical (with a goal of no later than three (3) business days)
after receipt of any comments of the SEC with respect thereto. Parent and Merger Sub shall cooperate with the
Company in connection with the preparation of the Proxy Statement, including, but not limited to, furnishing to the
Company any and all information regarding Parent and Merger Sub and their respective Affiliates as may be required
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to be disclosed therein as promptly as possible after the date hereof. The parties shall notify each other within one
(1) business day of the receipt of any comments from the SEC or its staff and of any request by the SEC or its staff for
amendments or supplements to the Proxy Statement or for additional information and shall supply each other with
copies of all correspondence between such or any of its representatives, on the one hand, and the SEC or its staff, on
the other hand, with respect to the Proxy Statement or the Merger.
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(b) If, at any time prior Shareholder Approval, any event occurs with respect to the Company, any Subsidiary, Parent
or Merger Sub, or any change occurs with respect to other information to be included in the Proxy Statement, which is
required to be described in an amendment of, or a supplement to, the Proxy Statement, the Company or Parent, as the
case may be, shall within one business day notify the other party of such event and the Company shall promptly file,
with Parent�s cooperation, any necessary amendment or supplement to the Proxy Statement.

(c) The record date for determining the shareholders entitled to notice of or to vote at the Shareholders� Meeting (as
defined below) shall be the date twelve (12) business days after execution of this Agreement (the �Record Date�). The
Company shall notify the American Stock Exchange (AMEX) of the Record Date the day after execution of this
Agreement. In the event the SEC has not cleared the Proxy Statement within fifty five (55) days of the Record Date
then the Company�s Board of Directors shall set a new record date, within one business day, which such new Record
Date shall be twelve (12) business days later. The Company shall notify the AMEX within one business day of the
setting of a new Record Date.

(d) The Company shall utilize its best efforts to on the next business day after the execution of this Agreement, mail
written notice of this Transaction to all the holders of the Company Warrants in compliance with all warrant
agreements.

(e) The Company shall utilize its best efforts to promptly following the receipt of the SEC�s clearance of the Proxy
Statement (with a goal of no later than three (3) business days after receipt of clearance), mail or otherwise deliver
notice of a meeting of the holders of the Company Common Stock to all of such holders of Company Common Stock
entitled to vote as of the Record Date (the �Shareholders� Meeting�) for the purpose of seeking the Shareholder
Approval. The notice to Shareholders shall duly call a Shareholders� Meeting within twenty (20) days after the date the
notice is mailed or otherwise delivered to the Shareholders. The notice shall also contain the cleared Proxy Statement.
The Company shall, through the Company Board, recommend to holders of the Company Common Stock that they
give the Shareholder Approval (the �Company Recommendation�), except to the extent that the Company Board shall
have withdrawn or modified such recommendation, as permitted by and determined in accordance with Section 6.02.

(f) If the Parent determines in its sole discretion that any of the above timelines cannot be met then the Parent shall
have the sole discretion to permit any one or more of the above time frames to be extended.

Section 6.02  No Solicitation of Transactions.

(a) The Company agrees that neither it nor any Subsidiary shall, nor shall it authorize or permit the Representatives of
the Company or its Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly: (i) initiate, solicit or encourage (including by way of
furnishing information or assistance) any inquiries or the making of any proposal that constitutes, or may reasonably
be expected to lead to, any Competing Transaction Proposal (as defined below), (ii) enter into discussions or negotiate
with any Person or entity in furtherance of such inquiries or to obtain a Competing Transaction Proposal, (iii) enter
into any agreement with respect to a Competing Acquisition Proposal, (iv) agree to or endorse any Competing
Transaction Proposal, or (v) authorize any of the officers or directors of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to take
any such action, and the Company shall use its reasonable efforts to cause the directors, officers, employees, agents
and representatives of the Company and its Subsidiaries (including, without limitation, any investment banker,
financial advisor, attorney or accountant retained by the Company) not to take any such action. Nothing contained in
this Section 6.02 shall prohibit the Board of Directors of the Company from furnishing information to, or entering into
discussions or negotiations with, any Person or entity that makes an unsolicited, bona fide expression of interest in
writing to enter into a Competing Transaction Proposal if: (A) the Board of Directors of the Company, after
consultation with and advice from Akerman Senterfitt (or other outside counsel of recognized reputation), determines
in good faith that the failure to do so is reasonably likely to result in a violation by the Board of Directors of its
fiduciary duties to the Company�s shareholders under applicable Law, (B) the Board of Directors of the Company has
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to believe that the expression of interest is not made in good faith, and (C) promptly after furnishing such information
to, or entering into discussions or negotiations with, such Person or entity, the Company provides verbal notice within
48 hours and written notice within 72 hours to Parent to the effect that it plans to furnish information to, or enter into
discussions or negotiations with, such Person or entity.

(b) For purposes of this Agreement, �Competing Transaction Proposal� shall mean any of the following involving the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries (other than the transactions contemplated by this Agreement): (i) any merger,
consolidation, share exchange, business combination, or other similar transaction; (ii) any direct or indirect sale, lease,
exchange, mortgage, pledge, transfer or other disposition of substantially all of the assets of the Company and its
Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in a single transaction or a series of related transactions; or (iii) any tender offer
(including a self-tender offer) or exchange offer for fifty (50%) or more of the outstanding shares of Common Stock
of the Company or the filing of a registration statement under the Securities Act, in connection therewith.

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if the Board of Directors of the Company determines, in
its good faith judgment, that a Competing Transaction Proposal is a Superior Acquisition Proposal (as defined below),
the Board of Directors of the Company may terminate this Agreement; provided, that: (A) the Company provides at
least five (5) business days prior written notice to the Parent of its intention to terminate this Agreement; (B) during
such five (5) business day period (or longer period if extended by the Company and the Parent) (the �Negotiation
Period�), the Company agrees to negotiate in good faith with the Parent regarding such changes as the Parent may
propose to the terms of this Agreement, with the intent of enabling the Company to agree to a modification of this
Agreement so that the transactions contemplated hereby may be consummated; and (C) after expiration of the
Negotiation Period, the Competing Transaction Proposal remains a Superior Acquisition Proposal (taking into account
any modifications to the terms hereof proposed by the Parent) and the Board of Directors of the Company confirms its
determination (after consultation with outside legal counsel and its outside financial advisors) that such Competing
Transaction Proposal is a Superior Acquisition Proposal; and (D) pay termination fee as provided in Section 8.02 of
this Agreement. If the party making the Superior Acquisition Proposal comes forth with a further proposal, further
notice pursuant to this Section shall be provided to Parent and there shall be an additional Negotiation Period pursuant
to this Section.

(d) For purposes of this Agreement, �Superior Acquisition Proposal� means any bona fide, written Competing
Transaction Proposal made by a third party, not solicited in violation of subsection 6.02(a), that is on terms that the
Board of Directors of the Company reasonably determines in good faith (after consulting with its outside financial
advisors) would after taking into account all the terms and conditions of the Competing Transaction Proposal
including any breakup fees, expenses, reimbursement provisions and conditions (including but not limited to financial,
legal or regulatory conditions) to consummate the transaction (A) result in a transaction that is more favorable, from a
financial point of view, to the Company Shareholders than the transactions contemplated hereby if such Competing
Transaction Proposal were to be consummated, (B) the Board of Directors reasonably believes that the Competing
Transaction Proposal has a substantial likelihood of being consummated, and (C) for which financing, to the extent
required, is evidenced by a financing commitment letter subject only to its terms, executed by a credible, nationally
recognized lender of significant financial worth, or is from a person which, in the good faith reasonable judgment of
the Board of Directors (after consultation with its outside financial advisors) is financially capable of consummating
the proposal.

Section 6.03  Directors� and Officers� Indemnification.

(a) From and for six (6) years after the Effective Time, Parent shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the present
and former officers, directors and employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries (collectively, the �Indemnified
Parties�) against all losses, expenses (including attorneys� fees and other expenses of investigation or litigation,
including on appeal), claims, damages or liabilities arising out of actions or omissions occurring at or prior to the
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subsection (7) thereof) or other applicable state Law and shall also advance expenses as incurred to the fullest extent
permitted under the FBCA (including Section 607.0850 and subsection (7) thereof) or other applicable state Law,
provided that the Person to whom expenses are advanced provides, if requested, the undertaking to repay such
advances under the circumstances contemplated by the FBCA. Parent and Merger Sub agree that all rights to
indemnification, including provisions relating to advances of expenses incurred in defense of any claim, action, suit,
proceeding or investigation (a �Claim�), existing in favor of the Indemnified Parties as provided in the Company�s or any
Subsidiary�s Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws or resolutions of their Boards of Directors, as in effect as of the date
hereof, with respect to matters occurring prior to and through the Effective Time, shall survive the Merger and shall
continue in full force and effect. Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation to fulfill and honor in all respects such
indemnification obligations in accordance with their terms. Subject to any limitation imposed from time to time under
applicable Law, the provisions with respect to indemnification set forth in the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of
the Surviving Corporation shall not be amended, repealed or otherwise modified for a period of six (6) years after the
Effective Time in any manner that would adversely affect the rights thereunder of any Indemnified Person.

(b) Without limiting the foregoing, in the event any claim is brought against any Indemnified Party (whether arising
before or after the Effective Time) after the Effective Time (i) such Indemnified Party may retain counsel satisfactory
to it (subject to approval by Parent and the Surviving Corporation, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld),
(ii) Parent and the Surviving Corporation shall pay all reasonable fees and expenses of such counsel for such
Indemnified Party promptly as statements therefor are received, and (iii) Parent and the Surviving Corporation will
use all reasonable efforts to assist in the vigorous defense of any such matter, provided that neither Parent nor the
Surviving Corporation shall be liable for any settlement of any Claim effected without its written consent, which
consent, however, shall not be unreasonably withheld. Any Indemnified Party wishing to claim indemnification under
this Section 6.03, upon learning of any such Claim, shall notify Parent (but the failure so to notify Parent shall not
relieve it from any liability for indemnification under this Section 6.03 which it may have except to the extent such
failure materially prejudices Parent), and shall deliver to Parent, upon request, the undertaking, if any, contemplated
by the FBCA in connection with the advance of expenses. To the extent that a Claim is brought against more than one
Indemnified Party, such Indemnified Parties as a group may retain only one law firm to represent them with respect to
each such matter unless there is, in the opinion of counsel to an Indemnified Party, under applicable standards of
professional conduct, a conflict on any significant issue between the positions of any two or more Indemnified Parties.

(c) Immediately prior to the Effective Time the Company shall, at the direction of the Parent, purchase a
non-cancelable extended reporting period endorsement under the Company�s existing directors� and officers� liability
insurance coverage for the Company�s officers and directors (the �Tail Policy�) in the same form as presently maintained
by the Company, which shall provide such officers and directors with coverage until the sixth anniversary of the
Effective Time (the �Tail Period�) with not less than the existing coverage under, and have other terms not less
favorable to the coverage presently maintained by the Company; provided, however, that Parent shall have the right to
shop the insurance policy through their own insurance agent and cause the Company to purchase the insurance policy
through the Parent�s insurance agent if the policy can be purchased at a lower cost to the Company; provided, however,
that Company may engage a qualified insurance consultant to confirm that such Tail Policy satisfies the above criteria;
and, provided further, that Parent shall not be required to pay for the Tail Period, if the aggregate annual premium for
the Tail Policy is in excess of two hundred fifty percent (250%) of the annual premium for the existing policy. In the
event the premium for the Tail Policy exceeds two hundred and fifty percent (250%) of the annual premium for the
existing policy the amount of coverage of the Tail Policy shall be reduced to the greatest amount of coverage that can
be obtained for any annual premium for the existing policy. A copy of the proposed policy shall be provided to the
Parent by the Company at least five (5) business days prior to Closing. A copy of a binder for such policy shall be
provided to the Company prior to Closing.
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(d) This Section 6.03 shall survive the consummation of the Merger at the Effective Time, shall not be terminated or
modified in such a manner as to adversely affect the Indemnified Parties, is intended to benefit the Company, the
Surviving Corporation, the Indemnified Parties and their respective heirs, personal representatives, successors and
assigns and shall be binding upon all successors and assigns of Parent, Merger Sub, the Company and the Surviving
Corporation.

Section 6.04  Further Action; Reasonable Best Efforts.

(a) Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, each of the parties hereto agrees to use its
reasonable best efforts to as soon as practicably possible (i) take, or cause to be taken, all appropriate action, and to
do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable under applicable Law or otherwise to consummate
and make effective the Transactions, and (ii) obtain from Governmental Authorities and third parties any consents,
licenses, permits, waivers, approvals, authorizations or orders required to be obtained by Parent or the Company or
any of their respective subsidiaries in connection with the authorization, execution and delivery of this Agreement.

(b) Subject to appropriate confidentiality protections, each of Parent and the Company shall have the right to review
and approve in advance drafts of all applications, notices, petitions, filings and other documents made or prepared in
connection with the items described in clauses (a) and (b) above, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld
or delayed, shall cooperate with each other in connection with the making of all such filings, shall furnish to the other
party such necessary information and assistance as such other party may reasonably request with respect to the
foregoing and shall provide the other party with copies of all filings made by such party with any applicable
Government Authority, and, upon request, any other information supplied by such party to a Governmental Authority
in connection with this Agreement and the Transactions.

(c) Merger Sub, the Company, and Parent shall use their respective reasonable best efforts to obtain any third party
consents (i) necessary, proper or advisable to consummate the Transactions, (ii) disclosed in the Company Disclosure
Schedule or (iii) required to prevent a Company Material Adverse Effect from occurring prior to the Effective Time.
In the event that the Company shall fail to obtain any third party consent described above, the Company shall use its
reasonable best efforts, and shall take such actions as are reasonably requested by Parent, to minimize any adverse
effect upon the Company and Parent and their respective businesses resulting, or which could reasonably be expected
to result, after the Effective Time, from the failure to obtain such consent. In addition, at the request of Parent, the
Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to assist Parent in obtaining any estoppel certificates from any ground
lessor under the ground leases underlying the Leased Properties.

(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, in connection with obtaining any approval or consent
from any Person (other than a Governmental Authority) with respect to the Merger or any other Transaction,
(i) without the prior written consent of Parent which shall not be unreasonably withheld, none of the Company or any
of its Subsidiaries shall pay or commit to pay to such Person whose approval or consent is being solicited any cash or
other consideration, make any commitment or incur any liability or other obligation due to such Person and (ii) none
of Parent, Merger Sub or their respective affiliates shall be required to pay or commit to pay to such Person whose
approval or consent is being solicited any cash or other consideration, make any commitment or to incur any liability
or other obligation.

(e) The Company and the Subsidiaries will (i) permit Parent and Lenders and their respective representatives to have
reasonable access, during normal business hours and upon at least twenty-four (24) hours prior written notice
describing the type of access requested, to the Company and the Subsidiaries (with the goal of minimizing disruptions
to Company�s operations); (ii) shall provide copies of any documents, books, records, contracts, policies etc. requested
by Parent or Lender within two (2) business days, if reasonably practical to do so, and (iii) shall provide to Parent, the
Lenders and their respective representatives (x) within thirty (30) days following the end of each fiscal month during
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statement with respect to such prior fiscal month and (y) such other information or documents ordinarily produced by
the Company (financial or otherwise) with respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries as Parent and the Lenders may
reasonably request, including, without limitation, any weekly operating metrics and other key financial measures used
to operate the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course.

Section 6.05  Obligations of Parent and Merger Sub.
  Parent shall take all action necessary to cause Merger Sub to perform its obligations under this Agreement and to
consummate the Transactions on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement.

Section 6.06  Public Announcements.
  The initial press release relating to this Agreement shall be a joint press release the text of which has been agreed to
by each of Parent and the Company. Thereafter, each of Parent and the Company shall consult in good faith with each
other before issuing any press release or otherwise making any public statements with respect to this Agreement or
any of the Transactions and shall not issue any such press release or make any such public statement, except, in the
opinion of counsel for Parent or the Company (as the case may be) as may be required by applicable Law or the
requirements of any applicable securities exchange, in which case the issuing party shall use its reasonable best efforts
to consult with the other party before issuing any press release or making any such public statements. 

Section 6.07  Transfer Taxes.
  The Company and Parent shall cooperate in the preparation, execution and filing of all returns, questionnaires,
applications or other documents regarding any sales, transfer, stamp, stock transfer, value added, use, real property
transfer or gains and any similar Taxes which become payable in connection with the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement. Each of Parent and the Surviving Corporation agrees to assume liability for and pay any sales,
transfer, stamp, stock transfer, value added, use, real property transfer or gains and any similar Taxes, as well as any
transfer, recording, registration and other fees that may be imposed upon, payable or incurred in connection with this
Agreement and the Transactions. 

Section 6.08  Resignations.
  The Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to obtain and deliver to Parent at the Closing evidence reasonably
satisfactory to Parent of the resignation effective as of the Effective Time, of the directors and such officers of the
Company and the Subsidiary selected for resignation by Parent. To the extent any officer of the Company and/or
Subsidiary has an employment, severance, termination or stay bonus agreement, and is selected for resignation by
Parent such resignations shall be deemed under each of such agreements to be a termination by the Company without
Good Cause (as that term is defined in the agreements listed as items 1 and 2 of Section 3.10(b) of the Company
Disclosure Schedule) and in accordance with Section 5 of such agreements, notice of termination shall be deemed
given to such officer on the Effective Date, or a termination other than for Cause (as defined in the agreement listed as
item 3 of Section 3.10(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule) and any and all amounts due for salary,
reimbursements, vacation pay, severance or other amounts due pursuant to such agreements to any such officer shall
be paid in cash by Parent to such officer at Closing if such officer waives the sixty (60) day notice requirement for
termination under his employment or severance agreement, otherwise such payments shall be made post Closing in
accordance with the terms of such employment or severance agreement. In the event the Parent does not select an
officer of the Company or the Subsidiary for resignation or such officer does not waive any such notice provisions,
Parent shall and shall cause the Surviving Corporation to honor such agreements and the terms thereof. 

Section 6.09  Employment and Benefit Arrangements.

(a) Parent agrees that individuals who are employed by the Company or any of Subsidiaries immediately prior to the
Closing Date (each such employee, an �Affected Employee�) shall remain employees of the Surviving Corporation or
such Subsidiaries as of the Effective Time, except to the extent such individuals voluntarily terminate their
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A-24

Edgar Filing: Global Defense & National Security Systems, Inc. - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 115



Table of Contents

(b) From and after the Effective Time, Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation to honor all employment,
collective bargaining, severance, termination and retirement agreements to which the Company or a Subsidiary is a
party, as such agreements are in effect on the date hereof and shall take no steps to breach or not honor the terms of
such agreements.

(c) For a one year period following the Effective Time, Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation to provide those
Affected Employees who are employees of the Surviving Corporation or a Subsidiary at the Effective Time with
benefits that are, in the aggregate, substantially comparable and no less favorable to such employees as are the benefits
of the Company available to such employees immediately prior to the Effective Time (collectively the �Continuing
Benefits�). Parent shall cause any eligible expenses incurred by any Affected Employee and his or her covered
dependents to be taken into account in connection with Continuing Benefits for purposes of satisfying all applicable
deductible, coinsurance and maximum out-of-pocket requirements applicable to such Affected Employee and his or
her covered dependents for the applicable plan year as if such amounts had been paid in accordance with such
Continuing Benefits. In addition, Parent shall cause all pre-existing condition exclusions and actively-at-work
requirements to be waived for such Affected Employee and his or her covered dependents, to the extent such
conditions were inapplicable or waived with respect to Affected Employee participated immediately prior to the
Effective Time.

(d) Parent shall take all actions required so that eligible employees of the Company or any Subsidiary shall receive
service credit for purposes of Continuing Benefits and under Parent�s vacation, severance programs, pension plans and
post-retirement welfare benefit plans, for the duration of their service with the Company and any Subsidiary
(including, where applicable, past service credit with other entities recognized by the Company or its Subsidiaries
prior to the date of this Agreement).

ARTICLE VII

CONDITIONS TO THE MERGER

Section 7.01  Conditions to the Obligations of Each Party.
  Subject to waiver as set forth in Section 8.04, the respective obligations of the Company, Parent and Merger Sub to
consummate the Merger are subject to the satisfaction at or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions:

(a) Company Shareholder Approval. This Agreement shall have received Shareholder Approval.

(b) No Order. No Governmental Authority shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any Law, rule,
regulation, judgment, decree, executive order or award which is then in effect and has the effect of making the Merger
illegal or otherwise prohibiting consummation of the Merger.

(c) Other Government Approvals or Notices. All consents, waivers, approvals and authorizations required to be
obtained, and all filings or notices required to be made, by Parent and Merger Sub and the Company or any Subsidiary
prior to the Closing (other than the filing and recordation of merger documents in accordance with the FBCA) shall
have been obtained from and made with all required Governmental Authorities, except for such consents, waivers,
approvals or authorizations which the failure to obtain, or such filings or notices which the failure to make, would not
have a Company Material Adverse Effect prior to or after the Effective Time or be reasonably likely to subject the
Company, Parent, Merger Sub or any of their respective Subsidiaries or any of their respective officers or directors to
any penalties or criminal liability.

Section 7.02  Conditions to the Obligations of Parent and Merger Sub.
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  Subject to waiver as set forth in Section 8.04, the obligations of Parent and Merger Sub to consummate the Merger
are also subject to the satisfaction at or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions:

(a) Representations and Warranties. (i) The representations and warranties of the Company contained in this
Agreement not qualified by a �materiality� or �Company Material Adverse Effect� qualifier shall be true and correct in all
material respects, and (ii) the representations and warranties of the Company contained in this Agreement qualified by
a �materiality� or �Company Material Adverse Effect� qualifier
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shall be true and correct in all respects, in the case of both (i) and (ii) above as of the date of this Agreement and as of
the Closing Date, as though made on and as of the Closing Date or, to the extent representations and warranties speak
as of an earlier date as of such earlier date. In addition, the representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.03
(Capitalization) shall be true and correct in all respects as of the Closing Date, as though made on and as of the
Closing Date, except for changes to capitalization due to the exercise or termination of Company Stock Options listed
on Schedule 3.03(b).

(b) Agreements and Covenants. The Company shall have performed or complied in all material respects with all
agreements and covenants required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by it on or prior to the
Closing Date; provided, however the Company shall have performed in all respects with respect to the timelines set
forth in Section 6.01.

(c) Officer�s Certificate. The Company shall have delivered to Parent a certificate, dated the date of the Closing, signed
by an officer of the Company and certifying as to the satisfaction of the conditions specified in Sections 7.02(a) and
7.02(b).

Section 7.03  Conditions to the Obligations of the Company.
  Subject to waiver as set forth in Section 8.04, the obligations of the Company to effect the Merger are also subject to
the satisfaction at or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions:

(a) Representations and Warranties. Each of the representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub that are
qualified by materiality shall be true and correct in all respects, and the representations and warranties of Parent and
Merger Sub contained in this Agreement that are not so qualified shall be true and correct in all material respects, in
each case as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, as though made on and as of the Closing Date,
except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such earlier date.

(b) Agreements and Covenants. Parent and Merger Sub shall have performed or complied in all material respects with
all agreements and covenants required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by it on or prior to the
Closing Date.

(c) Officer�s Certificate. Parent and Merger Sub each shall have delivered to the Company a certificate, dated the date
of the Closing, signed by an officer, certifying as to the satisfaction of the conditions specified in Sections 7.03(a) and
7.03(b).

(d) Available Funds. Parent has or will have sufficient funds at the Closing (a) to satisfy any and all of Parent�s and
Merger Sub�s obligations arising under or out of the Agreement, including without limitation the obligations of
Article II, (b) to the extent necessary, refinance the outstanding indebtedness of the Company, and (c) pay any and all
of its fees and expenses in connection with the Merger or the financing thereof.

ARTICLE VIII

TERMINATION, AMENDMENT AND WAIVER

Section 8.01  Termination.
  This Agreement may be terminated and the Merger and the other Transactions may be abandoned at any time prior to
the Effective Time by action taken or authorized by the Board of Directors of the terminating party or parties,
notwithstanding any Shareholder Approval, and whether before or after the shareholders of the Company have
approved this Agreement at the Company Shareholders� Meeting, as follows:
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(a) by mutual written consent of Parent and the Company;

(b) by either Parent or the Company if the Effective Time shall not have occurred on or before 150 days after the date
of this Agreement, provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 8.01(b) shall not
be available to any party whose failure to fulfill any obligation under this Agreement has been the cause of, or resulted
in, the failure of the Effective Time to occur on or before such date;
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(c) by either Parent or the Company if any Governmental Authority shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced
or entered any injunction, order, decree or ruling (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) or taken any other
action (including the failure to have taken an action) which has become final and non-appealable and has the effect of
making consummation of the Merger illegal or otherwise preventing or prohibiting consummation of the Merger;

(d) by Parent, if neither Parent nor Merger Sub is in material breach of its obligations under this Agreement, and if
(i) any of the representations and warranties of the Company herein become untrue or inaccurate such that
Section 7.02(a) would not be satisfied, or (ii) there has been a breach on the part of the Company of any of its
covenants or agreements herein such that Section 7.02(b) would not be satisfied, and, in either such case, such breach
(if curable) has not been cured within 30 days after written notice to the Company; provided, however, the cure period
shall not apply to the timelines specified in Section 6.01;

(e) by the Company if the Company is not in material breach of its obligations under this Agreement, and if (i) any of
the representations and warranties of Parent or Merger Sub herein become untrue or inaccurate such that
Section 7.03(a) would not be satisfied, or (ii) there has been a breach on the part of Parent or Merger Sub of any of its
covenants or agreements herein such that Section 7.03(b) would not be satisfied, and, in either such case, such breach
(if curable) has not been cured within 30 days after written notice to Parent;

(f) by either Parent or the Company if this Agreement shall fail to receive the requisite vote for approval by the
Shareholders of the Company at the Shareholders� Meeting; or

(g) by the Company in accordance, and in compliance, with the termination rights set forth in Section 6.02(c).

The party desiring to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.01 shall give notice of such termination and the
provisions of Section 8.01 being relied on to terminate this Agreement to the other party.

Section 8.02  Effect of Termination.
  In the event of the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.01, except as provided in Section 2.07, there
shall be no liability under this Agreement on the part of any party hereto; provided, however, in the event any party
willfully breaches any representations, warranties, covenants or agreements as set forth in this Agreement, the
non-breaching party shall be entitled to pursue any of its remedies at law or in equity. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
in the event that this Agreement is terminated, pursuant to the provisions of Section 8.01(g), the Company shall pay to
the Parent $2,750,000, if terminated on or before November 15, 2009 and shall pay to the Parent up to $3,500,000 if
terminated after November 15, 2009, which payment shall be made within six (6) months from the date of such
termination, in full satisfaction of all costs, expenses, damages and claims that the Parent would have under the terms
of this Agreement or the Confidentiality Agreement and shall be Parent�s and Merger Sub�s sole and exclusive remedy
for Company�s termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.01(g), and thereafter the parties shall be released
from all further obligations under or pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. In the event this Agreement is
terminated pursuant to Section 8.01(g) after November 15, 2009, the amount paid to Parent shall be equal to the sum
of $2,750,000  plus the actual cost of Lender�s fees paid by Parent to extend the termination date of the Financing
Letters beyond November 15, 2009, or to close such financing up to $3,500,000.

Section 8.03  Amendment.
  This Agreement may be amended by the parties hereto by action taken by or on behalf of their respective Boards of
Directors at any time prior to the Effective Time; provided, however, that, after the adoption of this Agreement and
the Transactions by the shareholders of the Company, no amendment shall be made except as allowed under
applicable Law. This Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed by each of the parties
hereto. 
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  At any time prior to the Closing Date, any party hereto may (a) extend the time for the performance of any obligation
or other act of any other party to be performed for the benefit of the waiving party, (b) waive any inaccuracy in the
representations and warranties of any other party contained herein or in any document delivered pursuant hereto and
(c) waive compliance by any other party with any
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agreements or conditions compliance with which is for the benefit of the waiving party contained in this Agreement
(to the extent permitted by Law). Any such extension or waiver shall be valid if set forth in an instrument in writing
signed by the party or parties to be bound thereby. The failure of any party to assert any of its rights under this
Agreement or otherwise shall not constitute a waiver of those rights.

Section 8.05  Fees and Expenses.

(a) All Expenses incurred by the parties shall be paid at Closing by Parent.

(b) �Expenses� as used in this Agreement shall include all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses (including without
limitation, all fees and expenses of counsel, investment bankers, accountants, financial advisors, experts and
consultants to a party and its affiliates) incurred by a party or on its behalf in connection with or related to the
authorization, preparation, negotiation, execution and performance of this Agreement, the solicitation of shareholder
approvals and all other matters related to the closing of the Transactions.

ARTICLE IX

GENERAL PROVISIONS

Section 9.01  Nonsurvival of Representations and Warranties; Disclosure Schedule.
  None of the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements in this Agreement or in any instrument delivered
pursuant to this Agreement, nor any rights arising out of any breach of such representations, warranties, covenants and
agreements, shall survive the Effective Time, except for those covenants and agreements contained herein that by their
terms apply or are to be performed in whole or in part after the Effective Time. The inclusion of any information in
the Company Disclosure Schedule shall not be deemed to be an admission or acknowledgment, in and of itself, that
such information is required by the terms hereof to be disclosed, is material, has resulted in or is reasonably likely to
result in a Material Adverse Effect on the applicable party or is outside the ordinary and usual course of business.

Section 9.02  Notices.  All notices, requests, claims, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing
and shall be given (a) on the date of delivery if delivered personally, (b) on the first business day following the date of
dispatch if delivered by a nationally recognized next day courier service, (c) on the fifth business day following the
date of mailing if delivered by registered or certified mail (postage prepaid, return receipt requested) or (d) if sent by
facsimile or email transmission, when transmitted and receipt is confirmed. All notices hereunder shall be delivered to
the respective parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for a party as shall be specified in a notice
given in accordance with this Section 9.02):

If to Parent or Merger Sub:
Massey Services, Inc
315 Groveland Street
Orlando, FL 32804
Attn: Harvey Massey, Chairman

with a copy to:
Shuffield, Lowman & Wilson, P.A.
1000 Legion Place, Suite 1700
Orlando, FL 32801
Attn: William R. Lowman, Jr.

if to the Company:
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Attn: President
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with a copy to:
Akerman Senterfitt
1 SE Third Avenue, Suite 2800
Miami, Florida 33131
Attn: Stephen K. Roddenberry

Section 9.03  Certain Definitions.

(a) For purposes of this Agreement:

�Affiliate� of a specified Person means a Person who, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries,
controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such specified Person.

�Business day� means any day on which the principal offices of the SEC in Washington, D.C. are open to accept filings,
or, in the case of determining a date when any payment is due, any day on which banks are not required or authorized
to close in The City of New York.

�Closing Payment Amount� means $36,007,367

�Company Material Adverse Effect� means any event, circumstance, development, change or effect that, individually or
in the aggregate with all other events, circumstances, developments, changes and effects, is materially adverse to the
business, assets, financial condition, or results of operations of the Company and the Subsidiaries taken as a whole or
would reasonably be expected to prevent or materially delay the consummation of the Transactions or prevent or
materially impair or delay the ability of the Company to perform its obligations hereunder, other than (i) the
occurrence of any or all of the changes or events described in Section 3.08 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, and
(ii) those reasonably resulting solely from the execution of this Agreement, the observance of its terms, or the
announcement of the consummation of the Transactions, including but not limited to any adjustments to the
Company�s intangible assets.

�Control� (including the terms �controlled by� and �under common control with�) means the possession, directly or
indirectly, or as trustee or executor, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a
Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, as trustee or executor, by contract or credit arrangement or
otherwise.

�Debt� means the Indebtedness of the Company as of the Closing Date, including but not limited to, indebtedness
pursuant to (i) the Credit Agreement and any prepayment penalty due thereunder; (ii) Company acquisition
subordinated debt liability; (iii) vehicle leases; or (iv) professional fees and other Expenses (other than as otherwise
provided for in this Agreement) including, without limitation, legal fees and expenses, and investment banking fees
(whether or not any of the foregoing are paid as of the Closing Date).

�Exchange Act� means the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

�Indebtedness� means (A) indebtedness for borrowed money (excluding any interest thereon), secured or unsecured,
(B) obligations under conditional sale or other title retention Contracts relating to purchased property, (C) capitalized
lease obligations, (D) obligations under interest rate cap, swap, collar or similar transactions or currency hedging
transactions (valued at the termination value thereof), and (E) guarantees of any of the foregoing of any other Person.

�Knowledge of the Company� or �Company�s knowledge� means the actual knowledge of the Chairman of the Board,
President, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, or Chief Financial Officer of the Company and
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Subsidiary who would reasonably be expected to have knowledge of the specific matter at issue.

�Lien� means any mortgage, pledge, lien, encumbrance, charge or other security interest.
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�Material Contracts� shall mean with respect to any Person, all contracts, agreements and understandings that are
material within the meaning set forth in Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K of Title 17, Part 229 of the Code of
Federal Regulations and are still in effect and shall also include (i) any contract or agreement that provides for
payment to the Company or Subsidiaries for the performance of services in an amount in excess of $150,000 annually;
(ii) any contract or agreement requiring payments by the Company or Subsidiaries in excess of $150,000 annually;
(iii) any guarantee in respect of any Indebtedness or obligation of the Company or Subsidiaries; (iv) any contract or
agreement limiting the ability of the Company or Subsidiaries to engage in any line of business or to compete with
any Person; (v) any contract or agreement limiting the ability of any Person to engage in any line of business or to
compete with the Company or Subsidiaries (vi) any contract or agreement under which the Company or Subsidiaries
has borrowed or loaned money in excess of $150,000, or any mortgage, note, bond, indenture or other evidence of
Indebtedness (excluding advances, deposits, trade payables in the ordinary course of business); (vii) any joint venture,
partnership or other similar joint ownership agreements; (viii) any contract, agreement or consent decree of
Governmental Authority to which the Company or Subsidiaries are bound; (ix) any employment, severance, change of
control or �golden parachute� contract of an Employee of the Company or Subsidiaries; and (x) any contract or
agreement (A) granting or obtaining any right to use any material Intellectual Property rights (other than contracts
granting rights to use readily available commercial software available to consumers for a combined license and
maintenance fee of less than $150,000 per year or subject to �shrink wrap� or �click through� license agreements) or
(B) restricting the right of the Company or permitting any third Person to use any material intellectual property rights.

�Permitted Investment� means any obligation of investment grade status.

�Permitted Liens� means with respect to any assets of the Company (i) mechanic�s, materialmen�s and similar liens with
respect to amounts not past due, (ii) liens for income Taxes or other Taxes not yet due and payable or for income
Taxes or other Taxes that the taxpayer is contesting in good faith pursuant to proceedings disclosed on the Company
Disclosure Schedule, (iii) purchase money liens arising by operation of law (including liens on inventory and other
assets in favor of vendors of the Company) and (iv) liens securing rental payments under capital lease arrangements
disclosed on the Company Disclosure Schedule.

�Person� means an individual, corporation, partnership, limited partnership, limited liability company, syndicate, person
(including a �person� as defined in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act), trust, association, entity, government, or
political subdivision, agency or instrumentality of a government.

�Representatives� means any officer, director, investment banker, attorney, accountant, consultant or advisor.

�SEC� means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

�Securities Act� means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

�Subsidiary� or �Subsidiaries� of a Person means an entity controlled by such Person, directly or indirectly, through one or
more intermediaries, and, without limiting the foregoing, includes any entity in respect of which such Person, directly
or indirectly, beneficially owns 50% or more of the voting securities or equity. Unless otherwise indicated Subsidiary
means subsidiary of the Company.

�Termination Date� means, the date this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 8.01.

�Total Common Shares Outstanding� means, as of the Closing Date, all issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock
plus all shares of Common Stock to be issued or deemed issued upon exercise of any Common Stock Option or
Company Warrant by virtue of Section 2.06 as of the Effective Time, minus any shares of Common Stock to be
cancelled pursuant to Section 2.01(b).
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(b) The following terms have the meaning set forth in the Sections set forth below:

Defined Term Location of Definition

Action ss. 3.09
Affected Employee ss. 6.09(a)
Agreement Preamble
Articles of Merger ss. 1.03
Certificates ss. 2.04(a)
Claim ss. 6.03(a)
Closing ss. 1.02
Closing Date ss. 1.02
Code ss. 3.10(c)
Common Stock ss. 2.01(a)
Company Preamble
Company Board Recitals
Company Disclosure Schedule Article III
Company Permits ss. 3.06
Company Recommendation ss. 6.01(c)
Company SEC Reports ss. 3.07(a)
Company Stock Option ss. 2.06(a)
Company Warrant ss. 2.06(b)
Competing Transaction Proposal ss. 6.02(b)
Confidentiality Agreement ss. 6.02(a)
Contract ss. 3.05
Consistently Applied ss. 3.07(b)
Continuing Benefits ss. 6.09(c)
Credit Agreement ss. 5.01(p)
Effective Time ss. 1.03
Employee ss. 3.10(a)
Environmental Laws ss. 3.14(b)
Environmental Permits ss. 3.14(b)
ERISA ss. 3.10(b)
Exchange Fund ss. 2.03(b)
Expenses ss. 8.05(b)
FBCA ss. 1.01
Financial Statements ss. 3.07(b)
Former Holders ss. 2.04(c)
GAAP ss. 3.07(b)
Governmental Authority ss. 3.05
Hazardous Substances ss. 3.14(b)
HSR Act ss. 3.05
Indemnified Parties ss. 6.03(a)
Intellectual Property ss. 3.12(b)
Investments ss. 3.01(c)
IRS ss. 3.10(b)
Law ss. 3.05
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Defined Term Location of Definition

Lease Documents ss. 3.11(b)
Leased Properties ss. 3.11(b)
Licensed Intellectual Property ss. 3.12(a)
Material Contracts ss. 3.15(a)
Merger Recitals
Merger Consideration ss. 2.01(a)
Merger Sub Preamble
Most Recent Balance Sheet ss. 3.07(c)
Most Recent Financial Statements ss. 3.07(b)
Most Recent Fiscal Month End ss. 3.07(b)
Multiemployer Plan ss. 3.10(c)
Multiple Employer Plan ss. 3.10(c)
Negotiation Period ss. 6.02(c)
Owned Intellectual Property ss. 3.12(a)
Parent Preamble
Paying Agent ss. 2.02
Personal Property ss. 3.11(d)
Plans ss. 3.10(b)
Proxy Statement ss. 6.01(a)
Securities Act ss. 3.15(a)
Securities Laws ss. 3.07(a)
Shareholder Approval ss. 3.04
Shareholders� Meeting ss. 6.01(c)
Superior Acquisition Proposal ss. 6.02(d)
Surviving Corporation ss. 1.01
Tail Period ss. 6.03(c)
Tail Policy ss. 6.03(c)
Tax or Taxes ss. 3.13(b)
Tax Returns ss. 3.13(b)

(c) When a reference is made in this Agreement to Sections, Schedules or Exhibits, such reference shall be to a
Section, Schedule or Exhibit of this Agreement, respectively, unless otherwise indicated. Whenever the words �include,�
�includes� or �including� are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words �without limitation�.
The words �hereof,� �herein� and �hereunder� and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall refer to this
Agreement as a whole and not any particular provision of this Agreement. The term �or� is not exclusive. The
definitions contained in this Agreement are applicable to the singular as well as the plural forms of such terms.
References to a Person are also to its permitted successors and assigns. Whenever the context may require, any
pronoun shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine and neuter forms.

Section 9.04  Severability.
  If any term or other provision of this Agreement is finally adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction to be
invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any rule of Law, or public policy, all other conditions and provisions
of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of the
Transactions is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any party. Upon such determination that any term or
other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to
modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in a mutually acceptable
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Section 9.05  Disclaimer of Other Representations and Warranties.
  Parent, Merger Sub and the Company each acknowledges and agrees that, except for the representations and
warranties expressly set forth in this Agreement (a) no party makes, and has not made, any representations or
warranties relating to itself or its businesses or otherwise in connection with the Transactions, (b) no Person has been
authorized by any party to make any representation or warranty relating to itself or its businesses or otherwise in
connection with the Transactions and, if made, such representation or warranty must not be relied upon as having been
authorized by such party, and (c) any estimates, projections, predictions, data, financial information, memoranda,
presentations or any other materials or information provided or addressed to any party or any of its Representatives
are not and shall not be deemed to be or to include representations or warranties unless any such materials or
information is the subject of any representation or warranty set forth in this Agreement.

Section 9.06  Entire Agreement; Assignment.
  This Agreement (together with the Confidentiality Agreement, Company Disclosure Schedule, and the other
documents delivered pursuant hereto), constitutes the entire agreement among the parties hereto with respect to the
subject matter hereof and thereof and supersedes all prior agreements and undertakings, both written and oral, among
the parties hereto, or any of them, with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof. This Agreement shall not be
assigned (whether pursuant to a merger, by operation of law or otherwise) without the prior written consent of the
other parties hereto, except that Parent and Merger Sub may assign all or any of their rights, but not their obligations,
hereunder to any direct or indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Parent. 

Section 9.07  Parties in Interest.
  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of each party hereto, and nothing in this
Agreement, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other Person any right, benefit or remedy of
any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement, other than (i) Section 6.03 which is intended to be for
the benefit of the persons covered thereby and may be enforced by such persons, and (ii) Article II which is intended
to be for the benefit of those persons entitled to receive the Merger Consideration, to the extent that their right to
receive such payment may be enforced by such persons after the Closing Date. 

Section 9.08  Remedies; Specific Performance.
  The parties hereto agree that upon a breach of any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement then in addition to
any remedies available at law or equity the Parent, Merger Sub and Company shall have the right to seek specific
performance of the terms hereof, to the extent available under applicable Law. 

Section 9.09  Governing Law.
  This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Florida applicable
to contracts executed in and to be performed in that State, regardless of the laws that might otherwise govern under
applicable principles of conflicts of law. All Actions arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be heard and
determined exclusively in the Circuit Court of Orange County, Florida. The parties hereto hereby (a) submit to the
exclusive jurisdiction of the Circuit Court of Orange County, Florida for the purpose of any Action arising out of or
relating to this Agreement brought by any party hereto, and (b) irrevocably waive, and agree not to assert by way of
motion, defense, or otherwise, in any such Action, any claim that it is not subject personally to the jurisdiction of the
above-named court, that its property is exempt or immune from attachment or execution, that the Action is brought in
an inconvenient forum, that the venue of the Action is improper, or that this Agreement or the Transactions may not
be enforced in or by the above-named court. 

Section 9.10  Headings.

Edgar Filing: Global Defense & National Security Systems, Inc. - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 132



  The descriptive headings contained in this Agreement are included for convenience of reference only and shall not
affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. 

Section 9.11  Counterparts.
  This Agreement may be executed and delivered (including by facsimile transmission) in one or more counterparts,
and by the different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when executed shall be deemed to be an
original but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement.

[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company have caused this Agreement to be executed as of
the date first written above by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized.

SUNAIR SERVICES CORPORATION

By /s/  Jack I. Ruff
Jack I. Ruff,
President and Chief Executive Officer

MASSEY SERVICES, INC.

By /s/  Harry L. Massey
Name:     Harry L. Massey

Title: Chairman and CEO

BUYER ACQUISITION COMPANY, INC.

By /s/  Harry L. Massey
Name:     Harry L. Massey

Title: Chairman and CEO
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Annex B

[Letterhead of Hyde Park Capital]
September 28, 2009

Special Committee of the Board of Directors
Sunair Services Corporation
1350 E. Newport Center Drive
Suite 201
Deerfield Beach, FL 33442

Members of the Special Committee of the Board:

You have asked us for our opinion as to the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the holders of the common
stock, par value $0.10 per share (�Sunair Common Stock�), of Sunair Services Corporation (�Sunair� or �the Company�), of
the Consideration (as defined below) to be received by such holders pursuant to the terms of the draft Agreement and
Plan of Merger, dated as of September 28, 2009 (the �Agreement�), among Massey Services, Inc. (�Massey� or �Acquiror�),
Buyer Acquisition Company, Inc. (�Merger Sub�) and Sunair Services Corporation. The Agreement provides for,
among other things, the merger of Merger Sub with and into the Company upon which the Company would become a
wholly owned subsidiary of Massey (the �Merger�), pursuant to which each outstanding share of Sunair Common Stock
will be converted into the right to receive $2.75 in cash (the �Consideration�).

In arriving at our opinion, we have:

1. reviewed the Agreement;

2. reviewed certain publicly available business and financial information relating to Sunair;

3. reviewed certain other information relating to Sunair provided to or discussed with us by the Company, including
(i) financial forecasts relating to the Company and (ii) certain industry and business information thereto prepared by
the management of the Company;

4. discussed the past and present operations and financial condition and the prospects of the Company with senior
executives of Sunair;

5. reviewed and compared the historical stock prices, multiples, margins, growth rates and trading history for the
shares of Sunair, and compared that data with similar data for other publicly held companies in businesses we deemed
relevant in evaluating Sunair;

6. considered, to the extent publicly available, the financial terms of certain other merger or acquisition transactions,
including premiums paid for public companies, which we deemed to be relevant, which have been effected or
announced;

7. considered our experience in connection with marketing the Company for sale to a large group of potential strategic
and financial buyers;

8. considered such other information, financial studies, analyses and investigations and financial, economic and
market criteria which we deemed relevant.
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In connection with our review, we have not independently verified any of the foregoing information and we have
assumed and relied upon such information being complete and accurate in all material respects. With respect to the
financial forecasts for Sunair that we have used in our analyses, the management of Sunair has advised us, and we
have assumed, with your consent, that such forecasts have been reasonably prepared on bases reflecting the best
currently available estimates and judgments of the management of Sunair as to the future financial performance of the
Company both before and after giving effect to certain industry and business information referred to above. We also
have assumed, with your consent, that, in the course of obtaining any regulatory or third party consents, approvals or
agreements in connection with the Merger, no delay, limitation, restriction or condition will be imposed that would
have an adverse effect on Sunair or the
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Merger and that the Merger will be consummated in accordance with the terms of the Agreement without waiver,
modification or amendment of any material term, condition or agreement thereof. In addition, we have not been
requested to make, and have not made, an independent appraisal of the assets or liabilities (contingent or otherwise) of
Sunair, nor have we been furnished with any such evaluations or appraisals.

Our opinion addresses only the fairness, from a financial point of view and as of the date hereof, to the holders of
Sunair Common Stock of the Consideration to be received in the Merger and does not address any other aspect or
implication of the Merger or any other agreement, arrangement or understanding entered into in connection with the
Merger or otherwise or the fairness of the amount or nature of, or any other aspect relating to, any compensation to
any officers, directors or employees of any party to the Merger, or class of such persons, relative to the Consideration
or otherwise. The issuance of this opinion was approved by our authorized internal committee.

Our opinion is necessarily based upon information made available to us as of the date hereof and financial, economic,
market and other conditions as they exist and can be evaluated on the date hereof. These conditions have been and
remain subject to extraordinary levels of volatility and uncertainty and we express no view as to the impact of such
volatility and uncertainty on Sunair or the Merger. Our opinion does not address the relative merits of the Merger as
compared to alternative transactions or strategies that might be available to Sunair, nor does it address the underlying
business decision of Sunair to proceed with the Merger.

We have acted as financial advisor to Sunair in connection with the Merger and will receive a fee for our services, a
significant portion of which is contingent upon the consummation of the Merger. We also will receive a fee upon the
rendering of our opinion. In addition, Sunair has agreed to indemnify us for certain liabilities and other items arising
out of or related to our engagement. We may in the future provide financial advice and services, to Sunair, Massey
and their respective affiliates for which we would expect to receive compensation. We have no previous business
agreements or relationships with either Sunair or Massey.

In arriving at this opinion, we did not attribute any particular weight to any analysis or factor considered, but rather
made the qualitative judgments as to the significance and relevance of each analysis and factor. Accordingly, we
believe that our analysis must be considered as a whole and that selecting portions of the analyses, without
considering all analyses, would create an incomplete view of the process underlying this opinion.

It is understood that this letter is for the information of the Special Committee of the Board of Directors of Sunair in
connection with its evaluation of the Merger and does not constitute advice or a recommendation to any shareholder
as to how such shareholder should vote or act on any matter relating to the proposed Merger. Furthermore, this letter
should not be construed as creating any fiduciary duty on the part of Hyde Park Capital Advisors, LLC to any such
party. This opinion is not to be quoted or referred to, in whole or in part, without our prior written consent, which will
not be unreasonably withheld.

Based upon and subject to the foregoing, it is our opinion that, as of the date hereof, the Consideration to be received
in the Merger by the holders of Sunair Common Stock is fair, from a financial point of view, to such holders.

Very truly yours,

/s/  HYDE PARK CAPITAL ADVISORS LLC

     HYDE PARK CAPITAL ADVISORS LLC
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SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS OF SUNAIR SERVICES CORPORATION December 14,
2009 NOTICE OF INTERNET AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIAL: The Notice of Meeting,
proxy statement and proxy card are available at
http://www.amstock.com/ProxyServices/ViewMaterial.asp?CoNumber=05980 Please sign, date and mail
your proxy card in the envelope provided as soon as possible. Please detach along perforated line and
mail in the envelope provided. 00030300000000000000 8 121409 THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
RECOMMENDS A VOTE �FOR� PROPOSAL 1 AND PROPOSAL 2. PLEASE SIGN, DATE AND
RETURN PROMPTLY IN THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE. PLEASE MARK YOUR VOTE IN BLUE
OR BLACK INK AS SHOWN HERE xFOR AGAINST ABSTAIN 1. Proposal to approve the
Agreement and Plan of Merger (�Merger Agreement�), dated as of September 28, 2009 by and among
Massey Services, Inc. Inc., Buyer Acquisition Company, Inc. and Sunair Services Corporation 2.
Proposal to approve to the adjournment or postponement of the meeting if necessary or appropriate, to
solicit additional proxies if there are insufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to approve the
Merger Agreement. 3. To vote on such other matters that may properly come before the meeting. If no
directions are given, the shares will be voted FOR the approval of the Merger Agreement and FOR the
approval to adjourn or postpone the meeting if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if
there are insufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to approve the Merger Agreement. This
Proxy also delegates discretionary authority to vote with respect to any other matters that may properly
come before the special meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof. THE UNDERSIGNED
HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGES RECEIPT OF THE NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING AND PROXY
STATEMENT OF SUNAIR SERVICES CORPORATION. To change the address on your account,
please check the box at right and indicate your new address in the address space above. Please note that
changes to the registered name(s) on the account may not be submitted via this method. Signature of
Shareholder Date: Signature of Shareholder Date: Note: Please sign exactly as your name or names
appear on this Proxy. When shares are held jointly, each holder should sign. When signing as executor,
administrator, attorney, trustee or guardian, please G20683 give full 17 title as such. If the signer is a
corporation, please sign full corporate name by duly authorized officer, giving full title as such. If signer
is a partnership, please sign in partnership name by authorized person.
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SUNAIR SERVICES CORPORATION PROXY SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS �
DECEMBER 14, 2009 THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The undersigned hereby appoints Jack I. Ruff and Edward M. Carriero, Jr., with full power of
substitution, proxies of the undersigned to represent the undersigned and to vote all shares of common
stock of Sunair Services Corporation which the undersigned would be entitled to vote if personally
present at the Special Meeting of Shareholders of Sunair Services Corporation to be held on
December 14, 2009 at the Hilton Hotel, 100 Fairway Drive, Deerfield Beach, Florida 33441 at
11:00 a.m., local time, and any and all adjournments or postponements thereof, subject to the directions
indicated on the reverse side. (Continued and to be signed on the reverse side.)
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